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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EE®E

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Green Leader Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, collectively known as the “Group”), | am pleased to
present the audited annual results of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2021 as well as the prospect of our diverse portfolio
featuring with coal mining business, Cambodia business and IT related
business.

The Group has been focusing on coal mining business with
the development of Fuchang Mine and Liaoyuan Mine for full
commencement of construction work during the year and is optimistic
launching the remaining mines in full operation. It is expected that
steady cash inflow will be generated once all mines are in full operation
to improve the overall financial position of the Group.

The People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) is undergoing an
environmental paradigm shift, transitioning to be a global leader in
the fight against climate change over the years. The coal regulatory
authorities in Shanxi Province (“Shanxi”) has adopted stringent policies
and regulation on safety, environmental protection and production
control to implement the national safety protocol for coal mines as the
PRC government pursues its goal of promoting ecological civilisation.
The Group will closely speculate the existing mines such that major
technical renovations are carried out and the environmental and
safety procedures measures are in line with the relevant regulatory
requirements and national standards.

The business environment of PRC is expected to become more
challenging in 2022 as a result of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic
and the recent policy and regulatory changes over various industries.
The International Monetary Fund also updated its forecast to show
that the economic recovery may be slower than previously expected
the PRC government has issued several policies to maintain economic
strength. For the coal industry, it will continuously be restricted by
environmental and safety inspection. The shortage in coal supply,
especially coking coal supply, cannot be relieved in a short period
of time. We believe that coking coal will continue to benefit from
economic growth, policy stimulus and domestic supply tightening. The
coking coal price is expected to continue to fluctuate at a relatively
high level in the short-run.
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Concerning Cambodia business, the Group is seeking business
opportunities related to agro-related business.

As for IT related business, the competitions in the industry remain
challenging. However, the considerable impact of the market pressure
on the Group’s overall financial position is minimal. After careful
consideration, the Company’s management has come to the view that
we will streamline the existing IT related business and divert our effort
towards other potential investments.

The Group is ready to build on its accomplishments in 2021 and to
attain a better development for the diverse portfolio of the Company.
On behalf of the Board and management, | wish to express my
sincere gratitude to our clients, business partners, the shareholders
(the “Shareholder(s)”) and other stakeholders of the Company for their
unwavering support and belief in the Group, and to our employees for
their tireless dedication and professional competence that are the fuel
to drive the Group’s ongoing development.

Mr. Tse Michael Nam
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2022
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EEEEHE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Sanhuo (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 56, was appointed as an
executive Director on 7 June 2013. He is also a director of various
subsidiaries of the Company. He graduated from |LI 78 B 48 K £
(Shanxi University of Finance & Economics*) with a Bachelor’s Degree
in Accounting and obtained a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration from &/I# 2Bt (Cheung Kong Graduate School of
Business®). Mr. Zhang has over 20 years of experience in corporate
management in mining, investment, finance and other industries.

He was appointed as an executive director of PINE Technology
Holdings Limited (“PINE”) (Stock Code: 1079), a company listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), on 8 June 2017. He was also designated as the chairman
of the board of directors, the chief executive officer, the chairman of
nomination committee and member of the remuneration committee of
PINE.

Save as disclosed above, he did not hold any directorships in any
other listed public companies in the last three years and does not hold
any other position with the Company or other members of the Group.

Mr. Tse Michael Nam (“Mr. Tse”), aged 64, was re-appointed as an
executive Director on 1 September 2016, and now being the chairman
of the Board, the chief executive officer and the chairman of each
of the nomination committee and the risk management committee
of the Company. He is also a director of various subsidiaries of the
Company. He was an executive Director from 12 February 2007 to
30 November 2015. Mr. Tse holds a Bachelor of Science Degree in
Biological Science from the University of California, Berkeley and a
Master of Business Administration Degree from the University of San
Francisco.

Mr. Tse has over 30 years of experience in corporate management
in the agriculture, manufacturing, mining and merge and acquisitions
sectors. Mr. Tse was a registered consultant to Asian Development
Bank and held key positions in several companies listed on the Stock
Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, he did not hold any directorships in any
other listed public companies in the last three years and does not hold
any other position with the Company or other members of the Group.

* For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin (“Mr. Ho"), aged 54, was appointed
as the independent non-executive Director on 5 August 2020 and
now being the chairman of the audit committee of the Company and
the member of each of the remuneration committee, the nomination
committee and the risk management committee of the Company. He
holds a Bachelor Degree in Business Administration (Hons.), major in
Accounting, from Hong Kong Baptist University. He has over 28 years
of experience in finance and accounting, company secretary, initial
public offering, takeover, deposition and debt restructuring. He is
an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants.

Mr. Ho was appointed as an independent non-executive director
of CECEP COSTIN New Materials Group Limited (in provisional
liquidation) (“CECEP COSTIN”) (Stock Code: 2228), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since 6 August 2018.
Based on published information, CECEP COSTIN received a winding
up petition and a summons for the appointment of joint provisional
liquidators dated 30 October 2017. Mr. Ho’s appointment was
subsequent to the winding up petition against CECEP COSTIN and he
was appointed by the joint provisional liquidators to meet the relevant
requirements under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange.

He was also respectively appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Rosan Resources Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 578) since
1 July 2020, an independent non-executive director of Yadong Group
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1795) since 21 October 2020, an
independent non-executive director of JW (Cayman) Therapeutics Co.
Ltd (Stock Code: 2126) since 22 October 2020, and an independent
non-executive director of MicroTech Medical (Hangzhou) Co., Ltd.
(stock code: 2235.HK) since 19 October 2021. The securities of the
above companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Ho did not hold any directorships in any
other listed public companies in the last three years and does not hold
any other position with the Company or other members of the Group.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EEEEHE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Mr. Tian Hong (“Mr. Tian”), aged 57, was appointed as the
independent non-executive Director on 10 August 2020, and now
being the chairman of the remuneration committee of the Company
and the member of each of the audit committee, the nomination
committee and the risk management committee of the Company. He
holds a Master’s Degree in Business Administration from || 75 B4 48 K
B2 (Shanxi University of Finance & Economics*) in 2009 and qualified
as a senior economist of The Bank of China in 1998. He has over
30 years of experience in banking and finance.

Mr. Tian was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
PINE Technology Holdings Limited (stock code: 1079), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, on 4 July 2017
and designated as the member of each of the audit committee, the
nomination committee and the remuneration committees of PINE.

Save as disclosed above, he did not hold any directorships in any
other listed public companies in the last three years and does not hold
any other position with the Company or other members of the Group.

Mr. Shen Weidong (“Mr. Shen”), aged 52, was appointed as the
independent non-executive Director on 2 November 2020, and now
being the member of each of the audit committee, the remuneration
committee, the nomination committee and the risk management
committee of the Company. He holds a Executive Master of Business
Administration Degree from Southwest International University, the
United States. He has over 25 years of managerial experience in hotel
and real estate industries.

Mr. Shen held multiple managerial roles in a number of reputable
corporations since 1996. Mr. Shen is currently the managing director
of LAKEEE RS FEHEREEGR AR (Shanxi Economic and
Trade Group Dingxuan Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.*) and KR
BEREMERZEAR AR (Taiyuan Hengxin Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd.").

Save as disclosed above, he did not hold any directorships in any
other listed public companies in the last three years and does not hold
any other position with the Company or other members of the Group.

* For identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW
Overview

The Group has been focusing on coal mining business in the financial
year 2021. The Group is principally engaged in (i) coal exploration
and development, sale of coking coal, coal processing, sales of coal
products and provision of coal related services; (i) the development
of cassava cultivation and deep processing business for the related
ecological cycle industry chain; and (iii) the sale of information
technology products, provision of system integration services,
technology services, software development and solution services.

Coal mining business

As affected by the policies and COVID-19, the Group’s coal mines
under construction inevitably experienced construction delay or
suspension, therefore reducing the effectiveness of construction
period during the year, leading to further extension of the respective
construction period. As such, the critical production stages of
the remaining coal mines under construction faced significant
uncertainties.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 5 coking coal mines which
are Fuchang Mine, Jinxin Mine, Liaoyuan Mine, Bolong Mine and
Xinfeng Mine located in Gujiao, Taiyuan City, Shanxi, PRC, of which
Fuchang Mine and Liaoyuan Mine were in full operation, Bolong Mine
was undergoing constructions and expected production schedule of
Xinfeng Mine is after finishing the production of Bolong Mine and Jinxin
Mine was temporary suspended.

The coal mines in full operation during the year ended 31 December
2021 were Fuchang Mine and Liaoyuan Mine, which entered the joint
trial operation in October 2016 and September 2018 respectively,
passed the inspection for completion in January 2017 and December
2018 respectively and obtained (& &4 EFF 7] &) (the Permit for
Safe Production®) in April 2017 and March 2019 respectively. In July
2020, Fuchang Mine was recognised by the Coal Industry Bureau of
Shanxi Province as a ‘=i & & £ EZ &L ETE” (Second Class Safe
Productions Standardisation Coal Mine*) with a valid period of 3 years
from the recognition date. Regarding of Fuchang Mine, the expected
production capacity is 600,000 tonnes per year. In additions, the
expected production capacity of Liaoyuan Mine is 600,000 tonnes per
year.

* For identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEN R DM

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Coal mining business (continued)

On 10 May 2021, AKX K EHEBR SR LS BRERERA
(Shanxi Coal Transportation and Marketing Group Gujiao Century
Jinxin Mining Company Limited*) (“Jinxin Mine”), a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company established in Shanxi, was informed that
the coal mining operations of Jinxin Mine has been suspended by the
relevant PRC government authority in Shanxi. Jinxin Mine is principally
engaged in coal mining, sales of coking coal.

Jinxin Mine was identified as a coal mine for reduction of capacity and
restructuring by Shanxi government in 2020. Upon restructuring, its
capacity will be increased from 450,000 tonnes per year to 600,000
tonnes per year. As the procedure for reconstructing and expansion
have not been completed, the relevant PRC government authority
ordered the coal mine to suspend the production temporarily.
According to Jinxin Mine, the relevant PRC government authority
conducted spot checks of its coal mine on 9 March 2021 and noted
that Jinxin Mining was still conducting coal mining. The coal mining of
Jinxin Mining was ordered to be suspended on 9 March 2021 and
further investigation was conducted on 10 March 2021. Penalty and
fines of approximately RMB20,804,000 (approximately
HK$23,302,000) were ordered by the relevant PRC government
authority against Jinxin Mining in April 2021, and the suspension was
imposed on Jinxin Mining and the Permit for Safe Production* was
withheld. The penalty and fines have been settled on 29 April 2021.
Details can be referred to the relevant announcement of the Company
dated 10 May 2021.

As at the date of this report, Jinxin Mine is still in the process of
adopting the requirements requested by the relevant PRC government
authority and is applying for reinstating the Permit for Safe Production*
and its coal mining operations are expected to be resumed in the
third quarter of 2022 pending the obtaining of the Permit for Safe
Production* with relevant approvals from the PRC government
authority. To the knowledge of the Company, the rest of the coal
mines of the Group have not been affected.

Cambodia business

The Group is seeking business opportunities related to cassava-based
agricultural and deep processing business in Cambodia.

* For identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Environmental, social and corporate responsibility

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to maintaining
a higher environmental and social standards to ensure sustainable
development of its business. During the year, the Group has complied
with all relevant laws and regulations in relation to its business
including health and safety, workplace conditions, employment and
the environment. The Group understands a better future depends
on everyone’s participation and contribution. It has encouraged
employees, customers, suppliers and other stakeholders to participate
in environmental and social activities which benefit the community as
a whole. The Group maintains strong relationships with its employees,
has enhanced cooperation with its suppliers and has provided high
quality products and services to its customers so as to ensure
sustainable development.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Profit/(loss) for the year

Profit for the year ended 31 December 2021 was approximately
HK$751,507,000 (loss for the year ended 31 December 2020:
approximately HK$660,458,000). The turnaround for the year was
mainly attributable to the combined effects of the factors as stated
below:

(i) Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recorded a
revenue of approximately HK$1,612,858,000 (31 December 2020:
approximately HK$1,303,796,000), representing an increase of
approximately HK$309,062,000 or 23.7%, which the revenue is
generated from mining operation and mainly came from Fuchang
Mine, Jinxin Mine and Liaoyuan Mine. The increase in revenue is
mainly due to the increase in the selling price of mining products
during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEFNWR DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Profit/(loss) for the year (continued)

(ii)

Gross profit

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recorded
a gross profit of approximately HK$347,773,000 with a gross
profit ratio of 21.6% (31 December 2020: approximately
HK$127,867,000 with a gross profit ratio of 9.8%). The increase
in gross profit and gross profit ratio is mainly due to the (i) increase
in the selling price of mining products during the year; and
(i) decrease of amortisation charges of mining rights under cost of
sales.

(iii) Administrative and other operating expenses

(iv)

12

Administrative and other operating expenses for the year ended
31 December 2021 was approximately HK$387,582,000 (31
December 2020: approximately HK$283,442,000), which was
mainly due to the increase in the administrative expenses and
other operating expenses in mining operation. Out of the total
administrative and other operating expenses, total staff costs
(included directors’ emoluments) amounted to approximately
HK$114,091,000 (31 December 2020: approximately
HK$71,356,000), penalty and fine amounted to approximately
HK$27,676,000 (31 December 2020: Nil) and relocation and
removal expenses amounted to approximately HK$12,272,000 (31
December 2020: Nil).

Reversal of impairment loss/(impairment loss) recognised in
respect of mining rights and property, plant and equipment

For the year ended 31 December 2021, reversal of impairment
loss recognised in respect of mining rights and property, plant and
equipment was approximately HK$959,527,000 (31 December
2020: impairment loss approximately HK$170,267,000) and
approximately HK$299,034,000 (31 December 2020: impairment
loss approximately HK$120,962,000) respectively. This was the
result of increase in aggregate estimated value in use amount of
the Group’s five coal mines located in Shanxi, mainly due to the
overall increase in coal prices during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Profit/(loss) for the year (continued)
(v) Finance costs

Finance costs mainly consisted of interest expenses on
borrowings from non-controlling interests, convertible loan
notes, other borrowings and lease liabilities. Interest expenses
on borrowings relating to construction in progress for coal mines
are capitalised to the extent that they are directly attributable and
used to finance the projects. Finance costs were calculated from
total borrowing costs less interest expenses capitalised.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, finance costs amounted
to approximately HK$229,315,000 (31 December 2020:
approximately HK$361,665,000), decreased by approximately
HK$132,350,000, mainly resulting from the decrease in interest on
amounts due to non-controlling interests. The interest on amounts
due to non-controlling interests decreased from approximately
HK$350,722,000 to approximately HK$224,623,000 over the
year.

Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the Company

For the year ended 31 December 2021, profit attributable to owners of
the Company was approximately HK$265,672,000 (loss attributable
to owners of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020:
approximately HK$312,362,000), mainly due to the reversal of
impairment loss recognised in respect of mining rights and property,
plant and equipment of approximately HK$1,258,561,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2021 while an impairment loss of approximately
HK$291,229,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Valuation of coal mines

The increase in fair value of coal mines as at 31 December 2021 was
mainly due to the increase in coal prices during the year. Greater
China Appraisal Limited (“Greater China”), an independent qualified
professional valuer, estimated the recoverable amounts of the coal
mining business based on income approach using a discount rate of
12.50% (31 December 2020: 12.56%) and expected cleaned coal
price of RMB1,357 per tonne (31 December 2020: expected cleaned
coal price of RMB877 per tonne) based on information obtained from
Shanxi.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFNWR DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Valuation of coal mines (continued)

Greater China has consistently applied the income approach for the
valuation of coal mines as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December
2020 (the “Reporting Periods”) respectively. The key assumptions and
parameters in the valuation of coal mines as at the Reporting Periods
are set out as below:

Bt 75 2] 8 (48)
1598 1518 ()

BEESHEHHEBR _Z_—F+=A=
+—BHERZZE_EF+_A=+—HBU®H%E
H) 2 EEEBERWASK - KBRS
ZHEMAZEEBERZEEINNOT

Reporting Periods
REH
31 December 2021 31 December 2020
ZB--#+tZRA=t+-H “ECRET_A=1—H
Methodology HE Income Approach Income Approach
W AZE W&
Key Assumptions FTERR
1. Production Schedule - Safe FERER-%2
Production Date HERH
Bolong Mine HERR Third quarter of 2022 Fourth quarter of 2021
“BIZEEZE —E--FENF
Fuchang Mine REER Operating Operating
EER HiEH
Jinxin Mine LEER Third quarter of 2022 Operating
i e ZET
Liaoyuan Mine ERER Operating Operating
EET HiEH
Xinfeng Mine BEERE Note Il Note Il
M= Ptz =
2. Coking Coal Price (per tonne) RRER (M) RMB1,357 RMB877
AR¥1,3577 ARESTTT
3. Recovery rate (cleaned coal) [ R (R 1) 45.5%-54.0% 47 5%53.4%
4. Discount Rate (post-tax) BRE(FiR) 12.50% 12.56%

5. Mine Operating Costs, Capital

Based on technical report

Expenditures and Production Y RAEERFBR issued by John T. Boyd
Schedule (annual production) (FEE) (“JT Boyd”) in 2017
BEABT.BEAR (JTHE)D)
RIE—tFHBZEMRE
6. Allowable annual working days BAFEIER 276 days
276H

14 ANNUAL REPORT 2021 3

Based on technical report
issued by JT Boyd
in 2017
REJTBER_T—+F
% 2 B S

276 days
276H



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Valuation of coal mines (continued)
Note I: As shown in the above table, the primary change in valuation
assumption would be the adoption of coking coal price in the years
and delay in mines’ commercial operation schedule. The coking coal
price is based on the existing and past quoted commodity prices
in the mining industry. The production schedule is affected by the
policies and regulations issued applicable to the coal industry. The coal
mines under construction inevitably experienced construction delay
or suspension, therefore reducing the effectiveness of construction
period during the year, leading to further extension of the respective
construction period. There was no change in valuation methodology
in those valuations. For discount rate, calculation of weighted average
cost of capital (“WACC”) is based on market participant’s data
which are varied daily due to new information and changing market
expectation every day.

Note Il:  Mine reorganisation and consolidation for Bolong Mine and Xinfeng

Mine proposal was approved by the Shanxi government in February
2020. The expected production schedule for Safe Production Date of
Xinfeng Mine is after finishing the production of Bolong Mine.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
Total capital deficiencies

As at 31 December 2021, the Group recorded total assets
of approximately HK$8,626,542,000 (31 December 2020:
approximately HK$7,078,231,000), which were financed by total
liabilities of approximately HK$9,291,981,000 (31 December 2020:
approximately HK$8,502,219,000) and total capital deficiencies of
approximately HK$665,439,000 (31 December 2020: approximately
HK$1,423,988,000).

Gearing

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s gearing ratio as computed
as the Group’s total debts which included convertible loan notes,
amounts due to related companies, amounts due to non-controlling
interests, other borrowings and lease liabilities divided by capital
deficiencies attributable to owners of the Company. Gearing ratio is
not meaningful as the Group has capital deficiencies attributable to
owners of the Company as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEN R DM

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

(CONTINUED)

Liquidity

The Group had total cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$146,141,000 as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020:
approximately HK$48,097,000). The Group did not have any bank

borrowings for both years.

FINANCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The Board has set out the following key financial performance
indicators to measure and monitor the Group’s business performance

RBEERMEER(E)

RBES

R-ZE-_—F+-_A=+—8 AEER
S NS EEBYHEETEL146,141,0008 T (=
TTF+ A =+—H : 448,097,000
BIL) o AEBRWEFESBEMRITE
o

MHERREER

EXZ@V AT IEMBEERER  UEBE
MERAEERBE_T_—F+ A=t

for the year ended 31 December 2021 and the comparative figures for — B IFFEMEBKRIBE - T - TEHESF

the corresponding year in 2020:

Indicators

EE

Revenue growth rate (%)
WA & & (%)

Gross profit margin (%)

EME(%)

Profit/(loss) before taxation (HK$’000)
B AR, (BB (FA&T)

Current ratio

MENL =
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2021
—E-—F

23.7

21.6

998,967

0.07

2020

—E-FF

38.1

9.8

(852,913)

0.04

EOLBHTF

Objectives:
B #9:

assess the growth of the Group’s businesses and
overall sales performance

AHAARREEBIER R BEHERS

review the pricing strategy of the Group’s
products and services and direct cost control

T 2N 55 B E m N2 BR 75 1O RE (B SR B [
IEREIpTIN L]

measure the operating profitability of the Group’s
overall businesses

BEAREEREBNATIES

assess the Group’s ability to meet its short-term
debt obligations
FHE RS EER AR RERNRE



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Principal risks

TERMB

Business/Operation Risk

x5,/ EERB

Economic risk

R E B

Liquidity risk

MEE TR

Description
i

With the enhancement of structural reform
by the state on the supply side of coal,
coal enterprises are required to support
implementing policies on de-capacity and
optimization. The state tightens requirements
on and ramps up inspection efforts in design,
safety, and environmental protection aspects
of coal mines under construction. In recent
years, relevant policies and regulations on
safety and environmental protection applicable
to the coal industry have become increasingly
stringent and refined.
BEEBRR AR R A RIABIENE - Bikd
XA EE R RE(CEER - BRI H
ERREER  R2NREREFEANE
SRIFENGR - WINKBENE < TEK - &
RRRERITENA AL 2 MIRFREH)EE
HFRER I B BEARTTE

Economic risk is the risk of macro-economy
and policies in Mainland China, the business
of mining operations where the Company
operates in is facing various risks and
uncertainties.

4578 [, B 4 R B P b R R AR R SR 2 TR
- ANR RIS 2 IR E TS E RS
&R fg R T EARE % o

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group would
not be able to meet its financial obligations
as they fall due.

nBESRBRIEAKEAREEITEE BT
BEEZRR -

BEEEBNWR TN

TERBRTABRRE

Mitigating actions

RIBIEE

The Group will closely monitor and speculate the
existing mines that major technical renovations
are carried out and ensure the production,
environmental, and safety procedures
measures are in line with the relevant regulatory
requirements and national standards.

AEBBZYERMEAIRBRER - NET
ERRMMGE - WHEREE  REMKERE
Friaiefs & 1ERE B E AR E MBI FIRE -

The Company closely monitors the change of
macro-economy policies in Mainland China and
adjusts its business strategy.

AR R B RS E R R 8
B AR LT -

In the management of the liquidity risk, the
Group monitors and maintains a level of cash
and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows.

REEBERBDESRRE  ANEBERRHER
ERERRARZACRESEEBYIKYT
NRAEBzRXELERHRES KRS

MEKBZHE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEFNWR DN

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

(CONTINUED)

Principal risks
FTERK

Credit risk

EERR

Price risk

B E R

Exchange rate risk

PEE = il B

Description
it

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counter
party will default on its contractual obligations
resulting in financial loss to the Group.

EERREHFIERESVETMERA
SEELMBERRR

Price risk is the risks of significant fluctuations
in international coal prices from year to
year, especially due to the unforeseeable
development of the COVID-19 pandemic, will
cast corresponding significant fluctuations in
year end valuations of intangible assets as
well as exploration and evaluation assets
which may have material impacts on the
Group’s financial results due to the resultant
impairment losses or reversal of impairment
losses, and also on the Group’s total non-
current assets.

BR AR BRR AR BRI FRRRE < A
% BRI R IEECOVID-19% 15 2 T~ A]
BRER - HERETLEEANRRTE
BEZFROELRBEREARE @ &K AT
BEE P 4 2 BB B 1R SR B B 1R B B S R
SECMBREREELEEATE  THAKE
ZHERBDEEREELEATE -

Exchange risk is the risk that changes in
foreign exchange rates would affect the
Group’s income and the value of its holdings
of assets.

SMNER[R IR E R FE T ERE
iR EEEE Ak -

B AR HE

18 ANNUAL REPORT 2021 i

TERBERTABREEE)

Mitigating actions

IR

The Group sets different categories for
customers settling with bills according to
internal credit rating assessment. The Group
does not accept bills from customers with low
credit rating.
Zli'ilﬂ?&)ﬁW%M?LEW&EWEZ%DA%ETEZ&G
BEZEPRETRER - AEE M ERE
/\a%&WEEZ%)EWET t2 R -

The Company intensifies prudent judgement
on the market, fully brings about the effect of
supervision and control over market price risk
and alert thereof, continuously improves its risk
control capability in market price and constantly
strengthens production costs and expenses
control.

ARRBMBETHE 2 EBRLAE - TOEREY
MISERRR CEEMBEER - FHERT
MIZERRAREEEN - BRI EEKAN
A STHE ] o

The management closely monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposure should the need arise.

EEET Y SR EER
ZREPERFZER

WA A B R



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

(CONTINUED)

Principal risks
FERK

Environmental Risks

REAR

People risk

AT R

Legal and regulatory risk

ARENMEERR

Description
i

Environmental Risks is the risk of stringent
requirements in relation to environmental
protection in the Environmental Protection
Law of People’s Republic of China.

RERREETEARANBEREREED
HRBRERDEBERZAR -

People risk is the risk of loss the services of
any Directors, senior management and other
key personnel could have a material adverse
effect on the Group’s businesses.

ATEREEFNES  SREEENREME
Z A BRI A e M A B EBEXNE AT
ME g8 2R

Legal and regulatory risk is the risk that a
breach of laws and regulations could lead to
litigation, investigations or disputes, resulting
in additional costs on civil and/or criminal
proceedings and reputational damage being
incurred.

RN EE R IEE ROAE AR A Re G BGR
B AESAM  MEBRRERSAEF
FAEFRINKARBEI B AR -

EEENWR DN
TEAR R TN E E ()

Mitigating actions

RIEHE

The Company keeps improving management
rules, assigns responsibilities and further
strengthens supervision and examination in
terms of environmental protection. It also
constantly promotes energy saving and
reduction of emissions.

ARG TETEERGE  BEEET £
FIMBRIRREERE o NARI I FFEHEE
BERLEE -

The Group provides competitive reward and
benefit packages to attract and retain the
employees the Group need and ensure that
the staff of the Group has the right working
environment to enable them to do the best job
and maximise their satisfaction at work.
REBERHEAGRF N 2 RENRABFFFS - A
R RGEBEREEFTEZRE - WHRREAE
BErETHEEEc TIERE  HEITRES
BESEZTERARERREMRESHET
EmEE -

The management closely monitor changes and
developments in the regulatory environment
and ensure that sufficient resources being made
available to implement for any compulsory
changes and seek legal or other specialist
advice as appropriate.
ERETYEREETRRIEHNER
RERHERETEMMBREE - UBHOX
FERHMEXER (EA) -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEN R DM

CAPITAL REORGANISATION AND SHARE PREMIUM
CANCELLATION

Reference is made to the announcements of the Company dated 1
February 2021, 11 February 2021, 26 February 2021, 7 April 2021
and the circular of the Company dated 3 March 2021 in relation to,
among others, the Capital Reorganisation and the Share Premium
Cancellation. Unless the context requires otherwise, capitalised terms
used herein shall bear the same meanings as defined.

On 1 February 2021, the Company announced the proposed Capital
Reorganisation by (i) a reduction of the issued Share capital of the
Company through the cancellation of the paid-up capital of the
Company to the extent of HK$0.199 on each of the issued Existing
Share so that the nominal value of each issued Share will be reduced
from HK$0.20 to HK$0.001; (i) a subdivision of each authorised but
unissued Existing Share of HK$0.20 into two hundred (200) New
Shares of HK$0.001 each; and (iii) a transfer of the credit arising
from the capital reduction to the contributed surplus account of the
Company.

On 26 February 2021, the Company further announced the proposed
Share Premium Cancellation by way of cancellation of the entire
amount standing to the credit of the Share Premium Account and
transferring the credit arising therefrom to the contributed surplus
account of the Company.

On 7 April 2021, the Capital Reorganisation, the Share Premium
Cancellation and the transactions contemplated thereunder have been
passed as the special resolutions by the Shareholders at the SGM. For
details, please refer to the relevant announcements and circular of the
Company.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES

The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CHARGE ON ASSETS

Share charges of entire issued share capital of several subsidiaries of
the Company, charges over the shares and the convertible loan notes
of the Company owned by China OEPC Limited, charge on accounts
receivables to be owed to the Company and land charges over certain
lands in Cambodia acquired or to be acquired by the Group have been
created for securing the convertible bonds. For details, please refer to
the Company’s announcement dated 27 June 2017.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group generally financed its operations with internally generated
resources and funds from equity and/or debt financing activities. All
financing methods will be considered as long as such methods are
beneficial to the Company. Bank deposits are in HK$, RMB, US$ and
Cambodian dollars (“KHR”).

CONTINGENT LIABILITY AND CAPITAL
COMMITMENTS

The Group had no material contingent liability as at 31 December 2021
and 2020.

The Group had capital commitments for the acquisition of property,
plant and equipment which were contracted but not provided for as at
31 December 2021 of approximately HK$759,442,000 (31 December
2020: approximately HK$917,233,000).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group earned revenue in
RMB and incurred costs in HK$, RMB, US$ and KHR. Although the
Group currently does not have any foreign currency hedging policy,
it does not foresee any significant currency exposure in the near
future. However, any permanent or significant change in RMB against
HK$, may have possible impact on the Group’s results and financial
positions.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFNWR DN

PROSPECTS

The business environment of PRC is expected to become more
challenging in 2022 as a result of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic
and the recent policy and regulatory changes over various industries.
The International Monetary Fund also updated its forecast to show
that the economic recovery may be slower than previously expected
and lowered its latest expectation for PRC economic growth from
8.4% in 2021 to 5.5% in 2022. During this year, several cities and
provinces in PRC have introduced relevant policy, The steel output will
be expected to scale down in 2022, and hence the demand for coking
coal products was expected to reduce. On the macro level, the PRC
government has issued several policies to maintain economic strength.
For the coal industry, it will continuously be restricted by environmental
and safety inspection. The shortage in coal supply, especially coking
coal supply, cannot be relieved in a short period of time. We believe
that coking coal will continue to benefit from economic growth, policy
stimulus and domestic supply tightening. The coking coal price is
expected to continue to fluctuate at a relatively high level in the short-
run.

The Group will further strengthen safety awareness among all
employees to ensure production safety. Also, we will closely monitor
the development of the pandemic, economic development, and policy
changes to timely adjust our business strategy. We will also continue to
maintain rigorous corporate governance and leverage our competitive
edge to create greater returns for society, our Shareholders and
employees.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
MBERHE

The following is a summary of the published results and the assets, AN ARNEEIZBL S T SRR ERTEE
liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group, prepared on the EREZ D AMEEANNREE - BERIFE
basis set out in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. XERZBE o I ES TEREEZXLEES
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial ~ BAf§#RFzRE A —2 5 o

statements.

RESULTS E 3

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
—E--f ZZ-TF ZT-NEF ZT-NF ZZT—+tF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHIT FET FHIT FEL

Revenue LON 1,612,858 1,303,796 944,258 1,004,636 514,409
Profit /(loss) before taxation ~ BREiATER,/ (B518) 998,967 (852,913)  (1,323,913) (3,153,345) 753,080
Income tax (expense)/credit  FriE% (BIx%), %R (247,460) 192,455 119,054 670,242 (240,516)
Profit /(loss) for the year FEERAN/ (BB 751,507 (660,458) (1,204,859) (2,483,103) 512,564
Less: Attributable to W IR R

non-controlling

interests (485,835) 348,096 509,209 1,301,041 (418,456)
Profit /(loss) attributable RARER AR

to owners of the Company =R (E8) 265,672  (312,362)  (695,650) (1,182,062) 94,108

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EE - BERFERER

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
B ZT-TF ZT-hEF ZT-NF ZZ—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FHET FET

Non-current assets ERBEE 8,076,108 6,803,141 7,049,630 7,901,132 11,413,381
Current assets mEEE 550,434 275,090 196,646 358,763 336,454
Current liabilities mEBEE (7,524,993) (6,535,843) (2,454,463) (1,405,684) (6,366,010)
Net current liabilities mEBEFE (6,974,559) (6,260,753) (2,257,817) (1,046,921) (6,029,556)
Total assets less current liabilities & ELER T EE 1,101,549 542,388 4,791,813 6,854,211 5,383,825
Non-current liabilities FRBEE (1,766,988) (1,966,376) (5,693,848) (6,617,348) (2,581,269)
Non-controlling interests FEiE R = (1,685,622) (1,196,916) (1,552,400) (2,065,414) (3,483,554)
Capital deficit attributable to RARHEA AEL

owners of the Company BB (2,351,061) (2,620,904) (2,454,435) (1,828,551)  (680,998)
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in (i) coal exploration and
development, sale of coking coal, coal processing, sales of coal
products and provision of coal related services; (i) the development
of cassava cultivation and deep processing business for the related
ecological cycle industry chain; and (iii) the sale of information
technology products, provision of system integration services,
technology services, software development and solution services.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Group’s principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 38 of
the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s business review, discussion and analysis of the
development, operating performance and financial position and
particulars of important events affecting the Group that have occurred
since the end of the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in
sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management Discussion
and Analysis” and “Summary Financial Information” on page 4 to page
23 respectively. Such discussions constitute an integral part of this
report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATION

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 76 of this
report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has approved and adopted a dividend policy with effect
from 29 March 2019 (the “Dividend Policy”). The payment of dividend
is subject to the compliance with related laws and regulations,
including the laws of Bermuda, Company’s bye-laws (the “Bye-
laws”), the Listing Rules, and the financial reporting standards that the
Group has adopted. The Board will continually review the Dividend
Policy from time to time and reserves the right to amend or modify
the Dividend Policy as and when the Board may deem necessary.
There can be no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular
amount for any given period.
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DIVIDEND POLICY (CONTINUED)

The Company intends to create long term value for the Shareholders
through maintaining a balance between dividend distribution,
preserving adequate liquidity and reserve to meet its working capital
requirements and capturing future growth opportunities. When
considering the declaration and payment of dividends, the Board shall
take into account the following factors of the Group:

— the Group’s overall results of operation, financial condition,
expected working capital requirements and capital expenditure
requirements, liquidity position and future expansions plans;

— the amount of retained profits and distributable reserves of the
Company;

— general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
business and other internal or external factors that may have an
impact on the business or financial performance and position of
the Group; and

— any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

Depending on the conditions and factors as set out above, dividends
may be proposed and/or declared by the Board for a financial year or
period as:

1. interim dividend;
2. final dividend;
3. special dividend; and

4. any distribution of net profits that the Board may deem
appropriate.

Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to the
Shareholders’ approval. The Company may declare and pay dividends
by way of cash or scrip or by other means that the Board considers
appropriate. Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert
to the Company in accordance with the Bye-laws.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend distribution
ratio and the Company’s dividend distribution record in the past, if
any, may not be used as a reference or basis to determine the level
of dividends that may be declared or paid by the Company in the
future. The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Group in respect of its future dividend and/or in no
way obligate the Group to declare a dividend at any time or from time
to time.
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 16 of the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2021, the Company had 526,260,404 shares of
HK$0.001 each in issue (31 December 2020: 526,260,404 shares of
HK$0.2 each in issue).

The movement in the Company’s share capital during the year as a
result of the reduction of the nominal value of each issued share from
HK$0.20 to HK$0.001 through the cancellation of the Company’s
paid-up capital become effective after the special general meeting held
on 7 April 2021.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 80, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Under the Companies Act 1981 (the “Act”) of Bermuda (as amended),
the contributed surplus account of the Company is available for
distribution. However, the Company cannot declare or pay dividend,
or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if:

(@) itis, or would after payment be, unable to pay it liabilities as they
become due; or

(b) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the
aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share
premium.

At 31 December 2021, the Company had no retained profits available
for cash distribution or distribution in species. Subject to the Act, the
Company’s contributed surplus of approximately HK$9,049,712,000
is distributable (31 December 2020: Nil). The Company’s contributed
surplus and share premium account in the amount of approximately
HK$9,049,712,000 at of 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020:
approximately HK$8,944,986,000), following a reduction thereof in
compliance with the Act and the Shareholders’ approval, may be
set off against the Company’s accumulated losses. Thereafter, any
balance in the Company’s share premium account may be distributed
in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Bye-laws provides that the Directors shall be indemnified out of
the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of
them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or
supposed duty, in their respective offices or trusts.

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability
insurance which provides appropriate cover for the Directors and
directors of the subsidiaries of the Group.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-Laws
or the laws of Bermuda, the jurisdiction in which the Company is
incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on
a pro rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s total
issued share capital as required under the Listing Rules throughout the
year ended 31 December 2021 and as at the date of this report.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed
or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended
31 December 2021.

MAJOR CUSTOMER AND SUPPLIERS

Sales to the Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately
32% of the Group’s total sales in 2021. Sales to the Group’s five
largest customers accounted for approximately 93% of the Group’s
total sales in 2021.

Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 100%
of the total purchases in 2021.

None of the Directors, any of their associates, or any of the substantial

Shareholders (which are disclosed to the Directors) had any beneficial
interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year under review, no management and administrative
contracts regarding the entire or any major businesses of the Company
have been entered into or have existed.
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EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group ensured that its employees are remunerated according
to the prevailing manpower market conditions and individual
performance, qualification, experience and the remuneration policy are
reviewed on a regular basis.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group employed approximately 1,236
full time employees in Hong Kong and PRC. The Group remunerates
its employees based on individual and business performance. Other
employee benefits include mandatory provident fund, insurance and
medical coverage, training programs and share option.

The emoluments of the Directors were determined with reference to
their duties and responsibilities with the Company, the Company’s
performance, prevailing market conditions and the market emoluments
for directors of other listed companies and reviewed by the
remuneration committee of the Company.

The Group’s total staff costs (including Directors’ emoluments)
for the year ended 31 December 2021 under review amounted to
approximately HK$114,091,000 (31 December 2020: approximately
HK$71,356,000).

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group provides a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance to all staff in Hong
Kong . Under the MPF Scheme, employer and employees are each
required to make mandatory contributions to the MPF Scheme and
contributions to the MPF Scheme vested immediately.

The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are members of the state-
managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC
government. The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement
benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to this retirement benefits scheme is to make the
required contributions under the scheme. Details of the retirement and
employee benefits scheme of the Group are disclosed in the section
headed “Employee benefits” set out in Note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report.
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group did not make any charitable donations
(2020: Nil).

DIRECTORS
As at the date of this report, the Board comprises five (5) Directors:
Executive Directors

Mr. Tse Michael Nam (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Zhang Sanhuo

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin
Mr. Shen Weidong
Mr. Tian Hong

In accordance with Bye-laws 111(A) and 115 and the code provisions
set out in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance
Report (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules, each of Mr. Zhang Sanhuo and Mr. Shen Weidong shall retire
from office at the forthcoming annual general meeting. All the above
retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election as
executive Director or independent non-executive Director (as the case
may be).

All other remaining Directors shall continue in office.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company has
complied with the requirements under Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A
of the Listing Rules. The Company has received the confirmation of
independence from all three (3) independent non-executive Directors
(“INEDs”), namely Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin, Mr. Shen Weidong and
Mr. Tian Hong in accordance with Rules 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board has reviewed the independence of all INEDs and concluded
that all of them are independent within the definition of the Listing
Rules. Furthermore, the Board is not aware of the occurrence of any
events which would cause it to believe that the independence of any of
the INEDs has been impaired up to the date of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the current Directors are set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors”.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not terminable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No Director had a material beneficial interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the Group
to which, the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during
the year.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors, substantial Shareholders nor any of their
respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest
in a business which causes or may cause competes or may cause any
significant competition with the business of the Group during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Except as disclosed above and in Note 15 of the consolidated financial
statements, at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares granted to any of the Directors
or their respective spouses or children under 18 years of age, or were
any such rights exercised by any of them; or was the Company, or any
of its subsidiaries, or related companies a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company (the “Chief Executive”)
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which had been notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO),
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) (the “HKCO”), were as follows:

(i) Long/short position in the shares

No. of

Name of Directors Nature of interest shares held
EENA ERME FrEsROEE
Mr. Zhang Sanhuo Corporate Interest 94,292,961
R=EELAE EE R

91,361,894
Mr. Tse Michael Nam Beneficial owner 7,658
HEFELEE EmEA A
Notes:

1 China OEPC is beneficially owned by Best Growth Enterprises Limited
(“Best Growth”) and is ultimate beneficially owned by Mr. Zhang.
Therefore, by virtue of the SFO, Mr. Zhang is deemed to be interested
in all the shares held by China OEPC. As at 31 December 2021,
China OEPC held 94,292,961 shares in which 91,361,894 shares
had been pledged.

2 The percentage is calculated on the basis of 526,260,404 shares in
issue as at 31 December 2021.
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percentage of
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R=-B=-—F
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1 Long 17.9175%
e
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KB
Long 0.0015%
e
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (CONTINUED)

(i) REBERGZHFR KA

(i) Long/short position in the underlying shares

Approximate
percentage of
issued share
Number of capital as at
share 31 December
Name of Director Capacity Number of shares held options held Note Position 2021
R-B--F
t=A=t-A
Fi% REBTRAZ
BEpg &t FrERAHEE BREHE W RE BHBEA
Personal Family Corporate Personal
Interests Interests interests interests
BAER RiEER HEER BARR
Mr. Zhang Sanhuo Beneficial owner - 68,181,818 - - 1 Long 12.9559%
K=E%k4 ERBEA )
Interest in controlled - = 1,727,272,727 - 2 Long 328.2164%
corporation
RREHEEZ 8
1
Notes: B EE

1 These underlying shares are held by Ms. Hao Ting, spouse of
Mr. Zhang, for the amount of HK$15,000,000 convertible loan notes
(“CN”), which are convertible into 68,181,818 shares. By virtue of
the SFO, these underlying shares are deemed as a family interest to
Mr. Zhang.

2 These underlying shares are held by China OEPC which is beneficially
owned by Best Growth and is ultimate beneficially owned by
Mr. Zhang for the amount of HK$380,000,000 CN, which are
convertible into 1,727,272,727 shares. By virtue of the SFO, these
underlying shares are deemed as a corporate interest to Mr. Zhang.

3  The percentage is calculated on the basis of 526,260,404 shares in
issue as at 31 December 2021.

GREEN LEADER HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED 47 <812 &= B A R A A

1 ZEHBEROBAREEZREBMEL
+ A4 %8 /415,000,000 7T 2 A # j%
BERZR(TAABREBEZE] JEHR5
68,181,818 A7) #FH - BIEFEFH & H
BIEF > ZSHEBROWEREREEY
EQi T Eal

2 ZEHEBRGCHTRERASEAS
380,000,0007% 7T 2 A #2 J& ZE % (7] 3 %
1,727,272, 727 R FE - Mz A
A B Best GrowthE #5 A R R4
BIRELHE - BREZEHFRBEE -
ZEHEROEEAREEZFEE

3 ZESHTIRBREBE-TE=_—%+=A

=+—HEB#1789526,260,404 B AX 15
B -

33



REPORT OF DIRECTORS
ESEWRE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS EERIETHAERK®H -
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING #HHERORESZEZRXA(E)
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (CONTINUED)

(i) AHERB TR KE (@)

(ii) Long/short position in the underlying shares

(continued)

In addition to the above, as at 31 December 2021, certain
Directors have non-beneficial personal equity interests in certain
subsidiaries held for the benefit of the Company solely for the
purpose of complying with the minimum company membership
requirements.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the
Directors or the Chief Executive and their respective associates
had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which had
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which he/she was taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to the Model
Code and the HKCO, to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

Persons who have an interest or short position
which is disclosable under Divisions 2 and 3 of
part XV of the SFO and substantial Shareholders

So far as the Directors and the Chief Executive are aware, as at
31 December 2021, other than the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the Chief Executive as disclosed, the following persons
had, or were deemed to have, interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company which would are required to
be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO, or who were directly or indirectly interested in
10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any member
of the Group:

(i) Interests in the shares and underlying shares

No. of shares

and/or

Name of substantial underlying

Shareholders Nature of interest shares held

iR R,~

TERRER EmME HEERKRGEE

Ms. Hao Ting Beneficial owner 68,181,818
gL+ E=EBA

Interest of controlled 1,821,565,688
corporation

HELE S

Best Growth
Enterprises Limited

91,361,894
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GREREIELM  HEXRKEERREGMH
BRENAINEMBER TEAEEEMKER
A2 RR ARG FRARZEAERIRAEEI0%

S b 2 3

() RO RIEER G B

Note Position
MiaE ¥E
1 Long
Sy
2 Long
5=
Short

Approximate
percentage of
issued share
capital as at
31 December
2021
R=B=—F
+=A=+—H
HEBRTREZ
BHABEDL

12.9559%

346.1339%

17.3606%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (CONTINUED)

Persons who have an interest or short position
which is disclosable under Divisions 2 and 3 of
part XV of the SFO and substantial Shareholders
(continued)

(i) Interests in the shares and underlying shares (continued)

No. of shares

and/or
Name of substantial underlying
Shareholders Nature of interest shares held
R R,~
FTERRER EEuE SRR A BB
China OEPC Limited Beneficial owner 1,821,565,688
FEBEIR (B EmEEA
ZERRER A F]
91,361,894
China Huarong (Macau)  Interest of controlled 208,937,651
International Company corporation
Limited
B e QR PT) BB REEE R
P =1 "N
China Huarong Asset Interest of controlled 208,937,651
Management Co., Ltd. corporation
FREREETERD XEEEER
BRAF]
Notes:

1 Ms. Hao Ting, spouse of Mr. Zhang, beneficially owns the amount of
HK$15,000,000 CN which are convertible into 68,181,818 shares.
By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Hao is also deemed to be interested in the
94,292,961 shares and derivative interest held by China OEPC.

36 ANNUAL REPORT 2021 4

FERRRAMALTRERAD K
HERG 2 EE X R (F)

BREARBERESRAER
EXVEFE2RID MM B 2 ERH
KBZALIREERRE

() RIRHRIEERG B (&)

Approximate
percentage of
issued share

capital as at

31 December

Note Position 2021

R-ZE=—F

+=—A=+—H

HERITREZ

M EE ¥R BABEDL

2 Long 346.1339%
e

Short 17.3606%
KE

3-6 Long 39.7023%
HE

3-6 Long 39.7023%
e

BMIsE -

1 MEL+T(RELEZER)EEEAR
15,000,000/ Tt 2 AT IR Z 4% - 5% & A
AR ZE % Al 5 R 468,181,818 A% 17 ©
RIEFSH MEBEGERD - BRI HRA
R BEERIEE 294,292,961 % ik {5 &
PTEREPHE RS -



SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (CONTINUED)

Persons who have an interest or short position
which is disclosable under Divisions 2 and 3 of
part XV of the SFO and substantial Shareholders
(continued)

(i) Interests in the shares and underlying shares (continued)

Notes: (continued)
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FERRREMALTRROK
MERD 2 EE KX R ()

BEARBESRPERD
SEXVESE2R 3D BN E R =
KEZALTREERR(H)

() RIRGRIEEER G 2 E ()

faE - (%)

2

China OEPC beneficially owns 94,292,961 shares in which
91,361,894 shares had been pledged and the amount of
HK$380,000,000 CN which are convertible into 1,727,272,727
shares. China OEPC is beneficially owned by Best Growth and
ultimate beneficially owned by Mr. Zhang. By virtue of the SFO,
Mr. Zhang and Best Growth are deemed to be interested in those
shares and derivative interests held by China OEPC.

China Huarong Macau (HK) Investment Holdings Limited (“Huarong
(HK)”) beneficially owns shares and convertible loan note. Huarong
(HK) is wholly and beneficially owned by China Huarong (Macau)
International Company Limited. (“Huarong (Macau)”). By virtue of the
SFO, Huarong (Macau) was deemed to be interested in those Shares
and derivative interests held by Huarong (HK). Such convertible
bond have been fallen due on 9 July 2020 and the Group is in the
negotiation with Huarong (HK) to restructure the repayment timetable
of the Company’s financial obligation.

Huarong (Macau) is held 51% of shares by Huarong (HK) Industrial
Financial Investment Limited (“Huarong IFI”). By virtue of the SFO,
Huarong IFI was deemed to be interested in those shares and
derivative which Huarong (Macau) was interested.

Huarong IFl is wholly and beneficially owned by Huarong Real Estate
Co., Ltd. (“Huarong REC”). By virtue of the SFO, Huarong REC
was deemed to be interested in those shares and derivative which
Huarong IFI was interested.

Huarong REC is wholly and beneficially owned by China Huarong
Asset Management Co., Ltd. (“Huarong AM”). By virtue of the SFO,
Huarong AM was deemed to be interested in those shares and
derivative which Huarong REC was interested.

The percentage is calculated on the basis of 526,260,404 shares in
issue as at 31 December 2021.

B RE R B %5 A 94,292,961 AR i1 (E
91,361,894 i 19 B 1EIEIH) R A
380,000,000/8 7t 2 AJ # AR 2= 4% (R] i #2
B1,727,272, 727 IR (%) - REIREIR A
Best GrowthBE @B MR EERKE
HHEE BEEERPEEN - RAE
K Best Growth# 17 AR BRI E 2
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(EREBEDERZEARND RATBRRKRE
REE - ERBEHPEERCRF)E
BREROAERAR (TERRMD2EER
A - REEFRAEERG - ERUEM
WERNEREBRA ZZERD RIT
ETEAREGTEAED - ZUBRRES
ER-Z-_TFLANBEE  A&EH
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND

SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES (CONTINUED)

Persons who have an interest or short position
which is disclosable under Divisions 2 and 3 of
part XV of the SFO and substantial Shareholders
(continued)

(i) Interests in the shares and underlying shares (continued)

Except as disclosed above and so far as the Directors were
aware, as at 31 December 2021, there was no other party who
had an interest or short position in the shares, the underlying
shares or debentures of the Company which would be required to
be disclosed to the Company under provisions of Division 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which would be required, pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
herein.

SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
approved and adopted by the Company based on the Shareholders’
resolution passed on 28 May 2015.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company
to grant share option (the “Share Option(s)”) to certain employees of
the Group and any suppliers, consultants, agents and advisers or any
person who, in the sole discretion of the Board, has contributed or
may contribute to the Group in recognition of their contribution to the
Group.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the Options granted to each eligible participant or grantee (including
exercised and outstanding Options) in any 12-month period up to
the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue at the
date of grant. Any further grant will be conditional upon Shareholders’
approval in general meeting.
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SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME (CONTINUED)

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the Share Option
may be exercised in whole or in part at any time during the period to
be determined by the Board but in any event no later than 10 years
from the date of grant. There is no specified minimum period for which
the Share Option must be held before it can be exercised. An offer
of the grant of the Share Option shall remain open for acceptance
for a period of 28 days from the date upon which is it made and a
non-refundable nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable by the
grantee upon acceptance of the Share Option.

The exercise price of the Share Options granted under the Share
Option Scheme may be determined by the Board at its absolute
discretion but in any event will not be less than the highest of: (i) the
closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet of
the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a business
day; (ii) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (jii) the nominal value of
the share on the date of grant.

For details of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to the Company’s
circular dated 24 April 2015.

On 31 May 2019, an ordinary resolution was duly passed by the
Shareholders at an annual general meeting of the Company (the “2019
AGM”), approving, inter alia, the refreshment of the scheme mandate
limit under the Share Option Scheme. Upon the refreshment of the
scheme mandate limit, the Company may grant the Share Options
entitling holders thereof to subscribe for up to a maximum number
of 43,866,160 Share Options, representing approximately 8.34% of
the number of issued shares as at the date of the 2019 AGM (the
“Refreshed Scheme Mandate Limit”). Further details of the refreshment
of the scheme mandate limit can be referred to the circular of the
Company dated 29 April 2019 and the announcement of the Company
dated 31 May 2019.
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SHARE OPTIONS

The particulars of movements in the Share Options during the year
ended 31 December 2021 are set out as follow:

BRE

RBE-_T-_—F+-_A=+—BILEEZ
BRESEFBEHIWT

Number of Share Options
EREZA
Outstanding Outstanding
as at Granted  Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed as at
Share 1 January during during during during 31 December
Options type 2021 the year the year the year the year 2021
R=B=-f R=B=-f&
-A-H RER RER RER WER  +=A=+-H
BRESR HRTE b 1% B P HARTE
Other grantees 2018 1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000
At #REA —T-)\fF
Details of specific categories of the Share Options are as follows: FrE BRI 2 BT
Closing price
Share Vesting before the  Exercise
Options type Date of grant  proportion  Vesting period Exercisable period grant date price
Riti A HAI 2
BREER RitiA 8 BRI  BRH g KhE  TEE
HK$ HKS
BT BT
2018 24 May 2018 50.00% Immediately vested 24 May 2018 to 23 May 2028 5.60 7.00
ZE-N\F “E-N\E lllisa = “Z-\FRA-tWmEZE
EA-TMA “E-\fRA-+=H
50.00% 24 May 2018 to 23 May 2019 24 May 2019 to 23 May 2028
“Z-)\ERA-tWMHEE —E-NAERA-tWmAZ
“E-NFRAZ-TZ=H “E- N \FRAZTZH

As at 31 December 2021, the total number of the Shares Options
available for issue under the Refreshed Scheme Mandate Limit of the
Share Option Scheme is 43,866,160, representing approximately
8.34% of the Company’s issued share capital as at the date of this
annual report.

Save as disclosed above, no share option was granted, exercised,
cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme during the year.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has applied the principles
and complied with the code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) in Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules for the year ended 31 December 2021 except for the following
deviation. Details of corporate governance are set out in the section
headed “Corporate Governance Report” in this report.

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. During the year ended 31 December 2021, Mr. Tse
Michael Nam has taken up the roles of the chairman (the “Chairman”)
and the chief executive officer (the “CEQ”) of the Company which
constituted a deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.
Mr. Tse has extensive management skills, knowledge and experience.
The Board believes that vesting the roles of both the Chairman and
the CEQ in the same person can facilitate the execution of the Group’s
business strategies and boost the effectiveness of its operation.
Therefore, the Board considers that the deviation from the code
provision A.2.1 of the CG Code is appropriate in this circumstance.
In addition, under the supervision of the Board, which is comprised of
two (2) executive Directors and three (3) independent non-executive
Directors, the Company is of the view the Board is appropriately
structured with a balance of power to provide sufficient checks to
protect the interests of the Company and the Shareholders.

COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATIONS

During the year, there was no incidence of non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group as far as the Board is aware.

ENVIRONMENT POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to contributing to the sustainability of
the environment and maintaining a good standard of corporate
social governance essential for bringing a framework for motivating
employees to contribute to our community.

The Group has made continuous efforts in promoting green measures
and awareness in daily business operations. The principles of recycling
and reducing will always be encouraged to adhere to as much as
possible, such as implementing green office practices of double-sided
printing and copying, setting up recycling bins and switching off idle
lightings and regulating air-conditioning in different zoning.
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS
ESEWRE

ENVIRONMENT POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
(CONTINUED)

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report conducted by a
professional third party for year 2021 will be published separately in
compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2021 had been audited by Elite Partners CPA Limited
(“Elite”), who will retire and being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment as the auditor of the Company at the Company’s
forthcoming annual general meeting.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE
COMPANY’S CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 DECEMBER 2021

The following is an extract of the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2021.

Disclaimer of Opinion

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters described
in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have
not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial
statements. In all other respects, in our opinion the consolidated
financial statements have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE
COMPANY’S CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 DECEMBER 2021 (CONTINUED)

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion
Muiltiple uncertainties relating to going concern

As described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group had net current liabilities and net liabilities of approximately
HK$6,974,559,000 and HK$665,439,000 respectively whereas
its cash and cash equivalents amounted to approximately
HK$146,141,000 only as at the 31 December 2021. Besides,
included in the net current liabilities of the Group, there are other
borrowings related to the convertible loan notes issued in 2017 by the
Company with carrying amounts of approximately HK$312,000,000
(2017 Convertible Loan Notes”) which were matured on 10 July
2020 and amounts due to non-controlling interests of approximately
HK$5,976,141,000 was either past due as at 31 December 2021 or
the amount were repayable on demand.

These conditions, together with other matters described in Note 2
to the consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence of
material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors have been undertaking certain measures as set out in
Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements to improve the Group’s
liquidity and financial position. The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which
depends on the outcome of these plans and measures, which are
subject to multiple uncertainties, including: (i) negotiation with non-
controlling interests of amounts due by the Group for extending the
repayment due dates; (i) negotiation with the holder of the 2017
Convertible Loan Notes to restructure the repayment timetable of the
Group’s financial obligations; and (jii) external facilities shall be available
to the Group.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above mentioned plans and
measures, it might not be able to continue to operate as a going
concern, and adjustments would have to be made to reclassify the
Group’s non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities respectively, to write down the carrying
amounts of assets to their recoverable amounts and to provide for any
further liabilities which may arise. The effect of these adjustments have
not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS
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MANAGEMENT VIEW ON GOING CONCERN

The Directors are of the opinion that the Group will have sufficient
working capital to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall
due for the next twelve months from 31 December 2021 after taking
into consideration of the following:

() the Group is negotiating with non-controlling interests of the
amounts due by the Group for extending the repayment due
dates;

(i) the Group is negotiating with the holder of the 2017 Convertible
Loan Notes to restructure the repayment timetable of the Group’s
financial obligations; and

(i external facilities and/or fund raising opportunities shall be
available to the Group.

Accordingly, the Directors are of the opinion that it is appropriate to
prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist as to whether
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern, which will
depend upon the Group’s ability to generate adequate financial and
operating cash flows through the following:

(i)  successfully negotiation with non-controlling interests to extend
the repayment due dates;

(i) successfully negotiation with the holder of 2017 Convertible Loan
Notes to restructure the repayment timetable of the Group’s
financial obligations; and

(i) successfully obtain external facilities and/or fund raising
opportunities for fulfilling its other existing financial obligations.

ACTION PLAN ON GOING CONCERN

The Group has commenced the following action plans to remove the
Disclaimer of Opinion:

(@) the Group is in the negotiation with the non-controlling interests of
the amounts due by the Group for extending the repayment due
dates;

(b) the Group is in the negotiation with the holder of the 2017
Convertible Loan Notes to restructure the repayment timetable of

the Group’s financial obligations; and

(c) the Group is actively seeking external facilities and fund raising
opportunities.
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ACTION PLAN ON GOING CONCERN (CONTINUED)

The Company has taken various actions since publication of the 2021
annual results to address the audit modification. As at the date of this
report, neither the non-controlling interests nor the holder of 2017
Convertible Loan Note has demanded for immediate repayment of the
outstanding indebtedness. Whilst there is no formal documentation,
the non-controlling interests had indicated its willingness for extension.

Regarding the negotiations status of the repayment timetable for
the 2017 Convertible Loan Note, the Company has been actively
negotiated with the holder of the 2017 Convertible Loan Notes for
possible extension and/or settlement and up to the date of this report,
the negotiations remain in good progress and the holder of 2017
Convertible Loan Note did not demand for immediate repayment of
the 2017 Convertible Loan Notes. However, the repayment timetable
has not yet been finalized. For the avoidance of doubt, further
announcement(s) will be made by the Company in compliance with
the relevant Listing Rules requirements to inform the public and its
Shareholders upon the entering into of relevant definitive agreement(s)
on the restructuring of the 2017 Convertible Loan Notes.

In respect of seeking external facilities and fund raising opportunities,
the Group had approached and in the negotiation with a number of
financial institutions and/or other investor(s). Up to the date of this
report, the negotiations are still in progress but the Group has not
concluded or reached any agreements with those financial institutions
and/or other investor(s). The Company will continue to explore
appropriate fund raising opportunities.

The Group’s ability to continue as a going concern will depend
upon the Group’s ability to generate adequate financial cash flows.
Assuming that the Group can successfully implement the aforesaid
measures, the Group considers it would address the going concern
issues.

For the avoidance of doubt, in accordance with the applicable Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing, the auditor needs to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence and to consider, based on the audit
evidence to be obtained, whether material uncertainty exists regarding
the Group’s ability to continue as going concern. As such, assuming
the successful implementation of the action plan in time with sufficient
and appropriate audit evidence can be provided, the directors are of
the view that the Disclaimer of Opinion is expected to be removed in
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ending
31 December 2022. The Company will continue to exercise its best
endeavours to resolve the audit modification within the year ending
31 December 2022.
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ACTION PLAN ON GOING CONCERN (CONTINUED)

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Disclaimer of Opinion relating
to going concern, the management view on going concern and
the action plan on going concern of the Group, and concurs with
the Board’s view. For details, please refer to section headed “Audit
Committee Review on the Audit Qualification” of the Corporate
Governance Report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprised three
(8) members, all of whom were INEDs. The composition of the Audit
Committee is Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin (chairman of the Audit
Committee), Mr. Shen Weidong and Mr. Tian Hong. Mr. Ho Kin
Cheong, Kelvin is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, and a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants. None of the members is a partner
or former partner of the Auditors.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management in conjunction
with the Auditors the Group’s consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021, the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, risk
management and internal controls, and financial reporting matters of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.

By the order of the Board
Mr. Tse Michael Nam
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board and the Company’s management are highly committed to
maintaining good corporate governance practices, internal control,
risk management and transparency in fulfilling their corporate
responsibility and accountability to the Shareholders. The Board and
the management recognise that the maintenance of good corporate
governance practices is an essential factor in achieving financial
success and enhancing Shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied the principles and adopted code provisions
set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) as its own code on corporate governance
practices.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with the code
provisions of the CG Code during the year, except for the following
deviations:

—  Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. During the year ended 31 December 2021,
Mr. Tse Michael Nam has taken up the roles of the chairman
(the “Chairman”) and the chief executive officer (the “CEQ”) of
the Company which constituted a deviation from code provision
A.2.1 of the CG Code. Mr. Tse has extensive management skill,
knowledge of experience. The Board believes that vesting the
roles of both the Chairman and the CEO in the same person can
facilitate the execution of the Group’s business strategies and
boost the effectiveness of its operation. Therefore, the Board
considers that the deviation from the code provision A.2.1 of
the CG Code is appropriate in this circumstance. In addition,
under the supervision of the Board, which is comprised of two
(2) executive Directors and three (3) independent non-executive
Directors, the Company is of the view the Board is appropriately
structured with a balance of power to provide sufficient checks to
protect the interests of the Company and the Shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERKRE

MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct for dealing in securities
of the Company by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed, upon
specific enquiries made by the Company, that they have complied with
the required standard set out in the Model Code during the year ended
31 December 2021. To ensure Directors’ dealings in the securities of
the Company are conducted in accordance with the Model Code, a
Director is required to notify designated executive directors in writing
and obtain a written acknowledgement from the designated executive
directors prior to any dealings the securities of the Company.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Up to the date of this report, the Board is composed of five (5)
members comprising two (2) executive Directors (the “ED(s)”) and
three (3) independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”).

Composition
Executive Directors:

Mr. Tse Michael Nam (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Zhang Sanhuo

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin
Mr. Shen Weidong
Mr. Tian Hong

The number of INEDs represent more than one-third of the Board
membership. One INED has appropriate professional accounting
experience and expertise. The Board has a balance of skills and
experience appropriate for the requirements of the business of the
Company. The names and biographical details of each Director are
disclosed on page 6 to page 8 of this Annual Report. There is no other
relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship) among the Board members.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Roles and functions of the Board and the management

The Board is tasked with the responsibility of directing and supervising
the Company’s businesses and affairs and promoting its success and
growth. The Board is collectively responsible for the management
and operations of the Company and is responsible for directing and
supervising the overall management of the Company with regards to
the implementation and maintenance of internal control procedures
and ensuring compliance with relevant statutory requirements, the
Listing Rules and other rules and regulations.

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties as required under the CG Code. The major roles and functions
of the Board in respect of the corporate governance are:

— to develop and review the Company’s policy and practices on
corporate governance;

— to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

— to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

— to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors; and

— to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

The Board had considered the following corporate governance matters
for the financial year 2021:

= review of the compliance with the CG Code; and
— review of the effectiveness of the internal controls and risk

management systems of the Company through the Audit
Committee.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERKRE

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Roles and functions of the Board and the management
(continued)

The Board delegates the authority and responsibility for implementing
day-to-day operations, business strategies and management of the
Group’s businesses to the executive Directors, senior management
and certain specific responsibilities to the Board committees.

The Board has delegated various responsibilities to the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”), the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) and the risk management committee (the
“Risk Management Committee”) of the Company. Further details of
these committees are set out in this report.

During the year, the management had provided all members of the
Board with monthly updates giving a balanced and understandable
assessment of the Company’s performance and position to enable the
Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties under
the Listing Rules.

The Company had maintained an appropriate level of insurance cover
in respect of legal action against the Directors and officers of the
Company and its subsidiaries throughout the year ended 31 December
2021.

Each Director has disclosed to the Company in a timely manner of any
change, the number and nature of offices held in public companies
or organisations and other significant commitments. All such changes
during the year and up to the date of this report have been disclosed
in the Report of the Directors section of this annual report.

Due notice and board papers were given to all Directors prior to the
meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules and CG Code. Generally,
at least 14 days notice of regular Board meetings are given and the
Company aims at giving reasonable notice of other Board meetings.
Prior to each Board meeting (for regular meetings, at least 3 days
prior), the Chairman, with the support of the company secretary of the
Company (the “Company Secretary”), ensures that every Director has
been properly briefed on issues and provided with the agenda and
accompanying Board papers containing adequate information provided
by the management to enable them to make informed decisions at the
meeting. Every member of the Board has an opportunity to propose
matters in the agenda for discussion at each Board meeting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Roles and functions of the Board and the management
(continued)

Minutes of Board meetings and committees meetings are taken by
the Company Secretary and maintained at the Company’s premises.
Minutes of the Board and committees meetings record in sufficient
detail the matters considered by the Board or committees and
decisions reached, including any concerns raised by the Directors or
dissenting views expressed. Drafts and final versions of minutes are
sent to all Directors for their comments within a reasonable time after
the Board and committees meetings are held. Every member of the
Board is entitled to inspect Board papers and related materials and
has unrestricted access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary to ensure that Board procedures and all applicable rules
and regulations are followed. Where queries are raised by any of the
Directors, responses are provided as promptly and fully as possible.
The Directors may also upon reasonable request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the expense of
the Company. So far and save as disclosed, there has not been any
case where a substantial Shareholder or a Director has a conflict of
interest in a matter to be considered by the Board which the Board
has determined to be material.

Appointments, re-election and removal of Directors

Appointment of new Directors is a matter for consideration by the
Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee will review the
profiles of the candidates and make recommendations to the Board
on the appointment, nomination and retirement of Directors.

Each of the Directors (including INEDs) has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a specific term. Such term is
subject to their re-appointment by the Company at an annual general
meeting upon such Director’s retirement by rotation at least once
every three years and offering themselves for re-election.

The Bye-laws provide that any Directors appointed by the Board, (i) to
fill a casual vacancy in the Board, shall hold office only until the next
following general meeting of the Company and shall be subject to re-
election at such meeting; and (i) as an addition to the Board, shall hold
office until the next annual general meeting of the Company and shall
then be eligible for re-election.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Chairman and chief executive officer

Pursuant to the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
the Chairman and the chief executive officer should be separate and
not performed by the same individual. The division of responsibilities
between the Chairman and chief executive officer should be
established and written.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, Mr. Tse Michael Nam
has taken up the roles of the Chairman and the CEO, it constituted
a deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. Mr. Tse has
extensive management skills, knowledge and experience. The Board
believes that vesting the roles of both the Chairman and the CEO in
the same person can facilitate the execution of the Group’s business
strategies and boost its operational effectiveness. Besides, under
the supervision of the Board comprising of two (2) EDs and three
(3) INEDs, the Company is of the view the Board is appropriately
structured with a balance of power to provide sufficient checks to
protect the interests of the Company and its Shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors

During the year and up to the date of this report, the Company had
been in compliance with Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules by having at all times three INEDs on its Board, one who has the
appropriate professional accounting qualifications and the number of
INEDs represented at least one-third of the Board.

Each of the non-executive Director (including INED) was appointed
for an initial term of not more than two years from the date of his/her
appointment. Upon the expiry of the initial term, the appointment may
be renewed automatically for another term of not more than two years.

The Company had received written confirmation of independence for
the year ended 31 December 2021 from all INEDs. Each of the INED
met the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and the Company considered each of them to be so.

The non-executive Directors (including INEDs) have been participating
in Board meetings, taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests
arise, serving on the audit, nomination and remuneration committees,
scrutinising the Company’s performance in achieving agreed corporate
goals and objectives, monitoring performance reporting and making a
positive contribution to the development of the Group’s strategy and
policies through independent, constructive and informed comments
and giving the Board and committees in which they serve, the benefit
of their skills, expertise and varied backgrounds and qualifications
through regular attendance and active participation. Each Director has
also given sufficient time and attention to the Company’s affairs during
the year.
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BOARD COMMITTEE

Remuneration committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in June 2005 with
specific written terms of reference detailing the Remuneration
Committee’s role and authority. The terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee had been published on the Company’s
website as well as the Stock Exchange’s website.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for formulating and
making recommendation to the Board on the Group’s policy and
structure for the remuneration of the Directors and senior management
and the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing policy on such remuneration and review of the policy and
the procedure annually. The Remuneration Committee has been
the delegated responsibility to determine the specific remuneration
packages of the executive Directors and senior management and
to make recommendations to the Board for the remuneration of the
non-executive Directors (including INEDs) after conducted the Board
evaluation annually.

In fulfilling its functions, the Remuneration Committee takes into
consideration factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies,
respective time commitment, and responsibilities of the Directors and
senior management and whether the remuneration packages are
competitively attractive to retain the executive Directors and senior
management. The Remuneration Committee members may consult
the Chairman about their proposals relating to the remuneration
of the Directors and have access to sufficient resources including
professional advice if considered necessary. No Director can, however,
approve his own remuneration.

As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee comprised
three (3) members, all of whom were INEDs. The members of the
Remuneration Committee as at the date of this report are Mr. Tian
Hong (the chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Ho Kin
Cheong, Kelvin and Mr. Shen Weidong.

The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year to review
and approve the remuneration package of the other Directors and
the senior management (which had remained unchanged from
the previous year) and other related matters including the Board
evaluation.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)
Nomination committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 14 December 2015
with specific written terms of reference detailing the Nomination
Committee’s role and authority. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee had been published on the Company’s website
as well as the Stock Exchange’s website.

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee comprised
four (4) members, three (3) of whom were INEDs. The members of
the Nomination Committee as at the date of this report are Mr. Tse
Michael Nam (the chairman of the Nomination Committee), Mr. Ho Kin
Cheong, Kelvin, Mr. Tian Hong and Mr. Shen Weidong.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are,
among other things, review the structure, size and composition
(including skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and make
recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed changes;
identify candidates with suitable qualifications as Directors, select and
make recommendations to the Board; assess the independence of
INEDs; and make recommendations to the Board on matters relating
to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors.

In fulfilling its functions, the Nomination Committee has been provided
sufficient resources by the Company to seek for independent
professional advice to perform its responsibilities.

The Nomination Committee has a policy concerning diversity of
Board members which aims to maintain the Board with a diversity of
Directors in terms of skills, experience, knowledge, expertise, culture,
independence, age and gender, with a view to enhancing the quality of
performance of the Board.

The Nomination Committee meets not less than once a year to
(i) review the terms of reference; (ii) review the structure, size and
diversity (including without limitation, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service) of the Board; and make recommendations on
any proposed changes to the Board to implement the Company’s
corporate strategy; and (i) review the procedures for Shareholders to
elect Director which had been published in the Company’s website as
well as the Stock Exchange’s websites.
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BOARD COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

Audit committee

The Audit Committee was established in June 1999 with clear written
terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee
had been published on the Company’s website as well as the Stock
Exchange’s website.

The Audit Committee was comprised of three members during the
year ended 31 December 2021 and as at the date of this report, all of
whom were INEDs. The composition of the Audit Committee as at the
date of this report was Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin (the chairman of the
Audit Committee), Mr. Shen Weidong and Mr. Tian Hong. Mr. Ho Kin
Cheong, Kelvin is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, and a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants.

The Audit Committee has unrestricted access to the auditor of the
Company (the “Auditors”), the Directors and other members of the
management. The Audit Committee has met with the Auditors twice
during the year ended 31 December 2021 with regards to review of
the Company’s financial report and accounts.

The Audit Committee meet at least twice a year to review (i) the
Company’s results and the accompanying auditor’s report; (i) the
accounting policies and practices adopted by the Company; and (i)
the financial, risk management and internal control systems of the
Company.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the Group’s audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2021.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

Risk management committee

The Risk Management Committee was established in September 2017
with specific written terms of reference detailing the Risk Management
Committee’s role and authority. The terms of reference of the Risk
Management Committee had been published on the Company’s
website as well as the Stock Exchange’s website.

The Risk Management Committee is responsible for reviewing of the
risk management and internal control systems, the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal audit function, and such other duties as stipulated
under the Codes as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

As at the date of this report, the Risk Management Committee
comprised four (4) members, one (1) ED and three (3) INEDs. The
members of the Risk Management Committee as at the date of this
report are Mr. Tse Michael Nam (the chairman of the Risk Management
Committee), Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin, Mr. Shen Weidong and
Mr. Tian Hong.

The principal responsibilities of the Risk Management Committee
are, among other things, (i) advise the Board on the Group’s risk
appetite statement(s), risk principles and other risk-related issues
including corporate actions and proposed strategic transactions
such as mergers, acquisitions and disposals; (ii) oversee risk
management framework to identify and deal with financial, operational,
legal, regulatory, technology, business and strategic risks faced
by the Group and amend and supplement this from time to time;
(iii) approve the Group’s risk policies and risk tolerances; (iv) consider
emerging risks relating to the Group’s business and strategies to
ensure that appropriate arrangements are in place to control and
mitigate the risks effectively; (v) review risk reports and breaches of
risk tolerances and policies; (vi) review and assess the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk control/mitigation tools including the enterprise
risk management program, the risk management systems, the
internal audit function relating to risk management and the Group’s
contingency plans; (vii) review the Group’s capital adequacy and
solvency levels; (viii) monitor stress testing results of the Group’s key
risk exposures; (ix) to deal with other work assigned by the Board;
and (x) issue report(s) on how the Risk Management Committee met
its responsibilities in its review of the risk management, the internal
control systems and the effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit
function.
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BOARD COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

Risk management committee (continued)

In fulfilling its functions, the Risk Management Committee has been
provided sufficient resources by the Company to seek for independent
professional advice to perform its responsibilities.

The Risk Management Committee meets at least twice a year to
(i) review the terms of reference; and (ii) review any risk or potential
risk of the Group and to advise the Board on the Group’s risk-related
matters and the overall risk management strategies of the Company.

During scheduled meetings of the Board, the Board discusses and
formulates the overall strategies of the Group, monitors financial
performances and discusses the annual and interim results, as well as
discusses and decides on other significant matters.
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BOARD COMMITTEE (CONTINUED) EEG (@)
Attendance records at meeting HESREHE

The attendance of each Director at the general meetings (included BEZEBERFRBRITZREAS (BEESE
annual general meeting), the Board meetings and the meetings of BEA®) - EEE€ €%  EXZEEE
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination %  H#ZE &€ IRLTES22 LA
Committee and the Risk Management Committee held during the year BREBZE @@ 2 HFERNT ¢

are set out below:

No. of meetings attended/held

HE/BIEERY
Risk
General Audit Remuneration = Nomination = Management
Meetings Board  Committee Committee = Committee Committee
BREE
BRRAE EFg ENXZES FMEEE REZES ZEE
Number of meetings 2 19 6 3 3 2
SERY
Executive Directors
HTES
Mr. Zhang Sanhuo 2/2 19/19 - - - -
KR=EkX4E
Mr. Tse Michael Nam 2/2 19/19 - - 3/3 2/2
il a)ed it
Independent Non-executive Directors
BYFHITES
Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin 2/2 19/19 6/6 3/3 3/3 2/2
(EjEa=pitd
Mr. Tian Hong 2/2 19/19 6/6 3/3 3/3 2/2
AE%E
Mr. Shen Weidong 2/2 19/19 6/6 3/3 3/3 2/2
MEREE
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BOARD COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)
Directors’ training and professional development

Every Director knows that they should participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant. The Company is responsible for arranging and funding
suitable training for the Directors. Accordingly, during the year, the
Company had made available trainings and development programmes
for the Directors for their participation.

During the year, all the Directors were provided with commentary
on the Group’s business, operations, and financial matters as well
as regular updates on applicable legal and regulatory requirements.
The Company had also provided the Directors with the materials and
information update including the Directors’ obligations as required
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance and the Listing Rules. In
addition, individual Directors have also participated in other courses
relating to the roles, functions and duties of a listed company director
or further enhancement of their professional development by way
of attending training courses or via online aids or reading relevant
materials. All the Directors had provided their training records to the
Company for the year under review.

Directors

=

Executive Directors
HITES

Mr. Zhang Sanhuo
wR=EEE

Mr. Tse Michael Nam
AEFLE

Independent Non-executive Directors
BAFHTES

Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin

AZEE%E

Mr. Shen Weidong

MEREE

Mr. Tian Hong

AR%E

A: attending internal briefing sessions/reading materials in relation to
corporate governance and regulatory updates.

B: attending seminars/courses/conference to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills.
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REMUNERATION POLICY

The Company’s remuneration policy is to ensure that all employees,
including all Directors, are sufficiently compensated for their efforts
and time dedicated to the Company and remuneration offered is
according to the prevailing manpower market conditions and individual
performance, qualification, experience and the remuneration policy
are reviewed on a regular basis. Other employee benefits include
mandatory provident fund, insurance and medical coverage, training
programs and share option. No Director or any of his associates and
executive is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

The EDs are closely involved in and are directly responsible for
all activities of the Group. The Board considers that the senior
management comprises the EDs. Particulars regarding senior
management and other Directors’ remuneration and the five (5)
highest-paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in Note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Senior Management’s Remuneration

The remuneration paid to each of the senior management for the year
fell within the following bands:
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Nil = HK$500,000 T 500,000 7T 5
HK$500,001 — HK$1,000,000 500,001/ 7L &=1,000,0007% 7T 1
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T & 1,500,000/ 7T -
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T & 2,000,000/ 7T 1

HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000

2,000,001 7T % 2,500,000/ 7T, -
2,500,001;% 7T 23,000,000/ 7T, -

GREEN LEADER HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED 4% B B AR AT - 61



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

A\ vy :
TEERRE

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the years, the Company reappointed Elite Partners CPA Limited
as the Auditor in the annual general meeting of the Company held
on 3 June 2021. The Auditors’ remuneration for the year ended 31
December 2021 was as follows:

Nature of work

THHEE

Audit services
ENXARTS

Non-audit services
IEEZARTE

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of
the Company’s financial statements and that the financial statements
are prepared in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. It is also the responsibility of the
Directors to ensure the timely publication of the Company’s financial
statements. During the year, the management has provided sufficient
explanation and information to the Board to enable it to make an
informed assessment of the financial and other information put before
it for approval including the monthly updates on the Company’s
performance, position and prospects.

A discussion and analysis of the Groups’ performance, an explanation
of the basis on which the Company generates or preserves value
over the longer term and the strategy for delivering the Company’s
objectives have been prepared and included in the Chairman
Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis sections of this
report.

The statement of the Auditor on their reporting responsibilities in
respect of the Company’s financial statements is set out on page 75.

The Directors confirm that, except for the issues as explained under
the basis of presentation section in Note 2 to the consolidate financial
statements, they are not aware of any other material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt about
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

MANAGEMENT VIEW ON GOING CONCERN

The Directors are of the opinion that the Group will have sufficient
working capital to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall
due for the next twelve months from 31 December 2021 after taking
into consideration of the following:

U

(i

)

the Group is negotiating with non-controlling interests of the
amounts due by the Group of approximately HK$5,976,141,000
for extending the repayment due dates;

the Group is negotiating with the holder of the convertible loan
notes issued in 2017 by the Company with carrying amounts of
approximately HK$312,000,000 which were matured on 10 July
2020 (the “2017 Convertible Loan Notes”) to restructure the
repayment timetable; and

external facilities and/or fund raising opportunities shall be
available to the Group.

Accordingly, the Directors are of the opinion that it is appropriate to
prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist as to whether
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern, which will
depend upon the Group’s ability to generate adequate financial and
operating cash flows through the following:

)

successfully negotiation with non-controlling interests to extend
the repayment due dates;

successfully negotiation with the holder of 2017 Convertible Loan
Notes to restructure the repayment timetable of the Group’s
financial obligations; and

successfully obtain external facilities for and/or fund raising
opportunities fulfilling its other existing financial obligations.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REVIEW ON GOING CONCERN

The Audit Committee had critically reviewed the disclaimer of opinion
relating to going concern (the “Audit Qualification”), the Board’s
response to the disclaimer of opinion, and the Company’s action plan
in addressing the Audit Qualification and concurred with the Board’s
view. The Audit Committee is in agreement with the Management with
respect to the Audit Qualification and the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern and the actions or measures to be implemented
by the Management or the Group. The Audit Committee’s views are
based on a critical review of:—

(i) the Management’s action plan to address the Audit Qualification
(and the assumption of successful and continued implementation);
and

(i) a review of the Group’s cash flow projections which covers a
period of not less than 12 months from 31 December 2021, and
also discussions between the Audit Committee, the Auditor and
the Management regarding the Audit Qualification.

The Audit Committee is of the view that the Management should
continue its efforts in implementing the actions and measures set out
in the action plan below to mitigate the Group’s liquidity pressure and
remove the Audit Qualification.

ACTION PLAN TO ADDRESS THE AUDIT
QUALIFICATION

The Group has commenced the following action plans to remove the
Audit Qualification:

(@) the Group is in the negotiation with the non-controlling interests of
the amounts due by the Group for extending the repayment due
dates;

(b) the Group is in the negotiation with the holder of the 2017
Convertible Loan Notes to restructure the repayment timetable of

the Group’s financial obligations; and

(c) the Group is actively seeking external facilities and fund raising
opportunities.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ACTION PLAN TO ADDRESS THE AUDIT
QUALIFICATION (CONTINUED)

The Company has taken various actions since publication of the 2021
annual results to address the audit modification. As at the date of this
report, neither the non-controlling interests nor the holder of the 2017
Convertible Loan Notes has demanded for immediate repayment of the
outstanding indebtedness. Whilst there is no formal documentation,
the non-controlling interests had indicated its willingness for extension.

Regarding the negotiations status of the repayment timetable for
the 2017 Convertible Loan Note, the Company has been actively
negotiated with the holder of the 2017 Convertible Loan Notes for
possible extension and/or settlement and up to the date of this report,
the negotiations remain in good progress and the holder of the 2017
Convertible Loan Notes did not demand for immediate repayment of
the 2017 Convertible Loan Notes. However, the repayment timetable
has not yet been finalized. For the avoidance of doubt, further
announcement(s) will be made by the Company in compliance with
the relevant Listing Rules requirements to inform the public and its
Shareholders upon the entering into of relevant definitive agreement(s)
on the restructuring of the 2017 Convertible Loan Notes.

In respect of seeking external facilities and fund raising opportunities,
the Group had approached and in the negotiation with a number of
financial institutions and/or other investor(s). Up to the date of this
report, the negotiations are still in progress but the Group has not
concluded or reached any agreements with those financial institutions
and/or other investor(s). The Company will continue to explore
appropriate fund raising opportunities.

The Group’s ability to continue as a going concern will depend
upon the Group’s ability to generate adequate financial cash flows.
Assuming that the Group can successfully implement the aforesaid
measures, the Group considers it would address the going concern
issues.

For the avoidance of doubt, in accordance with the applicable Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing, the auditor needs to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence and to consider, based on the audit
evidence to be obtained, whether material uncertainty exists regarding
the Group’s ability to continue as going concern. As such, assuming
the successful implementation of the action plan in time with sufficient
and appropriate audit evidence can be provided, the directors are of
the view that Disclaimer of Opinion is expected to be removed in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ending
31 December 2022. The Company will continue to exercise its best
endeavours to resolve the audit modification within the year ending
31 December 2022.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprised three
members, all of whom were independent non-executive Directors.
The composition of the Audit Committee is Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin
(chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Shen Weidong and Mr. Tian
Hong. Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin is an associate member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. None of the
members is a partner or former partner of the Auditor, Elite Partners
(CPA) Limited.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management in conjunction
with the external auditor of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2021, the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed auditing,
risk management and internal controls, and financial reporting matters
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary supports the Board by ensuring good
information flow within the Board and that board policy and procedures
are followed. The Company Secretary is also responsible for advising
the Board on corporate governance and the implementation of the CG
Code. The Company Secretary is an employee of the Company and
has day-to-day knowledge of the Group affairs.

The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman and the CEQO. All
Directors also have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary to ensure that all applicable laws, rules and regulations are
followed. The selection, appointment and dismissal of the Company
Secretary is subject to the Board approval.

Ms. Chu Ka Ying, joined the Company since 2020. She holds a
Bachelor Degree in Business Administration and a Master Degree
in Corporate Governance. She has solid experience in company
secretarial field from both listed companies and professional firms in
Hong Kong. She is an associate member of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in the
United Kingdom. During the year, she has completed over 15 hours of
relevant professional training.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for ensuring a
sound and effective internal control system is maintained within
the Company and its subsidiaries so as to safeguard the Group’s
assets and its Shareholders’ investments. The Board established
the Risk Management Committee to conduct annual reviews of the
effectiveness of the system of internal controls as well as the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the accounting
and financial reporting functions, and their training programmes and
budget.

The Risk Management Committee reviewed the need for an internal
audit department and considered it appropriate to adopt an internal
group policy to review of the effectiveness of the system of internal
control of the Company and certain of its subsidiaries for the financial
year ended 31 December 2021. Given the Group’s simple operating
structure, as opposed to a separate internal audit department, the
Risk Management Committee engaged an independent professional
third party for reviewing the effectiveness of the internal control of the
Group.

The Risk Management Committee conducted a review on the
internal control system of the Group on an annual basis and has the
responsibility to maintain an effective internal control system in order to
safeguard the Group’s assets and Shareholders’ interests. It covered
all material controls including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions of the Company. And the
policy had be reviewed annually by the Board to ensure it fulfilled the
statutory requirement.

The Risk Management Committee has also reviewed the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes
and budget of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function. The Risk Management Committee will keep review and
monitor the effectiveness of the internal control and risk management
systems on a regular basis to ensure that the systems in place are
adequate.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Risk management system

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages the risk
associated with its business and operations. The system comprises
the following phases:

e |dentification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives and
risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

e Evaluation: Analyse the likelihood and impact of risks and evaluate
the risk portfolio accordingly.

e Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the residual
risks.

Based on the risk assessments conducted for the year 2021, no
significant risk was identified.

Internal control system

The Company has in place an internal control system which is
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the
Treadway Commission 2013 framework. The framework enables the
Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness and efficiency
of operations, reliability of financial reporting and compliance with
applicable laws and regulations. The components of the framework
are shown as follow:

Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and structures
that provide the basis for carrying out internal control across the
Group.

e Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying
and analysing risks to achieve the Group’s objectives, forming a
basis for determining how risks should be managed.

e Control Activities: Action established by policies and procedures
to help ensure that management directives to mitigate risks to the
achievement of objectives are carried out.

e Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information needed
to carry out day-to-day controls.

e Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain

whether each components of internal control is present and
functioning.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Internal control system (continued)

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside information,
and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and timeliness
of its public disclosures, the Group also adopts and implements an
inside information policy and procedures. Certain reasonable measures
have been taken from time to time to ensure that proper safeguards
exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement in relation to the
Group, which include:

e The access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in
possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality.

e Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters
into significant negotiations.

e The executive Directors are designated persons who speak on
behalf of the Company when communicating with external parties
such as the media, analysts or investors.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted for the year 2021, no
significant control deficiency was identified.

Internal audit

The Group’s internal audit function is performed by an internal audit
team, which consisted of professional staff with relevant expertise (such
as Certified Public Accountant), which reports directly to the Risk
Management Committee.

In addition, the Group has engaged a professional advisory firm of
internal control to perform regular review of the internal control system
of the Group and the results were summarized and reported to the
Audit Committee and the Board. The Board will continue to strive for
a better control by way of consulting with the professional adviser and
adopting the recommendations made by the professional advisory
firm.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems

The Risk Management Committee is responsible for the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and ensuring
review of the effectiveness of these systems has been conducted
annually. Several areas have been considered during the Risk
Management Committee’s reviews, which include but not limited to
(i) the changes in the nature and extent of significant risks since the
last annual review, and the Group’s ability to respond to changes in its
business and the external environment; and (i) the scope and quality of
management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and of the internal control
systems.

The Risk Management Committee, through its reviews and the reviews
made by internal audit function and Audit Committee, concluded that
the risk management and internal control systems were effective and
adequate. Such systems, however, are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. It is also considered that the resources,
staff qualifications and experience of relevant staff were adequate and
the training programs and budget provided were sufficient.

Based on the above, the Risk Management Committee is of the view
that the Company has established a proper internal control system
which is effective and adequate. And the Board also considers the
internal control systems of the Company effective and the resources,
qualifications and experience of the accounting and financial reporting
functions, adequate for the period in review.

In year 2021, the Group has engaged Insightnetic Consultancy
Limited, an independent professional third party, to review the Group’s
internal audit function. The internal audit function is independent
of the Group’s daily operation and carries out appraisal of the risk
management and internal control systems by conducting interviews,
walkthroughs and tests of operating effectiveness. An internal audit
plan as suggested has been approved by the Board. According to the
established plan, review of the risk management and internal control
systems is conducted annually and the results are reported to the
Audit Committee afterwards.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue with
the Shareholders. A shareholders’ communication policy setting
out the principles of the Company in relation to Shareholders’
communications, with the objectives of ensuring a transparent and
timely communication with Shareholders via various means, had been
established and published on the Company’s website. And it will be
reviewed annually after the annual general meeting. The Company’s
annual general meetings and other general meetings are valuable
forums for the Board to communicate directly with the Shareholders
and to answer questions Shareholders may raise. Another key element
of effective communication with Shareholders and investors is the
prompt and timely dissemination of information in relation to the
Group.

Separate resolutions are proposed by the chairman at general
meetings for each substantial issue. The detailed procedures of
conducting a poll are explained to Shareholders at the commencement
of the general meetings, to ensure that Shareholders are familiar with
such procedures.

The Company’s last AGM was held on 3 June 2021. Notice of the last
AGM were sent out 21 clear business days before the AGM. All the
resolutions proposed at the AGM were approved by the Shareholders
by poll. Details of the poll results are available on the Company’s
website. The Auditors and the Company’s legal advisors were also
available during the AGM to answer questions from the Shareholders.
An executive Director, chairman/members of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Auditors’
representative, and the Company’s legal advisors were available at the
2021 AGM to answer questions from the Shareholders.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change to the Company’s Memorandum of Association
and the Bye-laws during the financial year 2021. Copy of the latest
version of the Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws has been
posted on the Company’s website as well as the Stock Exchange’s
websites.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of general meetings

Shareholders shall have the right to request the Board to convene
a general meeting. Shareholders holding an aggregate of not less
than one-tenth (10%) of the Company’s paid up capital may send a
written request to the Board to request for the convening of a general
meeting. The written requisition, duly signed by the Shareholders
concerned, must state the purposes of the meeting and must be
deposited at the Company’s registered office. The Company would
take appropriate actions and make necessary arrangements, and
the Shareholders concerned would be responsible for the expenses
incurred in giving effect thereto in accordance with the requirements
under Section 74 of the Act once a valid requisition is received.

The Shareholders are entitled to put forward a proposal (which may
properly be put to the meeting) for consideration at a general meeting
of the Company: (a) any number of members representing not less
than one-twentieth (5%) of the total voting rights of the Company on
the date of the requisition; or (b) not less than 100 members holding
Shares in the Company.

The requisition specifying the proposal, duly signed by the
Shareholders concerned, together with a statement of not more
than 1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in the
proposal must be deposited at the Company’s registered office.
The Company would take appropriate actions and make necessary
arrangements, and the Shareholders concerned would be responsible
for the expenses incurred in giving effect thereto in accordance with
the requirements under Sections 79 and 80 of the Act once valid
documents are received.

If a Shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a retiring
Director for election as Director at a general meeting, the Shareholder
should lodge at the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong at Unit A, 12/F., Central 88, 88-98 Des Voeux Road
Central, Hong Kong, the necessary documents as mentioned in the
“Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as
a director of the Company” which had already been published in
the Company’s website as well as the Stock Exchange’s website.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may make enquiries with the Board at the Company’s
general meetings or at any time send their enquiries and concerns to
the Board in writing through the Company Secretary whose contact
details are as follows:

Green Leader Holdings Group Limited

Unit A, 12/F., Central 88,

88-98 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2889 6289

Fax: (852) 2897 9137
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

elite
< partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GREEN LEADER HOLDINGS
GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of Green Leader Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 76 to 200, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters described
in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have
not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial
statements. In all other respects, in our opinion the consolidated
financial statements have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern

As described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group had net current liabilities and net liabilities of approximately
HK$6,974,559,000 and HK$665,439,000 respectively whereas
its cash and cash equivalents amounted to approximately
HK$146,141,000 only as at 31 December 2021. Besides, included
in the net current liabilities of the Group, there are other borrowings
related to the convertible loan notes issued in 2017 by the Company
with carrying amounts of approximately HK$312,000,000 (2017
Convertible Loan Notes”) which were matured on 10 July 2020
and amounts due to non-controlling interests of approximately
HK$5,976,141,000 were either past due as at 31 December 2021 or
the amounts were repayable on demand.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
RS R

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (CONTINUED)
Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern
(continued)

These conditions, together with other matters described in Note 2
to the consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence of
material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors have been undertaking certain measures as set out in
Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements to improve the Group’s
liquidity and financial position. The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which
depends on the outcome of these plans and measures, which are
subject to multiple uncertainties, including: (i) negotiation with non-
controlling interests of amounts due by the Group for extending the
repayment due dates; (i) negotiation with the holder of the 2017
Convertible Loan Notes to restructure the repayment timetable of
the Group’s financial obligation; and (iii) external facilities and/or fund
raising opportunities shall be available to the Group.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above mentioned plans and
measures, it might not be able to continue to operate as a going
concern, and adjustments would have to be made to reclassify the
Group’s non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets
and current liabilities respectively, to write down the carrying amounts
of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts and to provide for
any further liabilities which may arise. The effect of these adjustments
have not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90
of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. However, because of the matters described
in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we were
not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a
basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Wong Ho Kwan with Practising Certificate
number PO7543.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

10/F, 8 Observatory Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon,

Hong Kong

25 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2021 2020
—B--F —_T_TF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5T FExT FAT
Revenue A 8 1,612,858 1,303,796
Cost of sales SHE AR (1,265,085) (1,175,929)
Gross profit EF 347,773 127,867
Other operating income Hihag e 8 7,655 23,778
Selling and distribution expenses SHENMDHE A (2,957) (4,408)
Administrative and other operating TR REALEE R
expenses (387,582) (283,442)
Changes in fair value of derivative AMREREEITETAR
component of convertible loan notes #8902 A FEEH) 26 = (27,870)
Reversal of impairment loss/ MR E R 2 R E RS
(impairment loss) recognised in e CREEE)
respect of mining rights 17 959,527 (170,267)
Reversal of impairment loss/ TWE - BEREZBEER
(impairment loss) recognised in BEEERE, (REEE)
respect of property,
plant and equipment 16 299,034 (120,962)
Impairment losses recognised in BIEEREEEBER
respect of financial assets under MEmEERR
expected credit loss model, net REBE - RED
of reversal 4,832 (835,946)
Finance costs A& AR 9 (229,315) (361,665)
Profit/(loss) before taxation BRELATER,(B8) 10 998,967 (852,913)
Income tax (expense)/credit Fris®i(FA%) e 11 (247,460) 192,455
Profit/(loss) for the year FERF,(BR) 751,507 (660,458)
Profit/(loss) for the year UTATEEEE
attributable to: BH(E8)
Owners of the Company RABHEBA 265,672 (312,362)
Non-controlling interests IR 485,835 (348,096)
751,507 (660,458)
Earnings/(loss) per share BRERN,(EE)
(HK cents) (F&AL)
Basic A 13 50 63)
Diluted g 13 (63)

76 ANNUAL REPORT 2021 3



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GEREREREMEZEHRKER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2021 2020
—E- —E-TH
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Profit/(loss) for the year EEBEAN,(FE) 751,507 (660,458)
Other comprehensive Hip2mEUkE (B :
income/(expense):
ltem that may be subsequently RENENHBEEER2IEE
reclassified to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on BREGINEBFTEE 2
translation of foreign operations PE 5 =% 7,042 (40,939)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) F£EH M2 mE K~ (BIx)
for the year 7,042 (40,939)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) F£EZ2HEWE (FX) 45
for the year 758,549 (701,397)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) AT ATEEFEE
for the year attributable to: 2HEWE,(BIX)E4E
Owners of the Company ZINNCIEZ ZEDN 269,843 (345,913)
Non-controlling interests IEE 488,706 (355,484)
758,549 (701,397)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e BRI 3R

As at 31 December 2021 R =—ZF=-—F+=-_A=+—H

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$ 000
B aE FET FET
Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment W - BB R 16 2,239,815 1,810,589
Mining rights PR 17 5,808,415 4,965,468
Intangible assets mpEE 14,195 15,970
Goodwill i 18 = =
Deposits paid for acquisition of WHEZ - BB REE 2
property, plant and equipment BffiEe 13,683 11,114
8,076,108 6,803,141
Current assets REEE
Inventories rE 19 152,223 6,283
Trade receivables B 5 W RIE 20 77,017 117,855
Prepayment, deposits, bills FERFIE - 2e -~ U
receivables, discounted bills FiE - BREBRER K
receivables and other receivables H b fE U FR 08 20 168,884 96,640
Amounts due from related FEUL B N R FRIE
companies 21 6,169 5,980
Amounts due from directors FEURE EFRIE 22 = 235
Cash and cash equivalents HeMReEEY 23 146,141 48,097
550,434 275,090
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables H S RIE 24 38,821 1,798
Other payables Hfh FE T3R8 24 754,867 623,838
Amount due to a director BN —REERIE 22 14,821 13,108
Amounts due to non-controlling FERTIEIE AR i 2 RUR
interests 25 5,976,141 5,672,551
Other borrowings HEmEER 33 313,621 313,621
Liabilities component of AR EREE
convertible loan notes BEHD 26 354,771 =
Lease liabilities HEBE 39 5,856 10,327
Income tax liabilities Fristia’ 66,095 600
7,524,993 6,535,843
Net current liabilities REBEEFHE (6,974,559) (6,260,753)
Total assets less current liabilites EEAERRBERE 1,101,549 542,388
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
a MR R R

As at 31 December 2021 R =—FE=-—F+—-_A=+—H

2021 2020
—EB-—F —E-TF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 T FHET
Capital and reserves EAXR#HE
Share capital AR 27 526 105,252
Reserves e (2,351,587) (2,726,156)
Capital deficiencies attributable EATEEAEEER
to owners of the Company B4t (2,351,061) (2,620,904)
Non-controlling interests e 38 1,685,622 1,196,916
Total capital deficiencies EAREB AL (665,439) (1,423,988)
Non-current liabilities ERBERS
Provision for restoration, IR1E ~ ME1E MR A
rehabilitation and B
environmental costs 28 88,859 83,414
Liabilities component of ARRERER
convertible loan notes BEILD 26 - 310,059
Amounts due to related companies I REE A RIFIA 21 144,755 125,891
Other payables Hofth FE A 5RIE 24 328,487 422 112
Lease liabilities HEaE 39 21,650 49,023
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEEE 29 1,183,237 975,877
1,766,988 1,966,376
1,101,549 542,388

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 25 March 2022 and are signed
on its behalf by:

Mr. Zhang Sanhuo
R=E%E
Director

EF

RAEVBHRRR_E-_—_F=A=_F+HEK
EEIHELRTETE  YHUATEERA

RE

Mr. Tse Michael Nam
Director

EFE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GEEEEER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 H#E —ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARREE AR
Convertible
Exchange Share  Statutory loan notes Non-
Share Share  Contributed  translation options surplus Other equity Accumulated controlling
capital ~ premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses  Sub-total interests Total
TaR
EigS BRE  iEEe ERER FER

B BEEE  SARE (] B DEER  RGER  BAER  ZiER it L it
HKSO00  HKSO0  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKBOOD  HKSODD  HKSOD  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSOO  HKSODD  HKSOmD
Tem TR TR TR TAm  Tam TR TR TR TR TR TER

(Note ) (Note ) (Notefi) (Note ) (Note )
Uik (W) (W) (i) ()
Asat 1 January 2020 R-%-%F-A-A g7 896412 1,077,104 (97.470) 108,541 92.29% 7449 - (12723542) (2454435 1652400  (902,035)
Loss for e eer FEEE - - - - - - - - BREY B e (66045
Other comprefensive expense for heyear ~ EEEH2ERR
- Exchange diferences on rendation of - RESNEH ZEN
foeig operations £5 - - - ®H) - - - - T 1 I I 0]
Total comprehensive expense for theyear ~ EE2EF &% - - - (33551) = = = - 1236 (345913 (35484 (701397)
Issue of convertil loan notes BRURRETR - - - - - - - 49054 - 49054 - L0
Deemed contioution fom a shareholder RE-2RFE 2 BfETE - - - - - - 53,857 s = 53,857 - 5
Appropriation of maintenance and EEREEESAR
production fund - - - - - 65,344 - - (65,344) - - -
Utlsation of maintenance and RkLRERS
production fund - - - - - (19427) - - 19421 - - -
Subscription of new shares AEHRG 17520 18,670 = = S = = = = 36,190 - %190
Share issuing expense k&% - 99) - - - - - . - 98) - %)
Recogriton of equity-setfed share-based ~ EFMERRE
payments iz - - = = 9%9 = = = = 99 = 99
Cancelaton of share options EhE - - - - (1086%9) - = - 1086% = = =
Contrioution rom  shareholder RE-ERELHE = = 39,450 = = - = & = 39450 - 340
Transferred fo accumlated losses EREZHER - - {11165 - - - - - 111655 = = S
As at 31 December 2020 and RIZIEE
asat 1 January 2021 TZA=+-AK
“3--F-f-f 106262 8,944,986 - (131,021) 831 138213 128,349 40054 (11,856568 (2620904  1,196916  (1423,989)
Proft for the year il - S S © = = = - 25672 265672 485835 THI507
Other comprehensive income forthe yer ~ FREH2ERE
- Exchange diferences on rensaon of - RESNER ZEX
foreign operations £ - - - 417 - - - - - 417 281 7,082
Total comprehensive income for the year EEXENGEE o = = 411 o o o o 265,672 269,843 488706 758,549
Captel reccton Bl (104726) - - - - - - - - - -
Share premium cancellation HERhAR - (8944986 8,044,986 = = = = = = = = =
Appropriation of maintenance and EEREEESAR
production fund - - - - - 38,618 - - (38,618) - - -
Utlsation of maintenance and IREEREERS
production fund - - - - - (40,557) - - 40,551 - - -
As at 31 December 2021 R-B2-F
+2Bz4-8 Y - oM (RGN 8 124 UM M0 (MRBN (I 16662 (66540
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

mEREEER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

Notes:

)

(i)

(i)

(v)

Contributed surplus represents the reduction of the Company’s issued
share capital upon cancellation of paid up share capital, and the deemed
contribution from equity holder which has arisen from the waiver of
promissory notes in previous years and contribution from a shareholder in
current year.

Exchange translation reserve represents exchange differences relating to
the translation of the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations from
their functional currencies to the Group’s presentation currency (i.e. Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$") and are recognised directly in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the exchange translation reserve. Such
exchange differences accumulated in the exchange translation reserve are
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the foreign operations.

Share options reserve represents the fair value of services estimated to
be received in exchange for the grant of the relevant share options over
the relevant vesting periods, the total of which is based on the fair value of
the share options at grant date. The amount for each period is determined
by spreading the fair value of the share options over the relevant vesting
period (if any) and is recognised in administrative and other operating
expenses with a corresponding increase in the share options reserve.

Statutory surplus reserve consists of (i) subsidiaries in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”) have appropriated 10% of the profit to the
statutory surplus reserve which is required to be retained in the accounts of
the subsidiaries for specific purposes and (i) pursuant to the relevant PRC
regulations, the Group is required to transfer maintenance and production
funds at fixed rates based on relevant bases to statutory surplus reserve
from accumulated losses. The maintenance and production funds can be
utilised when expenses or capital expenditures on production maintenance
and safety measured are incurred. The amount of maintenance and
production funds utilised would be transferred from the statutory surplus
reserve to accumulated losses.

Convertible loan notes issued are split into their liabilities and equity
components at initial recognition by recognising the liability component
at its fair value which is determined using a market interest rate for
similar non-convertible debts and attributing to the equity component
the difference between the proceeds from issue and the fair value of the
liability component. The liability component is subsequently carried at
amortised cost. The equity component is recognised in the convertible
loan notes equity reserve until convertible loan notes are either converted (in
which case it is transferred to share premium) or the convertible loan notes
are redeemed (in which case it is released directly to accumulated losses).

Wikt :

U)

(i)

(i)

(v)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
MERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FHET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES meEs
Profit/(loss) before taxation BRELADRF, (B518) 998,967 (852,913)
Adjustments for: PR EELFE
Changes in fair value of derivative ARBREREBITETR
component of convertible loan notes 2o 2 NFEEEEF = 27,870
Depreciation of property, Wz - BEREEITE
plant and equipment 188,558 188,761
Amortisation of mining rights PR R 264,491 413,756
Amortisation of intangible assets | EERE 2,244 2,649
Finance costs BB KA 229,315 361,665
(Reversal of impairment loss)/ PUERIERETERR
impairment loss recognised in CREE B R E)
respect of mining rights RIEFBE (959,527) 170,267
(Reversal of impairment loss)/ TYE - WEK
impairment loss recognised in HiEER
respect of property, plant and CREEERD),/
equipment BEEE (299,034) 120,962
Written off of prepayment TR IR 6,572 2,383
Impairment losses recognised in RIETBHREERBERRN
respect of financial assets under NEMEEERLZ
expected credit loss model, net of REEE - MRREE
reversal (4,832) 35,946
Bank interest income RITH BUA (206) (888)
Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries TIEMB AR 5 -
Gain on disposal of property, HEYE  BERBREZ
plant and equipment Was (886) (2,608)
Share-based payment expenses A = 989
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEME ARz W (106) (334)
Gain on extinguishment of convertible HIH AT MR ERE R 2 W
loan notes - (2,126)
Gain on termination of leases LIS 2 W (4,706) -
Waiver of other payables A B FE T BUIE = (11,465)
Write-down of inventories FEMOR 807 -
Operating cash flows before KRt EEESB A
movements in working capital REBRERE 421,662 454,914
Change in inventories FEEH (141,941) 10,545
Change in trade and B 5 N HE b Y GRIA
other receivables o (27,114) (104,001)
Change in amounts due from FEWE ETBEH)
directors 235 =
Change in amounts due JEUR B8 E N BB )
from related companies - 101
Change in trade and B 5 R H A FEFIR
other payables oy 67,623 (91,426)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FEREMRER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-THF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE&T FET
Cash generated from operations REFRBRE 320,465 270,133
Income tax paid ETEREH (10,292) (14,530)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM RETEREBRSTFE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 310,173 255,603
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BEEH
Acquisition of property, plant and WEM= - BB Mk
equipment (182,172) (255,188)
Deposit paid for acquisition for property, WY« BEREZREZ
plant and equipment BEffiERe (5,789) (3,922)
Interest received B U H B 206 888
Net cash outflow from disposal of HEWBARRES T FE
subsidiaries (3) -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - HE K&E
plant and equipment FriS 58 887 5,718
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING RETEFARSTFE
ACTIVITIES (186,871) (252,504)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEH
Advance from a director RE—BEEBK 1,713 =
Advance from related companies KEREN T B 16,065 8,367
Contribution from a shareholder KE—BRETFE = 39,450
Proceed from bank advances on REEWELIREE 2RI TR
discounted bills receivables Z TS 50R 6,032 =
Proceed from issuing of new shares BATHAR D PS5 RKI8 - 14,609
Share issuing expense A& 15 B 1TRI S - (96)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEaRE (29,761) (23,180)
Interest paid EFLE (21,824) (11,380)
Repayment to related companies BEBEARFA = (47,638)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING RMETETARSTE
ACTIVITIES (27,775) (19,868)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) ReRBLEEWEM(RD)
IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ez 95,527 (16,769)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS HEHIzRERRESE
AT THE BEGINNING OF BEY
THE REPORTING PERIOD 48,097 45,788
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE HEERBETH 2 HE
RATE CHANGES 2,517 19,078
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS HEHRZ2RERRAEE
AT THE END OF B
THE REPORTING PERIOD 146,141 48,097
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Green Leader Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”), together
with its subsidiaries, (collectively known as the “Group”) is
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited
liability. The shares of the Company are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The registered office of the Company is Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda and the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong is Unit A, 12/F., Central
88, 88-98 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong.

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding
and provision of finance and treasury services to the Group. The
Group was principally engaged in (i) the development of cassava
cultivation and deep processing business for the related ecological
cycle industry chain; (i) coal exploration and development, sales of
coking coal and other coal products and provision of coal related
services; and (iii) the sales of information technology products
and provision of system integration services, technology services,
software development and solution services.

BASIC OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”). In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. BASIC OF PREPARATION OF THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands
of units of HK$ (“HK$’000”), unless otherwise stated, which is also
the functional currency of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis at the end of the reporting period except for
certain financial instruments that are measured at fair value, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are
not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories
or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. BASIC OF PREPARATION OF THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

e | evel 3inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Going concern basis

The Group had net current liabilities and net liabilities of
approximately HK$6,974,559,000 (2020: approximately
HK$6,260,753,000) and approximately HK$665,439,000
(2020: approximately HK$1,423,988,000) respectively whereas
its cash and cash equivalents amounted to approximately
HK$146,141,000 (2020: approximately HK$48,097,000) only as at
31 December 2021. Besides, included in the net current liabilities
of the Group, there are other borrowings related to convertible
loan notes issued in 2017 by the Company with carrying amounts
of approximately HK$312,000,000 (2017 Convertible Loan
Notes”) which were matured on 10 July 2020 and amounts due
to non-controlling interests of approximately HK$5,976,141,000
were either past due as at 31 December 2021 or the amounts
were repayable on demand.

The above conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. BASIC OF PREPARATION OF THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Going concern basis (continued)

The directors are of the opinion that the Group will have sufficient
working capital to meet its financial obligations as and when they
fall due for the next twelve months from 31 December 2021 after
taking into consideration of the following:

(i) the Group is negotiating with non-controlling interests of the
amounts due by the Group for extending the repayment due
date;

(i) the Group is negotiating with the holder of 2017 Convertible
Loan Notes to restructure the repayment timetable of the
Group’s financial obligations; and

(i) external facilities and/or fund raising opportunities shall be
available to the Group.

Accordingly, the directors, at the time of approving the
consolidated financial statements, are of the opinion that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a
going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist as to
whether the Group will be able to continue as a going concern,
which will depend upon the Group’s ability to generate adequate
financial and operating cash flows through the following:

(i) successfully negotiation with non-controlling interests to
extend the repayment due dates;

(i) successfully negotiation with the holder of 2017 Convertible
Loan Notes to restructure the repayment timetable of the
Group’s financial obligations; and

(i) successfully obtaining external facilities and/or fund raising
opportunities for fulfilling its other existing financial obligations.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above mentioned plans and
measures, it might not be able to continue to operate as a going
concern, and adjustments would have to be made to reclassify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets
and current liabilities respectively, to write down the carrying
amounts of assets to their recoverable amounts and to provide for
further liabilities which may arise. The effects of these adjustments
have not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

. RAGENBHRR2EE(H)

FEKSEREE(E)
EERE  FEEBEAERHLEES
BITERBA =T =_—F+=-_A=+—H
BEARR+Z@ARBAZHEEMRE &
FEZEETIEIE

() AEELEAEEIFERERER
ENRIEERERERZINAE

(i) "NEBLEE - +Fr[BREX
EREAEAEENEAREFIS
EXZEFREBR &

(i) REBGEESHTMER HEE
He -

At - EERERAVBRRER
5 BREREEERERAVBER

BERY -

BEWUL - NEBEESHELLENEFE
BERTHEEN  SEOARAEEESR
BUATHTAEERANMBRELERE

=
/1L

() FIWEIEERERERNERER
BHAA

(i) RWE-FT—LFABRRERZRE
HEAER UEAAKEVKE
EZBFEMBER &

(i) ARIHEBINBRME N SHEEKS
IAREBITEMBEEMBEE -

(GEERN-SLIES-IFe Ao Sy g 1) &Pk
Hu e AR BRI AR EEELE
WAL FHBAKIEREEE KR
BENREHMDERRBDEERRDE
& USEEREEBREHEIKRE S
B URARELEZEAE - T RER
REE - WERABRZFEYRARNGEY
TRk AR BR »

GREEN LEADER HOLDINGS GROUP, LIMITED #x Bl BB R AE] - 87



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs 3. EHEABUMBHREEAIEE

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year
In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2021 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:
Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group’s financial performance
and positions for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

(CONTINUED)

3. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but not yet

effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Insurance Contracts and the
related Amendments?®

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and

3. EREEBUB®

=2 AEET ()

C 28 M B 1] R Rz # 7] & B B 75

W ER R AT

AEB I ARBATEA TS EME R R
ERREFNR] RRIERI 2 B R MR EE

its Associate or Joint Venture*
Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021"
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)°

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies®

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates®

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction®

Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before
Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfiling a Contract?

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020?

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Al
BB REER R G4 R AARE
AT (EFI
BB B EER BEAHELE 2 1Rt
EIR2IEET
BRI B REER HEERARE
FI0RREEGE NS AN VNE]
R 08%k 2 B E] ZHHEELE
AL
BRI REER Covid-19 -
F165 2 (7] —T—F
NA=ZTHEZ
HEAEESR
EREHENE 1Ry BEIEARDN
EH) FEREBUR
BEEREESR
(Z2ZZF)2
ERABET°
EREHEANE1RR SFHHREES
BT BREER
BBERER 2
EH)
BB LSSy EHER ZTEE?
EH)
BRI ERE12Hr BE-—RFEEZ
5] BEREERD
2B A
EBCTERE16HZ WE  BERRE
B3] - BERZAE
FT15 2UR2
BB EREITR e BBEAY-RBT
5] B2 PR
ERUBREEN BEMKREER
5 —T-N\EE
B S
FREohE?

GREEN LEADER HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED 472 B AR AE] - 89



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs 3. ERBBUBKREEIET (&)

(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet EEMGENRERZHE BB

effective (continued) $E¢EEU&E1|“”T(§§)

' Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021. B-Z-—FMNA B HEERBZF
EHAR AR -

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. 2 HZZEZ-—_F-A—HB%HERKZF
S HAR AR -

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. 8 BZTZ=F—A—HB%EERBZF
Egﬁﬁaﬁigﬁ °

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be ¢ RETFEEZHHKEZRBZFES

determined. RAERK ©

The directors anticipate that the application of all new and EETEH  BAMBMIIASMHRE

amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the ERREBITRAERERTIEEERE

consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future. P MREKEMERTE -

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, TESHHBE

Basis of consolidation mEE%E

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

e has power over the investee;

e s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassess whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of
an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights
are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the
Group’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power,
including:

e the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the
size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

e potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders
or other parties;

e rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

e any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the
Group has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the
relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made,
including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the
Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to owners of the Company and to non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to owners of the Company and to non-controlling interests even if
this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line
with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share
of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

(CONTINUED)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any) are
derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is
calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received and (i) the carrying amount of
the assets, and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to owners
of the Company. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or
transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs).

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUS”) (or groups
of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently whenever there
is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on
an acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs)
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount
is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit (or group of CGUSs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within the
group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is included
in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
When the Group disposes of an operation within the CGU (or a
CGU within a group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill disposed of
is measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation (or
the CGU) disposed of and the portion of the CGU (or the group of
CGUs) retained.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria
is met:

— the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

— the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

— the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESTBE(E)

(CONTINUED)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application or arising from business combinations, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on
the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date
or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed. As a practical expedient, leases with
similar characteristics are accounted on a portfolio basis when the
Group reasonably expects that the effects on the consolidated
financial statements would not differ materially from individual
leases within the portfolio.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components,
including contract for acquisition of ownership interests of a
property which includes both leasehold land and non-lease
building components, unless such allocation cannot be made
reliably.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to separate non-
lease components from lease component, and instead account for
the lease component and any associated non-lease components
as a single lease component.

Short-term leases.and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option.
It also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value
assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received,;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring the
site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the
lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end
of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and
the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “property, plant and
equipment”, the same line item within which the corresponding
underlying assets would be presented if they were owned.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESTBE(E)

(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate
at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable; and

e payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to the directors and other
employees of the Group and others providing similar services are
measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant
date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of
equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share options reserve). At the end of the
reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with
a corresponding adjustment to share options reserve. For share
options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value
of the share options granted is expensed immediately to profit or
loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred
to accumulated losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESTBE(E)

(CONTINUED)
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(continued)

Share options granted to non-employees

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties
other than employees are measured at the fair value of the goods
or services received, except where that fair value cannot be
estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the
entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service.
The fair values of the goods or services received are recognised
as expenses.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on a prospective basis.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than construction in progress
as described below), are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

98 ANNUAL REPORT 2021 4

DRESEE 2 ROXNRS (HE)

RTHEEZBRE
HEIFREBZATETZURREEEZR
DXNRZREBERIBRE 2 2 FE
At E(ER A FEEAR SR - AR
EREBRATAZAFERE) AR
ERRBERIEF I RERBE A&
B - IEEmARS 2 A FERR S
%+ o

BYEE

THBAZEEEE
PEBABEBRAEHFHIETLE
ERRAR R 53 85 R AR REHREE
BIR - AERAIERFHZENEE
BiH o NWESRRMGEAIERFHE
R Bt A EAFERREETEERE
HEHRRE - MAGEF 2 EAEBE
EZHEREERNRGIE -

FIFREEIHBEERIRBEER K
ERTHENZYE  BEEXRB(TX
Prific ERTRERIN BB EE @ K
TRER R TERRR R BERBER
(WA ARAMBRREK -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Buildings, mining structure, plants and machineries in the course
of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes
are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Costs
include any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management and, for qualifying assets,
borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets”
in the consolidated statement of financial position. When the
consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease
building element and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold
land, the entire properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
(other than construction in progress) less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Mining structure 10%

Leasehold improvements 33'/3% or over the lease terms,
whichever is shorter

Furniture, fixtures and 20% to 33"/:%

office equipment

Motor vehicles 33"/5%
Plants and machineries 10%
Buildings 10% or over the lease terms

whichever is shorter
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESTBE(E)

(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency
of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
HK$) using exchange rate prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during that period, in which case the exchange
rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of the exchange
translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of
the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation of which the retained interest becomes a financial
asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as
assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and translated
at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Mining rights

Mining rights with finite useful lives are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for mining rights is recognised on the units of
production method based on the total proven and probable
reserves of the mine.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees
and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESTBE(E)

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost. For
financial instruments, interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired. For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting
period following the determination that the asset is no longer
credit-impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade
receivables, refundable deposits, bills receivables, discounted
bills receivables, other receivables, amounts due from related
companies, amounts due from directors and cash and cash
equivalents) which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at the end of each reporting period to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the end of the reporting period as well as the
forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
without significant financing component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instruments as at the end
of the reporting period with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instruments as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instruments’ external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. TESTHHERE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

U)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case
of trade receivables, when the amounts are over one year
past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. TESTHHERE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

\Y

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The
Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade
receivables using a provision matrix taking into consideration
historical credit loss experience and forward looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are considered on a
collective basis taking into consideration past due information
and relevant credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration
the following characteristics when formulating the grouping:

e Past-due status;

e Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

e External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESTBE(E)

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and
an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit
or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method or at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL”).

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade payables, other payables,
bank advances on discounted bills receivables, amount due
to a director, amounts due to non-controlling interests, other
borrowings, amounts due to related companies and liabilities
component of convertible loan notes) are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Convertible loan notes

The component parts of the convertible loan notes are classified
separately as financial liability and equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument. A conversion option
that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or
another financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own
equity instruments is an equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component
(including any embedded non-equity derivatives features) is
estimated by measuring the fair value of similar liability that does
not have an associated equity component.

A conversion option classified as equity is determined by
deducting the amount of the liability component from the fair
value of the compound instrument as a whole. This is recognised
and included in equity and is not subsequently remeasured. In
addition, the conversion option classified as equity will remain in
equity until the conversion option is exercised, in which case, the
balance recognised in equity will be transferred to share premium.
Where the conversion option remains unexercised at the maturity
date of the convertible loan notes, the balance recognised in
equity will be transferred to accumulated losses. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of the
conversion option.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESHBERGE
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued) SRITAE
Financial liabilities and equity (continued) 2R EERER (&)
Convertible loan notes (continued) AJ R B 215 (48

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible loan
notes are allocated to the liability and equity components in
proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction
costs relating to the equity component are charged directly
to equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability component
are included in the carrying amount of the liability portion and
amortised over the period of the convertible loan notes using the
effective interest method.

A conversion option that will be settled other than by the exchange
of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the Group’s own equity instruments is a conversion
option derivative.

At the date of issue, both the debt component and derivative
components are recognised at fair value. In subsequent periods,
the liabilities component of the convertible loan notes is carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. The derivative
component is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible loan
notes are allocated to the debt and derivative components in
proportion to their relative fair values. Transaction costs relating to
the derivative component are charged to profit or loss immediately.
Transaction costs relating to the liabilities component are included
in the carrying amount of the debt portion and amortised over the
period of the convertible loan notes using the effective interest
method.

Derecognition and modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.

When the contractual terms of a convertible instrument are
modified, such as extending the tenure, change in exercise price
of the underlying options, the revised terms would result in a
substantial modification from the original terms, after taking into
account all relevant facts and circumstances. Accordingly, such
modification is accounted for as derecognition of the original
financial liability and the recognition of new financial liability.
The difference between the carrying amount of financial liability
derecognised and the fair value of consideration paid or payable,
including any liabilities assumed and derivative components
recognised, is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when
derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts that contain financial
asset hosts within the scope of HKFRS 9 are not separated. The
entire hybrid contract is classified and subsequently measured in
its entirely as either amortised cost or fair value as appropriate.

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts that are
not financial assets within the scope of HKFRS 9 are treated as
separate derivatives when they meet the definition of a derivative,
their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of
the host contracts and the host contracts are not measured at
FVTPL.

Generally, multiple embedded derivatives in a single instrument
that are separated from the host contracts are treated as a single
compound embedded derivative unless those derivatives relate to
different risk exposures and are readily separable and independent
of each other.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost of inventories are determined on the weighted average
method or first-in-first out method as appropriate. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling prices for inventories less all
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESTBE(E)

(CONTINUED)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, intangible assets and mining
rights with finite useful lives other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, intangible assets and mining rights with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that these assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, intangible assets and mining rights are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the CGU to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are allocated
to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the CGU or group of CGUs to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the
relevant CGU or group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the assets (or a
CGU) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, intangible assets and mining
rights with finite useful lives other than goodwill
(continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
(or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of CGUs, including the
carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets allocated to that group of CGUs, with the recoverable
amount of the group of CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of
the unit. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUSs) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESTBE(E)

(CONTINUED)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from “profit/(loss) before taxation” because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwiill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
each reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of each reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESTBE(E)

(CONTINUED)

Government grants (continued)

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grant are presented under
“other operating income”.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

The Group contributes to a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance for all
employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ relevant income and are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed in the MPF Scheme. Under
the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contribution to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF Scheme vest
immediately.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries which operate
in PRC are required to participate in a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries
are required to contribute a certain percentage of its payroll costs
to the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules
of the central pension scheme.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Employee benefits (continued)

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when
employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits
are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related
asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the
general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on
general borrowings. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESTBE(E)
(CONTINUED)
Provisions B

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material).

Provision for restoration, rehabilitation and
environmental costs

Provisions for the Group’s restoration, rehabilitation and
environmental expenses are based on estimates of required
expenditure to restore the sites of Group’s mines in accordance
with PRC rules and regulations. The Group estimates its
liabilities for final reclamation and mine closure based upon
detailed calculations of the amount and timing of the future cash
expenditure to perform the required work, escalated for inflation,
then discounted at a discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the liability such that the amount of provision reflects the present
value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. Estimates are regularly reviewed and adjusted as
appropriate for new circumstances.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

Contingent liabilities and assets

Contingent assets

Contingent assets arise from unplanned or other unexpected
events that give rise to the possibility of an inflow of economic
benefits to the Group and they are not recognised in the
consolidated financial statements. The Group assesses continually
the development of contingent assets. If it has become virtually
certain that an inflow of economic benefits will arise, the Group
recognises the asset and the related income in the consolidated
financial statements in the reporting period in which the change
occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESTHBEE)
(CONTINUED)
Contingent liabilities and assets (continued) RARBEBEREE (B
Contingent liabilities gAEE

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past
events but is not recognised because it is not probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation
cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an obligation, the
part of the obligation that is expected to be met by other parties
is treated as a contingent liability and it is not recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an outflow
of resources embodying economic benefits has become probable.
If it becomes probable that an outflow of future economic
benefits will be required for an item previously dealt with as a
contingent liability, a provision is recognised in the consolidated
financial statements in the reporting period in which the change
in probability occurs, except in the extremely rare circumstances
where no reliable estimate can be made.

Related party

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related
to the Group if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or the Group’s parent.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Related party (continued)
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others);

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member);

(i) both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); or

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or
obligations between the Group and a related party, regardless of
whether a price is charged.

Close family members of a person are those family members who
may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY 5. et HERETTTFREEME2

SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements,
the directors are required to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

The followings are the critical judgments, apart from those
involving estimation, the directors have made in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

Going concern basis

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis, the validity of which depends upon the basis
as set out in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Control over subsidiaries

The Group owns 49% equity interest in LLI 75 5 72 48 85 &= B 42 R 3%
E R AR AR (Shanxi Coal Transportation and Marketing
Group Energy Investment Development Company Limited®)
(“Shanxi Coal”) and its subsidiaries (including a subsidiary in which
Shanxi Coal own 34% equity interest in LI P& R EHEE H 2R
E M ¥G[R A7 (Shanxi Coal Transportation and Marketing
Group Gujiao Fuchang Coal Industry Company Limited*
(“Fuchang”) (collectively referred to as “Shanxi Coal Group”)). The
Group’s ownership interest in Shanxi Coal Group gives the Group
the same percentage of the voting rights in Shanxi Coal Group.
The Group’s equity interest in Shanxi Coal Group was acquired on
7 June 2013 and there has been no change in the Group’s
ownership in Shanxi Coal since then. The remaining 51% of the
registered capital of Shanxi Coal is owned by two equity interest
holders, who holds 41% and 10% respectively, belonging to a
same group of companies. The directors made an assessment as
at the date of completion of acquisition as to whether or not the
Group has control over Shanxi Coal Group based on whether the
Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of
Shanxi Coal Group unilaterally.

* For identification purpose only
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(CONTINUED)

Critical judgments in applying the entity’s accounting

policies (continued)

Control over subsidiaries (continued)

The directors concluded that it has had control over Shanxi Coal
since the completion of acquisition on 7 June 2013 on the basis
that under the memorandum and articles of association of Shanxi
Coal (as amended on 21 December 2009), the Group is able
to appoint five directors out of nine on the board of directors of
Shanxi Coal through its wholly owned subsidiaries and a resolution
to be passed by the board of directors of Shanxi Coal requires
a simple majority. Upon Shanxi Coal being effectively acquired
by the Group on 7 June 2013, the Group is able to control the
decision making of the board of directors of Shanxi Coal through
its wholly owned subsidiaries.

In addition, all of Shanxi Coal’s shareholders agreed that they
will approve the plans and proposals, including operating
and investment plan, financial budgeting, profit appropriation,
extraction of discretionary reserve and the issuance of bonds,
proposed by the board of directors of Shanxi Coal. The directors
concluded that the Group has sufficiently dominant voting interests
to direct the relevant activities of Shanxi Coal, and accordingly the
Group has control over Shanxi Coal.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Useful life of property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are
depreciated and amortised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives, after taking into account their estimated
residual values. The determination of the useful lives and residual
values involve management’s estimation. The Group assesses
annually the residual values and the useful lives of the property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets and if the expectation
differs from the original estimates, such a difference may impact
the depreciation and amortised in the year and the estimate will be
changed in the future period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND 5. RS HERMESTTIRESEZ
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY FERIR(E)
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Estimated impairment of non financial assets other than
goodwill

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and mining
rights are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation or
accumulated amortisation and impairment, if any. In determining
whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgment
and make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether
an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect the
asset value; (2) whether the carrying amount of an asset can
be supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of value
in use, the net present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; and (3)
the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating the
recoverable amounts including cash flow projections and an
appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset (including right-of-use
assets), the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU
to which the assets belongs, including allocation of corporate
assets when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can
be established, otherwise recoverable amount is determined at the
smallest group of CGUs, for which the relevant corporate assets
have been allocated. Changing the assumptions and estimates,
including the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the recoverable amounts.

Notwithstanding that the Group has used all available information
to make this estimation, inherent uncertainty exists and actual
write-offs may be higher or lower than the amount estimated.

Details of the impairment of are disclosed in Note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.

124 ANNUAL REPORT 2021 3k

fhEr N EEM 2 T ERIR (&)
F % FEE (BRI BE

WE - BB REE - ERREERRE
IR AR Rt T E S Rt 3 RORLE
(MBI - REE-—REEEEHR
BAER - AEBEFITEHE R LG
At LEHRFE  ()REBLEZEMHAHE
TSR MAETEEEREE: QEE
ZRE{EREDA RO &R (e
REEMS  EREEZFEERMMG
A ARKREREZREFR - RERK
A AR R (BRERESRERE) K
EEMBRREEEAZEE ETRMEK -
EEAGEREE(BREREEER)
MR E SRR AEEE G EEM
BzREELEMMNAIKREOSRHE 21
RAZYAE B REERSEE
XEE  ARAKOERERDESEHR
MEREEZR/ N REELSEMHERNE
T o BARBR &G (BRRERERA
ZRAR R FIERR) A e A Bl SR E
REATE -

BEASENELHBARARDERS
MABMSER  EARRTHEERERF
ERERMESEAESRIER G

B

EERENFBREERGS T BREM
5¥30 °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Provision of ECL for trade receivables

Trade receivables with significant balances or credit-impaired
are assessed for ECL individually. In addition, the Group uses
provision matrix to calculate ECL for trade receivables. The
provision rates are based on aging of trade receivables as
groupings of various debtors that have similar loss patterns.
The provision matrix is based on the Group’s historical default
rates taking into consideration forward-looking information that
is reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or
effort. At the end of each reporting period, the historical observed
default rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables are
disclosed in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

Mine reserves

Engineering estimates of the Group’s mine reserves are inherently
imprecise and represent only approximate amounts because of
the subjective judgments involved in developing such information.
There are authoritative guidelines regarding the engineering
criteria that have to be met before estimated mine reserves can
be designated as “proven” and “probable”. Proven and probable
mine reserve estimates are updated at regular basis and have
taken into account recent production and technical information
of each mine. In order to calculate reserves, estimates and
assumptions are required about a range of geological, technical
and economic factors, including quantities, grades, production
techniques, recovery rates, production costs, transport costs,
commodity demand and commodity prices. In addition, as
prices and cost levels change from year to year, the estimate of
proven and probable mine reserves also changes. This change is
considered as a change in estimate for accounting purposes and
is reflected on a prospective basis in related amortisation rates
and impairment of mining rights.

Despite the inherent imprecision in these engineering estimates,
these estimates are used in determining depreciation expenses
and impairment losses. The capitalised cost of mining rights is
amortised over the estimated unit of production. The estimated
unit of production are reviewed annually in accordance with the
production plans of the Group and the proven and probable
reserves of the mines.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND 5. RS HERMESTTIRESEZ
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY FERIR(E)
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Provision for restoration, rehabilitation and

environmental costs

The provision for restoration, rehabilitation and environmental
costs has been determined by the management of the Group
based on their best estimates. The management of the Group
estimated this liability for final reclamation and mine closure based
upon detailed forecast of the amounts and timing of future cash
flows for a third party to perform work, escalated for inflation,
then discounted at a discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the liability, such that the provision reflects the present value of
the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
However, the estimate of the associated expenditures may be
subject to change due to new government environmental policy
in the future. The provision is reviewed regularly to ensure that it
properly reflects the present value of the obligation arising from
the mining activities.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts (which
included bank advances on discounted bills receivables,
convertible loan notes, amounts due to related companies,
amounts due to non-controlling interests, other borrowings and
lease liabilities, net of cash and cash equivalents) and capital
deficiencies attributable to owners of the Company. The directors
review the capital structure monthly. As a part of this review, the
directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. Based on the recommendations of
the directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through new share issues and repurchase of existing shares as
well as issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s operating segments, based on information reported
to the Board (being the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM”)) for the purpose of resources allocation and performance
assessment are as follows:

Cassava starch -
operation
Mining operation -

Provision of cultivation and processing of
cassava starch for sale

Geological survey, exploration and
development of coal deposits, and
sales of coking coal

Coal processing, sales of coal products
and provision of coal related services

Coal operation -

Systems integration —
services and
software solutions

Sales of information technology
products, provision of systems
integration services, technology
services, software development and
solution services

For management purpose, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services. The management
of the Group monitors the operating results of its business units
separately for the purposes of making decisions on resource
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance
is evaluated based on the operating profit or loss which in certain
respects, as explained in the table below, is measured differently
from the operating profit or loss in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7. DEBER (&)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and RERDERBERSHEDEEIRM
allocating resources between segments, the CODM also reviews T EELEARENEMNEMSHE
other segment information. K} o
Segment revenue and results DEBAREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by AT &SR] 23D 2T 2 NEE UK
reportable segments. NES
Systems integration
services and Cassava starch
software solutions Mining operation Coal operation operation Total
ZRRRRER
BEBRARE RBER Ve RERBER @it

01 200 2020 2020 021 2020 201 00 202 A0
CEC-F CTC%F Z8C-F CF0%F CBC-F CTC%F CBC-F CTCTE Z8I-F CRCTE
HKS'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HKS000 HK$000 HKS000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000  HK$000
Tén Tén Thr TEr TR TEr  TER  TEr  TEn  TEn

For the year ended BEt-B=1-A

31 December LEE

REVENUE B

Sales to external customers NI FHEL 2 E = - 1,506,931 130379 105,927 = = - 1612858 130379
RESULTS S |

Segment (loss)/prof AH(ER)/ & (43 (179 1,205879 (375474 14,926 - (3806) (39315 1,246,756  (414.969)
Changes in fair value of TRRERS

Cerivative component of I8%52

convertible loan notes LEERY - (1810
Unallocated income FARBA 734 2818
Unallocated expenses FARZM (19,208 (51229)
Finance costs HENK (229,315)  (361,665)
Profitloss) before taxation BB TR/ (B8) 998967  (852,913)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment revenues and results (continued)

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment profit/(loss)
represents the profit/(loss) from each segment without allocation
of central administrative expenses, including directors’ and
chief executive’s emoluments, change in fair value of derivative
component of convertible loan notes, certain other income, certain
other operating expenses and finance costs. This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

7.

7 B E ()

’*%Ll&)\&%%ﬁ(ﬁg)

I2HA B G PRARED 2 @it
ﬁﬁﬁﬁo“%mﬁ/@ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ
EEZHERM/(BB) - MRS RS R
THAY  BREERITRARMS -
TRBHBRBOTETAHS 2 ATE
28 ETHMRA ETHMELE
ARBMEARE  HIRERHERE
R EMEREERRERE ZHES
I o

For the purpose of assessment by the CODM, finance costs of MEBRLERAREHETHEMS » B
amounts due to non-controlling interests, other borrowings and JEERERFIE - A EERRIAE
advances drawn on discounted bills and leases liabilities were not ZERZBRRAEGEZBMEK ALK
included in segment results while the corresponding liabilities have FFAD *B%F MiEEEEEADE
been included in the segment liabilities. BfE-
Segment assets and liabilities PHWEERAR
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by UTAREAZERD TN AEEEE
reportable segments. RafE -
Segment assets DEEE
2021 2020
—B-—F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Systems integration services and R AR TS R B
software solutions fRR 2R 2,347 6,455
Mining operation PR ST 8,556,524 7,053,815
Coal operation BT 55,286 =
Cassava starch operation INE ) ETE 8,664 12,287
Total segment assets DEEERE 8,622,821 7,072,557
Unallocated corporate assets AOEEEE 3,721 5,674
Consolidated total assets meEERE 8,626,542 7,078,231
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) DEHER (&)
Segment assets and liabilities (continued) THEERAEE
Segment liabilities HEFEE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHET
Systems integration services and FRA SR A BR T SR R
software solutions BRR TR 4,551 4,569
Mining operation IR 7,278,511 6,820,599
Coal operation Bk R 43,827 =
Cassava starch operation REBRWMED 3,323 4,879
Total segment liabilities DEPEEEER 7,330,212 6,830,047
Unallocated corporate liabilities Aot ¥aE 1,961,769 1,672,172
Consolidated total liabilities meEBERE 9,291,981 8,502,219

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and

allocating resources between segments:

— all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than
certain property, plant and equipment, certain prepayment,
deposits and other receivables, amounts due from directors,
cash and cash equivalents and assets jointly used by

reportable segments.

— all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other
than certain other payables, certain amounts due to related
companies, amount due to a director, other borrowings,
liabilities component of convertible loan notes, deferred tax
liabilities and liabilities jointly liable by reportable segments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7. DEBER(E)

Other segment information Hih 7 HE R
Systems integration
services and
software solutions Mining operation Coal operation Cassava starch operation Unallocated Consolidated
AHERARER
BHEBRNE RREH e ] RERBER AR &5&
2021 200 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 200
“§--f  -IC%EF Z3--F CE0TF ZBC-F CRCTE C®--F CT0%E “Bo-F CTO%F CEC-F 0 CICRE
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
T#n i F#n Tan F#n Thn TAT Fhn AR i T#n i
For the year ended #Et-R=t-A
31 December LEE
Amounts included in the BEvEIL e
measure of segment (oss)fproft A EEERH R
Or segment assets: WTRE :
Depreciation of property, plant ~~ #1% + BERRIE
and equipment it - - 184,921 178,960 - - 76 5499 2,861 4302 188,558 188,761
Amortisation of mining rights RRiERY o - 264,491 413756 - o - o - = 264,491 413756
Amortisation of infangible assets & EERH - - 2044 2649 = = © e = S 2044 2649
Additions tonon-curentassels  FEFRHEE - - 252,987 402301 = = = 42 1,894 5 254,881 402718
Loss/{gain) on disposal of LENE BER
property, plantand equipment K2/ (%) = = = 21 = = 686) 2629 = - (836) 2,608
(Reversal of impairment loss)/ HERIEED,
mpaiment loss recognised in (REsERE)/
respect of mining rights HEER = - (959521 17067 = = = s = - (959521 170267
(Reversal of impairment loss)/ W% BEREE
impaiment oss recogrised B (AEER
inrespect of property, plant &E)/REEE
and equipment = - (209,034) 120,962 = - = - = = (299,034) 120962
Impaiment loss recognised in REEHEEHEER
respect of financial assets HEREERDL
under expected credit loss HEEE MREE
model, net of reversal 128 - (5,208) - - - 338 - - 35,946 (4,832) 35,946
Written off of prepayment WEEMNE - - - 2,383 - - 6,572 - - - 6,572 2,383
Wiite-down of inventories FERRE S - o - o - 807 - = = 807 =
Amounts reguiarly provided to EERETEEEE
CODM but not included in REERLEHA
the measure of segment BEEl
(loss)/proft: 2R
Interest income LELON ) ) (198) (8%9) m = S = S (1) (206) (8%9)
Finance costs BERK o = ° = = = = = 229315 361,665 229315 361,665
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 H#E —ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7. 7HER(E)
Other segment information (continued) Hfth 5 I & K (E)
Geographical information HhEER
Since all of the Group’s revenue were derived in PRC and over ARAEEE2ISRSERERE - BAE
90% of the Group's non-current assets (excluded financial E BB IERBEE(TEIEEHT
instruments) were located in PRC, no geographical segment B E - I ERIEE ST B WmE
information in accordance with HKFRS 8 is presented. ERIESHRETHE D IPERL
Information about major customers EREXEREFZER
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing HAREBEEBEFEEEE10%IIA L
10% or more of the total sales of the Group are as follows: BEZBALT
2021 2020
—B=-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Customer A' BEPA 488,017 621,553
Customer B! =FEB! 521,706 227,444
Customer C! ®EC 387,913 =
' Revenue from mining operation. U BRIREE 2 WA o
Except disclosed above, no other customers contributed 10% or Br EXXCPTHEEESN - REZMBEFE - #
more to the Group’s revenue for both years. MEMER AAEEFHR10%IA LI
N1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MRS R R M aE
For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

8. WMAREMEE W=
i) E&&HEZ’%H&)\

8. REVENUE AND OTHER OPERATING INCOME
i) Revenue from goods and Services

Disaggregation of revenue DHFRA
Systems integration
services and Cassava starch
software solutions Mining operation Coal operation operation Total
ZRRRRER
Segments pir: | BERRFR Y e RiEk RERDER st
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
ZRC-F CECFF CBC-F CRCDF CRC-F CTO%F CBC-F CTOTE ZBC-F CTCTE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000  HK$'000
Térn Thr TR TEr TEx  TEr  TéEx  TEr  TER  TEn
Types of goods or senvices @I AR AR
Sales of goods %"ﬁ £
- Raw coals -F = - - 15483 = = = = - 15483
- Clean coals - i = - 1452802 1134123 105927 - = - 1,558,819 1,134,123
~Other coal products -EpERER = - B4039 154190 = = = - 54039 154190
- - 1506931 130379 105927 - - - 1,612,858 1,303,7%
Tirming of revenue W ARZRE
recognition
A point in time B3 = - 1506931 130379 105927 - = - 1612858 1,303,796
Notes: k3

U

(i)

For sales of raw coals, clean coals and other coal products,
revenue is recognised when control of goods has transferred,
being when the goods have been accepted by customers
(acceptance) after goods delivered to the specific location or
picked up by customers. Transportation and handling activities
that occur before customers obtain control are considered as
fulfilment activities. Following acceptance, the customers have
full discretion over the manner of distribution and price to sell
the goods, have the primary responsibility when on selling the
goods and bear the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation
to the goods. The normal credit term is 30 to 60 days upon
acceptance.

All performance obligations of the Group’s revenue are part of
contracts with an original expected duration of one year or less.
As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to
these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 H#E —ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

8. REVENUE AND OTHER OPERATING INCOME 8. WAKRHMRE W (&)
(CONTINUED)
ii) Other operating income i) EHMLE ks
2021 2020
s —EETF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Bank interest income RITF BWA 206 888
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE - BEREH#EZ
plant and equipment Was 886 2,608
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMNBA Rz K
(Note 31) (B13%31) 106 334
Gain on extinguishment of convertible HIHAT MR E R E R 2
loan notes - 2,126
Gain on termination of leases LIS 2 W 4,706 =
Government grants (Note) AT 478 Bh (B 77) 540 4,927
Sundry income HMIBWA 1,211 1,430
Waiver of other payables BN B A BT BOIE - 11,465
7,655 23,778
Note: Kat -

Government grants mainly represent subsidies granted by PRC local
government authority as a support. There is no unfulfilled condition or
contingencies relating to such government subsidies recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. MERAK
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHET
Effective interest expense on AR EREE BB
convertible loan notes (Note 26) FERZ H726) 44,712 77,754
Interest on other borrowings and HEmEERRRAAER 2
advances drawn on discounted bills B2 FE 21,824 10,412
Interest on lease liabilities HEBGZFE 1,948 2,916
Interest on amounts due to FE A FE PR AR e 2 FRIE 2 T B
non-controlling interests 224,623 350,722
Total interest expense on financial liabilities 3 3EiZ A F(EET ABR 2
not at fair value through profit or loss cRBEZNERXEE 293,107 441,804
Less: amounts capitalised in construction & : REETIEBFTERZ
in progress (Note (i) M) (66,560) (83,031)
Imputed interest for provision for Wi ~ BB RIRIBR AR 2
restoration, rehabilitation and HERE Y E28)
environmental costs (Note 28) 2,768 2,892
229,315 361,665

Note:

Borrowing costs capitalised during the year ended 31 December
2021 arose on the general borrowing pool and are calculated by
applying a capitalisation rate of 26.15% (2020: 24.58%) per annum to

expenditure on qualifying assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

10. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION 10. BRBLATRER, (E518)
2021 2020
—E-—-F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Profit/(loss) before taxation has been BRELADR T, (BB B Mk~
arrived at after charging/(crediting): GrA) ¢
Auditor’s remuneration: ZEET N € -
- audit services - RS 1,910 1,620
- non-audit services - BT 516 700
Amortisation of mining rights (included in ~ BREERE & 84 (GT A S84 & K AC)
cost of sales) (Note 17) (Mtat17) 264,491 413,756
Amortisation of intangible assets (included 42 & EE# 4 (G A S5 & Ak AS)
in cost of sales) 2,244 2,649
Amounts of inventories recognised ERRAEASIZ2FESE
as expense:
= Mining and coal operations — PR R R 991,812 1,166,188
Impairment losses recognised on expected B EA(Z EEEE N T EHER
credit loss model, net of reversal: WEEE - MRREE -
— trade receivables - B S EKFIE 128 -
- deposits and other receivables - R R E A YRR (4,960) 35,946
(4,832) 35,046
Depreciation of property, plant and Y BRERRENITE
equipment (Note 16) (Hiaz16) 188,558 188,761
Directors’ and chief executive’s EERITEREHNE KE15)
emoluments (Note 15) 2,334 3,090
Expenses relating to short-term leases HEHHEREEBEEEMRS
and low value assets ZHX 4,241 7,033
Staff cost (excluding directors’ and BINAN(TEEESER
chief executive’s emoluments) TRBEMS) (HE14)
(Note 14) 111,757 68,266
Share-based payment expense to M3 B 2 72 BARR 7
non-employees TIRAX - 201
Write-down of inventories EASE i 807 =
Written off of prepayment i SH TR R IE 6,572 2,383
Penalty and fine B &) M &K 27,676 =
Relocation and removal expenses mBRIFGRER 12,272 =
Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries X LIEYNGT) i 5 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

11.INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

M. FiBHx (ER)

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-THF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET
Current tax expense: BEAfR BRI X ¢
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT”) RS
(TZAEH ) 73,700 10,150
Deferred tax expense/(credit) (Note 29) RERIER S (ER) (HiF29) 173,760 (202,605)
Income tax expense/(credit) T8 (%) 247,460 (192,455)

)

(iv)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Bermuda,
Independent State of Samoa (“Samoa”) and the British Virgin
Islands (the “BVI”), the Group is not subject to any income tax
in Bermuda, Samoa and the BVI.

No provisions for Hong Kong Profits Tax have been made for
subsidiaries established in Hong Kong as these subsidiaries
did not have any assessable profits subject to Hong Kong
Profits Tax for both years.

Profit of the subsidiaries established in PRC are subject to
PRC EIT.

Under the Law of PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulation of EIT Law, the tax rate of PRC
subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

No provision for Cambodia corporate income tax have been
made for subsidiaries established in Cambodia as these
subsidiaries did not have any assessable profits subject to
Cambodia corporate income tax for both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

11.INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (CONTINUED) 11.Fi8%iBx (E%) (&)

The income tax expense/(credit) for the year can be reconciled to FAMBHAS(ER) BEGREERER
the profit/(loss) before taxation per the consolidated statement of ZBRBADAET, (R EERMAT -

profit or loss as follows:

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHT
Profit/(loss) before taxation BrEI AR A, (E518) 998,967 (852,913)
Notional tax on profit/(loss) before taxation, &4 B 7)% % %= i@ A fi &
calculated at rates applicable in STEZBRBANEF, (BB
the jurisdictions concerned HEIE 257,247 (190,115)
Tax effect of income not subject to tax BARBBMAZHBEE (86,772) (82,140
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for ~ NAIHITE IS 2 T2 &
tax purpose 61,323 113,460
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERMBE B R E 31,772 =
Utilisation of tax losses previously not AL AIRERCREEE
recognised (16,110) (83,660)
Income tax expense/(credit) for the year SRS, (E%) 247,460 (192,459)
12. DIVIDENDS 12. R E
No dividend was paid or proposed for both years ended HE_T-_—FR-_ZE-_FTF+-_A=
31 December 2021 and 2020, nor has any dividend been +— B IE WA FE I & Bk 3 # R X
proposed since the end of the reporting period. B B¥WEHRARINVE IR A
f& 8 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share
attributable to owners of the Company are based on the following

e M ERRMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE
13. B8R (BF) BB

ARAFEBEAREEREARE TR
i,/ (B518) T AR IR T 51 BURET & -

data:
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHET
Earnings/(loss) BRI, (&)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to T EEREARAF (BB Z
owners of the Company for the purpose AR THE A AEIHFEE
of basic earnings/(loss) per share wm A (Eﬂ%) 265,672 (312,362)
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:  JB&7E & & L @A% » £ 2 -
Interest on convertible loan notes (net of ~ FIARRERZE 2 B
income tax) ($0BRFT1S ) 44,710 =
Profit/(loss) for the purpose of diluted HRAESREERF (BB 2
earnings/(loss) per share swm Al (E518) 310,382 (312,362)
2021 2020
—E-—F —E_THF
’000 ‘000
T T
Number of shares RO E
Weighted average number of ordinary R EEREARET(EEB)Z
shares for the purpose of basic AR I8
earnings/(loss) per share 526,260 494,428
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: JE&7E & & L @A% » £ -
Convertible loan notes AR E SRR 1,795,455 =
Weighted average number of ordinary HETEERBEERT (BB 2
shares for the purpose of diluted TR NRE
earnings/(loss) per share 2,321,715 494,428

The calculation of diluted earnings/(loss) per share for both
years does not assume exercise of share options, since these
conversion and exercise would result in an anti-dilutive effect on

basic eamnings/(loss) per share.

The calculation of diluted loss per share

December 2020 does not assume the conversion of convertible
loan notes, since these conversion and exercise would result in an

anti-dilutive effect on basic loss per share.

HRITEBRESSRERNRRN (B
BIEEREEYE HHEREFE 2
BREERMN(BE)BITERIZS
HBRATE o

A==

HRABABRBRERRBEHERELE
BEARBIZE BFEBRE_T
TEE+ A=t -HLESEZERES

BREYEBRRZFRBRITE -

for the year ended 31
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A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14.STAFF COSTS (EXCLUDING DIRECTORS’ AND 1. EIFRKR(FTEREESR

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS) THARME)

2021 2020

—B-—F —TEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FHET

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥ & 2B R BWEF] 98,993 64,470

Retirement benefit schemes contributions iR K@ |5 214t 3¢ 12,764 3,008

Share-based payment expense B AR = 788

111,757 68,266

The subsidiaries in Hong Kong operate the MPF Scheme
which are available to qualified employees. The assets of the
scheme are held separately from those of the subsidiaries in
independently administered funds. Monthly contributions made by
the subsidiaries are calculated based on certain percentages of
the applicable payroll costs or fixed sums as stipulated under the
relevant requirements, as appropriate.

Pursuant to the regulations of the relevant authorities in PRC,
the subsidiaries of the Group in PRC participate in respective
government retirement benefit scheme (the “Scheme”) whereby
the subsidiaries are required to contribute to the Scheme to
fund the retirement benefits of the eligible employees. Monthly
contributions made to the Scheme are calculated based on
certain percentages of the applicable payroll costs as stipulated
under the requirements in PRC. The relevant authorities of PRC
are responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to the
retired employees. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the Scheme is to pay the ongoing required contributions under
the Scheme.

The retirement benefit scheme contributions represent gross
contributions by the Group to the Scheme operated by the
relevant authorities of PRC and the MPF Scheme operated in
Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there was no
forfeited contributions included in retirement benefits schemes
contributions (2020: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

15.DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 15. 55 - THAZHMERES
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EEFMAL
INDIVIDUALS
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERITHARMS
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for both years 7 E G S B == R 1T BN AR 3 BN 4
were as follow: BT
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE-_Z-_—F+=-BA=+—HL
FE
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and benefits scheme
Fees in kind contributions Total
- 41911 BB
He BUEA SEIH @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThL ThL ThL FHT
Executive directors HiTES
Mr. Zhang Sanhuo (Mr. Zhang’) K=ERE(REE]) = 240 12 252
Mr. Tse Michael Nam (“Mr. Tse”) B A(E vwa) = 1,560 18 1,578
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
Mr. Ho Kin Cheong Kelvin gatsE 168 o o 168
Mr. Shen Weidong TEREE 168 = = 168
Mr. Tian Hong BRLE 168 o = 168
504 1,800 30 2,334
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 H#E —ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS (CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(continued)
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for both years
were as follow: (continued)

15. 5% - THABMERESR
B 1= 3 B A £ ()

(a) EERTHRARMNE (F)

RREFEEE R ITHRARFI R
BT (B

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-_Z-_FTF+-_A=+—H1

FE
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and benefits scheme
Fees in kind contributions Total
o 2R RINER]
ik ENEH SRl &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TAL TAL FAL
Executive directors HiTES
Mr. Zhang Sanhuo K=EEE = 240 15 255
Mr. Tse Michagl Nam LA - 1,560 21 1,581
Ms. Zhang Tingting KRt
(Resigned on 5 August 2020) (R=Z-ZF/\ARAEL) - 420 14 434
Non-executive directors FYTES
Ms. Zhu Zheyu KRzt
(Resigned on 12 June 2020) (R=Z=Z%5A
+ZHEHT) 432 . i 432
Mr. Chang Che-Fa REREE
(Resigned on 5 August 2020) (R=Z=ZF\ARARET) 42 a - 42
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
Mr. Lyu Guoping EER
(Resigned on 5 August 2020) (R=Z=ZEN\ARARE) 42 = = 42
Mr. Jin Xuliang SmAE
(Resigned on 5 August 2020) (R=Z=ZF)\ARAEA) Y - - Y]
Mr. Lam Chi Wai HEREE
(Appointed on 10 January 2020 (R=Z-Z£-A1H
and resigned on 5 August 2020) EZFUR-FFF
NATRE) 9% - - 9%
Mr. Shen Weidong HEREE
(Appointed on 2 November (R=ZZZF+-R
2020) ZHEZ) 27 = = 27
Mr. Tian Hong BREE
(Appointed on 10 August (R=Z=ZZEN\A
2020) TREZ) 66 - - 66
Mr. Ho Kin Cheong Kelvin RE%E
(Appointed on 5 August (R=Z=ZZEN\A
2020) RHEZMA) 68 - - 68
Ms. Leung Yin Fai 2RENT
(Resigned on 10 January 2020) (RZZ-ZTE-A
THEfA) 5 = = 5
Ms. An Juan BRI T
(Appointed on 5 August (M=Z=TE\ARA
2020 and resigned on BZAUR-F-%F
10 August 2020) NATHEHE) . N - B
820 2,220 50 3,090
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MRS R R M aE
For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

15. 5% - THABMERESR
&= #H M A £ (8)

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS (CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(a) EERTHARNE (F)

(continued)

Mr. Tse is also the chief executive of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above include those for services
rendered by him as the chief executive.

Except for Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements,
no other material transactions, arrangements and contracts
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or
any subsidiaries of the Company was a party and in which a
director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services as the directors.

HEETAARRBITHRAR - £X
P E e BREERTRAER
RERBzHME -

Brim e ISR M aE325) - AR A
S EAEAIK B R B ERT L AN
BXBAM MEFREFEEX
FMEEAEA R BRFRAF
RERERDAERZ EMERR
7 BHEREH -

NEMBARITEFTZMERBREH
BEARARAKESHERZR
BHE -

NEFBBILIFNTES 2B HE
REERESZRGHRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 H#E —ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

15.DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID

INDIVIDUALS (CONTINUED)

(b) Five highest paid individuals
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, one (2020: three) were directors (including the
chief executive) whose emoluments are set out above. The
emoluments of the remaining four (2020: two) highest paid
individuals were as follows:

1.5  THABMERES
=M A £ (8)

(b) EERSHMAL

AEBREERFIATRE—F
(ZE=FF : ZR)EZ(BETHR
BE)  BEZHEEN EX - Hip
NEZ(ZEZEF  MAB)&= 5 M
ALzB&mT

2021 2020
—EB-—-F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 - ZBE R EWEF 1,958 1,270
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 3R K& 5+ 214 7 74 36
2,032 1,306
Their emoluments were within the following bands: REZMENFTHIEE -
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
No. of No. of
employees employees
EEAH BB AEK
Nil to HK$1,000,000 0% 1,000,000/ 7T 4 2

No emoluments have been paid by the Group to any
directors, chief executive or the five highest paid individuals
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of the office both years. None of the
directors, chief executive or five highest paid individuals
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments for both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. Y% - BERRZE
Furniture,
Construction fixtures
Mining in progress Right-of-use ~ Leasehold  and office Motor  Plants and
structure (“CIP") Buildings assets improvements  equipment vehicles  machineries Total
B
fRIB HENx EERER BER

REREN (ERIE) By EREHE £ BOERA nE # it
HKBOOD  HKS000  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKG000  HKSOOO  HKSO00  HKBOD  HKSO00
ThT TR TiEn T ThT T Tk T TAT

Asat1 January 2020: R=F-F5-F-H:
Cost i 1,620,995 578,844 236,767 36,346 2937 14,09 14,676 278,380 2,783,041
Accumulated depreciation ZHAERAE
and impairment (628,69) (138,740) (131,077) (10,377) (2,8%) (12923 (11,424 (152,902) (1,084,082
Camying amounts as at K=%-%%-A-A
1 January 2020 a1 992,300 445,104 106,690 25,969 43 1173 3252 125478 1,699,009
Asat 1 January 2020, net of R-Z-%%-A-H"
accumulated depreciation and NBZHAERAE
impairment 992,300 445,104 106,690 25,969 43 1173 3252 125478 1,699,009
Addtions AE 11,194 287,832 %7 68,768 - 1,108 - 32,849 402,118
Disposals & 21) - - - - - . 3,089) (3,110)
Impairment loss recognised ERDHERR (65,074) (50,141) (6,005) (973) N (144) (102) (8,523) (120962)
Depreciion for the year ERE (118597] SO 1 X7/ IR | ) (560) (128 (3884 (188761)
Transer from CIP BRATRTR 11,586 (11,586) = = = = = = =
Exchange redignment B A% 2,150 5774 4508 3523 = 691 47 4912 21,69
As at 31 December 2020, net of RZTZZE
acoumulated depreciation and TZA=t-8 1k
impairment ZHAERRE 843,538 676,983 91,913 66,167 6 2,268 1,971 127,743 1,810,589
As at 31 December 2020 and WZTZZF
asat 1 January 2021; t-A=z+-Bk
“2--f£-f-8:
Cost i 1,748,673 887,121 248147 110,519 2422 20,674 16,150 309,720 3,343,426
Accumulated depreciation and ZHAERRAE
impairment (905,135) (210,138) (156,234) (44,352) 2,416) (18,406) (14179 (181,977)  (1,532,837)
Carying amounts RZ3-%f
as at 31 December 2020 TZRA=t-Bk
andas at 1 January 2021 ZF-%-A-H
LEBE 843,538 676,983 91,913 66,167 6 2,268 1,971 127,743 1,810,589
Asat 1 January 2021, net of RZF--§-f-8"
accumulated depreciation and B2 ERAE
impairment 843,538 676,983 91,913 66,167 6 2,268 1,971 127,743 1,810,589
Addttions AE 24,009 207,770 1,350 1,868 - 732 - 19,146 264,881
Disposals ij = = = 2018) = = = = 2,019)
Reversal of impairment loss/(mpament ~~ EERNEFERE/
loss) recognised (REHE) 149,419 146,404 26,004 11,731 - 299 4 (35180 299034
Depreciaton o he year ERiE (134322 -0 (12818 0 o) 612 @20 (188559
Transfer from CIP BROTETR 34310 (34310 - - = - v - =
Exchange realignment ERA% 27,243 32,971 2,856 480 = 204 % 2,110 65,887
As at 31 December 2021, net of e S
accumulated depreciation and TZA=t-0 1k
impairment ZHAERRE 944,197 1,029,908 110,858 65,410 E 1413 1,430 86,599 2,239,815
As at 31 December 2021: R=%=-%
t2A=t-R:
Cost WA 1,868,379 1,100,563 255,469 98,500 151 24,537 16,991 385,512 3,700,102
Accumulated depreciation and ZMERAE
impaiment @418 (0 (4481 (30%) (15 @312 (15561 48913 (1460287
Carrying amounts R=B=-£+ZR
as at 31 December 2021 =t-AzEAR 944,197 1,029,908 110,858 65,410 - 1,413 1,430 86,599 2,239,815
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. 1% - BMEKRE(E)

(CONTINUED)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, based on the valuation
reports in relation to the mining operation as obtained by the
Group, the Group recognised reversal of impairment loss of
approximately HK$299,034,000 in respect of property, plant
and equipment for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020:
impairment loss recognised of approximately HK$120,962,000).

Particulars regarding impairment assessment are disclosed in
Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

Right-of-use-assets
The analysis of expense items in relation to lease recognised in
profit of loss is as follows:

REBEzZz-_ZT-—F+-_A=+—81t
FE BEAESERNBSZEBERERX
BzHERES  AEEREBEEZ=_ZF=
—F+-_A=+-—BUILFEHREH
ME - BEREEZRERFBRERDD
299,034,000 TL(ZE=_FF : R
{EE51E47120,962,000/8 7T) °

RAE 1 2 BB RS B 5 MR 330
B -

FEHEEE
NEREANEAEABNMAZIER D
T :

2021 2020
—E-—-F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Depreciation charge of right-of-use LIEMEEERNB SRR AE
assets by class of underlying asset: BEEMNEER :
— Properties and lands leased for -HEEBRZWERTH
own use 6,184 9,630
— Machineries — e 6,634 21,490
12,818 31,120
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 9) HEBBZF B W F) 1,948 2,916
Expenses relating to short-term leases and ~ BGHIAE MKEBELELHY
low value assets (Note 10) Fisz (B77£10) 4,241 7,033
Additions to right-of-use assets ANEFAEEE 1,868 68,768

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis
of lease liabilities are set out in Notes 23(c) and 39 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)
Right-of-use-assets (continued)

The Group leases various staff quarter, office premises and lands
for its operations. Lease agreements are typically made for initial
periods of 2 to 30 years (2020: 3 to 30 years). Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for
which the contract is enforceable. The lease agreements do not
impose any covenants and the leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

In addition, the Group owns several building where its
manufacturing facilities are primarily located and office buildings.
The Group is the registered owner of these property interests,
including the underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum payments
were made upfront to acquire these property interests. The
leasehold land components of these owned properties are
presented separately only if the payments made can be allocated
reliably.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for office and
warehouses. As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the portfolio of
short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to
which the short-term lease expense disclosed above.

In addition to the portfolio of short-term leases and low value
assets for office premises, warehouses and printing machine
which are regularly entered into by the Group, the Group entered
into several short-term leases for office premises, warehouses and
printing machine during the year ended 31 December 2021. As at
31 December 2021, the outstanding lease commitments relating
to short-term leases is approximately HK$1,496,000.

GREEN LEADER HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED #x 4842

16. 4% - MERRE (R

EREEE (&)
AEBESRZENESEETIRES - M

DREMER L - fﬁ% 2 {146 5
RiBE AB2EIVF(ZZE_ZFF : 3830
F) - HERRIRMEPIEERER T8
EEBEBTEUER R - RETHEER
ﬂﬁTTﬁ%@ﬁZEE% REERE
AHZEEVERTAHTRFMITZ
%% HEmRTEENTMNZRE B
HEEETSAEEERR -

O AEEHREE TET(HEERE
TERURZFET) LI AAE - A5E
RRENFEED(BREABEAEL) 2
AEMEEA - CREER —FBMAFRNA
WEZEMFERED - ERERAREIR
H%%'%%Eﬁ%%Zﬁ%imﬂn
TEEFET -

AEBTEHRPLAERRER L EHAE
E-RB-_—FR-Z-_ZF+_-A
=+—8- L%mﬁ%DALX%&%
RERERY C REREEEEE

MASETHISZHAEYE B
MENRI# 2 SR EHRAE MEEBEEE
G REBRBE-_ZE-_—F+=-A=
+T—RALEFERRLAEYWE BEKE
RIEET L& FRBHEE - R =-_—F
+ZA=+—H HEHHEERE R
B8 EEIEHH1,496,000/8 T °

i B GROT] 147



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

17.MINING RIGHTS 17. SR IEAE
HK$'000
FHT
cosT R
As at 1 January 2020 R-E-_TF—H—H 10,884,917
Exchange realignment P 5 AR 637,379
As at 31 December 2020 and RZEZZTF+ZA=+—HK
as at 1 January 2021 —E-—F—fF—H 11,522,296
Exchange realignment b 5 AR 363,801
As at 31 December 2021 RZEZ—F+=-A=+—H 11,886,097
AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT HeH RORE
As at 1 January 2020 RZE_FF—H—H 5,611,451
Amortisation for the year F N 413,756
Impairment loss recognised during the year FNERZBIEFBE 170,267
Exchange realignment P 5 R 361,354
As at 31 December 2020 and RZBEZZEF+ZA=+—HK
as at 1 January 2021 —FE=-—4%—H—H 6,556,828
Amortisation for the year FAEEH 264,491
Reversal of impairment loss recognised FAMR R AEEIBRE
during the year (959,527)
Exchange realignment ME 5 B 215,890
As at 31 December 2021 N—E-——F+—-_A=+—H 6,077,682
CARRYING AMOUNTS REE
As at 31 December 2021 R=B=-—-%+=H=+—H 5,808,415
As at 31 December 2020 R-ZZE_ZTF+_A=+—8H 4,965,468
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

17. MINING RIGHTS (CONTINUED)

The five mining licenses in relation to the coal mines will expire
from 28 November 2022 to 8 January 2023 and subject to
renewal. In the view of the directors, the Group will be able to
renew the mining licenses in relation to the coal mines with the
relevant government authority continuously at insignificant cost.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, based on the valuation
reports in relation to the mining operation as obtained by the
Group, the Group recognised reversal of impairment losses in
respect of mining rights of approximately HK$959,527,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: impairment loss recognised
of approximately HK$170,267,000).

17. BRIEHE (48)
AREREEY REFAIBENR -2
—f+—A=-+N\BE-ZE-=5—A#
NNBHARIEIE - WA A - EER
B AN Y A AR R B A 45 48 T AR B

B S REAEREZ RiET A &EE
i -

REE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HI1tF
[ BEAEERS BHRBES 2
HERE  AEEREE_ZT—_—F+
A=+ HLEFERRKBERRE
B 1B R [E 4959,527,0008 L (ZE =
TF : WRBEREEL170,267,000/8

JT) °
Particulars regarding impairment assessment are disclosed in WA FEIERERE B IR M 730
Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements. HEE o
18. GOODWILL 18. &
HK$'000
FHET
COST 2%
As at 1 January 2020, as at 31 December 2020, R-ZE_ZTF—F—H _ZT-_ZTF
as at 1 January 2021 and as at 31 December +=—A=+—8 B —F—A—8k
2021 —E_—F+-A=+—H 3,676,679
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT 25tRE
As at 1 January 2020, as at 31 December 2020, W_ZE_ZTF—F—H _ZT_ZTF
as at 1 January 2021 and as at 31 December +=—A=+—H -ZE=—F—HA—B8K
2021 —E-_—F+-_H=+—H 3,676,679
CARRYING AMOUNTS IREE
As at 31 December 2021 R-B-_—-H+-A=+—H -

As at 31 December 2020

R-ZFE-_FF+-A=+—~H =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 H#E —ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

18. GOODWILL (CONTINUED) 18. & (&)
Goodwill arising from acquisition of CGUs were allocated to CGUs WHERCEAEMNMEEZHEDER
in the following segments: EUTHE 2R ESEEENM
HK$’000
FET
Mining operation R E 3,661,555
Systems integration services and RREN RS RBFRRRT R
software solutions 15,124
As at 31 December 2021 and RZE-_—F+-_A=+—HEK
as at 31 December 2020 —EZTF+ZA=+—H 3,676,679
19.INVENTORIES 190. 78
2021 2020
—E-—— —E-THF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Consumables SEHAEM 4,219 6,283
Raw material Rk 10,470 =
Work-in-progress TR M 35,471 =
Finished goods IR 102,063 =
152,223 6,283
20. TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENT, 20.E S5 EWFIE - FARRIE -
DEPOSITS, BILLS RECEIVABLES, DISCOUNTED e EWREE - BERERERE
BILLS RECEIVABLES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES & H b fE W R IE
2021 2020
—E-— —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT FET
Trade receivables from contracts with RERFEHZEBZEWFIR
customers 77,147 136,371
Less: Allowance for credit losses (Note (b)) & : 1= & BB & (K5 b) (130) (18,516)
Trade receivables net of allowance for E ZREWGRIE(REEEE
credit losses (Note (a)) B8 (Mtit(a) 77,017 117,855
Prepayment, deposits, bills receivables, FERHIE - &k BREE -
discounted bills receivables, and other JRE LT B BR SR R e H i E LS 5K IR
receivables (Notes (c), (d) and (e)) (Btat(c) ~ (d)R(e)) 168,884 96,640
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENT,

DEPOSITS, BILLS RECEIVABLES, DISCOUNTED
BILLS RECEIVABLES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

As at 1 January 2020, trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers (before allowance for credit losses) amounted to
approximately HK$74,420,000.

The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

The Group normally grants to its customers credit periods ranging
from 30 days to 60 days which are subject to periodic review by
management.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are reviewed
periodically.

Notes:
(@) The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables, net of

allowance for credit losses, based on earlier of the invoice dates or
revenue recognition date:

20. 2 Z W - AR

BE - BREE  BURRRE
R EL W 3R 0R (4])

RZE_ZEF—HA—H0 " RKARFEY
2B SRWHIEGIREERFERER)
#974,420,0007 7T, °

AEETERZFERFHTMAER

[}
oA °

AEE— R4 T BFORE0RTE
(SR W SRR R -

REMNEAHESH  AEEETHE
AR EEEEYREFAEERE
B BFEPHEE RIS TR
it o

Hit -
@ UTANBRESEREEEEEEERR

HHWAER B HUAREERE)FTE
Z B BREWGRIARRE DT

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-TF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Within 30 days 30 KA 77,017 110,782
31 days to 60 days 31 RE60K = -
61 days to 90 days 61 RKZEI0K - 6,948
91 days to 180 days 91 RE180K - -
181 days to 365 days 181X E 365K - -
Over 365 days B i@365K = 125
77,017 117,855

GREEN LEADER HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED 4% Bl = B AR A F] 151



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 H#E —ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENT,
DEPOSITS, BILLS RECEIVABLES, DISCOUNTED
BILLS RECEIVABLES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

()

(continued)

The movements in lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) of trade receivables
that has been recognised under the simplified approach were as
follows:

20. 2 B WK - AR

BE  BUERE BRUERERE

% ELAth P WK T (4])
iE: G

(0)

1R98 { JR R 2 B 5 I ROB >
B BB E R (B LR AR
BEBIT ;

2021 2020

—EB-—F —E-TF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET FAET

As at 1 January n—HA—H 18,516 18,516
Impairment loss recognised BERBAEEE 128 =
Written-off b€ (18,516) -
Exchange alignment HE 54, 38 B 2 =
As at 31 December wn+=-—A=+—8 130 18,516

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s trade receivables were neither
past due.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables balance as at 31
December 2020 are aggregate carrying amounts of approximately
HK$7,073,000 which are past due at the end of the reporting period.
Out of the past due balances, approximately HK$125,000 has been
past due 90 days or more and is not considered as in default as there
has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts
are still considered recoverable based on historical experience.

As at 31 December 2021, trade receivables with the amounts of
approximately HK$130,000 (2020: approximately HK$18,516,000)
was determined as credit-impaired.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

152 ANNUAL REPORT 2021 4

R-T-—F+-A=+—0  ~&H
E S RRFIE KRB -

R-TE-_FBEE+-_A=+—H8 K&
EZSERRBEHEEETAEYD
7,073,000 7 * ZESERBSHRE
BHER o R ERAE SR - 49125,0008 TE
B0 A £ - AR WREELD - Th
HREEERYERBREZLEREAT
EEZESBEIERATIRE -

R-ZTE-_—H+-_A=+—B8 Bk
WRIEXI130,0008 L (Z B -2F : 4
18,516,000/ T) B Al ERIE °

IREFHAF BRI AR A MR MR T
37 °



20. TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENT,

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

DEPOSITS, BILLS RECEIVABLES, DISCOUNTED
BILLS RECEIVABLES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)
Notes:  (continued)
©

The following is an aging analysis of bills receivables, net of allowance

20. 2 Z W - AR
BE  BURERE BRUERERE
Ko HL At FE WL R 3R ()

Hax - (&)

) ATREEZZEGFIREEBERE)Z

for credit losses, based on invoice date: BERBZIRROIT
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Within 30 days 30K A 55,625 4,394
31 days to 60 days 31 RE60K 2,450 845
61 days to 90 days 61 KZE90K - -
91 days to 180 days 91 RE180K 2,450 -
60,525 5,239

The following table show reconciliation of loss allowance of deposits

and other receivables under general approach:

As at 1 January 2020
Impairment loss recognised

As at 31 December 2020 and as at 1 January 2021

Impairment loss recognised
Impairment loss reversed
Written-off

Exchange realignment

As at 31 December 2021

(@) TRINR—HITET 750 B A YR

THE BB 2 HIR

Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)
BEGFESH
FEEEEEBR
(BRBREEEBR)
HK$’000
FHET
RZZE=_ZFTF—HA—H 9,149
EHRBERSE 35,946

RZZE_FEF+=-_A=+—HK
—ZE=-—%—H—H 45,095
BEHRBESR 339
B ERESE (5,298)
b6 (4,611)
& X A 760
R-ZB-_—-F+=-A=+—H 36,285

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 37 to the

consolidated financial statements.

WMEFGFERERES BB REME
37 °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZEZ —ZF =

—F+=A=t—AILFE

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENT,

DEPOSITS, BILLS RECEIVABLES, DISCOUNTED
BILLS RECEIVABLES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

Notes:  (continued)
(e) Transfer of financial assets

The following is the Group’s financial assets as at 31 December 2021
that were transferred to banks by discounting these receivables on a
full recourse basis. As the Group has not transferred the significant
risks and rewards relating to these receivables, it continues to
recognise the full carrying amounts of the bills receivables and has
recognised the cash received on the transfer as a collateralised
borrowing. These financial assets are carried at amortised cost, net of
allowance for credit losses, in the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position.

Bills receivables discounted to banks with full recourse:

20. 2 B WK - AR

BE  BUERE - BRUERERE
R EL P W R 0R (4])

Hiat - ()
e =REEBEF

UTAAEBRR-_ZE-_—F+=_A=+
—HEBRREHMEBRELEMBAZEEK
HEMEETRITHESHMEE - BRA
EEVEEERZEERFEEEANE
AERNER  HEEEIAEKZEDN
SEEREE - WEBEEEMUKERNIR
CHERAEEEREER - ZELHEER
BERANHBREEBEBREEB RAEE
RA ISR R B ER -

REMEBEREERBTHRNERE
=

2021 2020

=B —F —ECETF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHExT T

Carrying amount of transferred asset EREEIRME 6,126 =
Carrying amount of associated liability BHRaBEZERmME (6,126) -
Net position FE = =

21. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) RELATED

COMPANIES

The amounts due from/(to) related companies are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

As at 31 December 2021, certain related companies of the Group
had confirmed that they shall not demand settlement of the
amounts due by the Group of approximately HK$144,755,000
(2020: approximately HK$125,891,000) before 1 July 2023 (2020:
1 July 2022). The respective amounts are unsecured, interest-free
and are classified as non-current liabilities for both years.

Details of impairment assessment is set out in Note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

22. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) DIRECTORS

The amounts due from/(to) are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand. As at 31 December 2020, the amounts
due from Mr. Zhang and Mr. Tse were approximately HK$40,000
and approximately HK$195,000 respectively. The maximum
amounts outstanding for amounts due from Mr. Zhang and Mr.
Tse during the year ended 31 December 2021 were approximately
HK$40,000 (2020: approximately HK$40,000) and approximately
HK$195,000 (2020: approximately HK$195,000) respectively; and
the amount due to Mr. Zhang was approximately HK$14,821,000
(2020: approximately HK$13,108,000).

Details of impairment assessment is set out in Note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

23.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise
Bank balances earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates.

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents denominated
in RMB which are located in PRC are subject to PRC’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sales and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations.

For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group
performed impairment assessment on bank balances and
concluded that the probability of defaults of the counterparty
banks are insignificant, no allowance for ECL is provided for
both years.

Details of impairment assessment is set out in Note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

22, fEl (e ESROE

FEUR, (FEA) ZRIEH BEEE - Tt 8
NMARERER RZZTZFTF+=H
=+—8 BERELEERSEEZR
1B 5 Bl A #940,00078 7T & #7195,00058
Lo BT -_—F+-_A=+—HL
FE - BREREERFCEZHEZ &
SARWEEFES B A%40,000/8 7T (=
T~ T4 ¢ 4940,00075 70) K 49195,000
B (ZEZZF : 49195,000/87T) © &
R %A 2 FRTEXI14,821,0008 T (=
T —F4F : #913,108,000/87T) °

BMEFGEFBERARGEE VBRI E
& ©

B.BERBREEEY
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 H#E —ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

23.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

B.BERBEEEY(HE)
(b) REFBEL 2B EHR

activities
Bank
Amounts Amounts advances on
dueto  duetonon- Amount  discounted
related  controlling Other Lease  Convertible due to bills
companies interests  borrowings liabilities loan notes adirector  receivables Total
FEf
ERBEE FER G Bi-%  BRERES
ARFE BHAA AfpfE HELE ERRE EERE  ZROBR &3t
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HKS'000 HK$ 000
Thn T Thn TR Thn TEn Thn TEn
Asat 1 January 2020 RZZ-F£-f-R 159,576 4,933,674 23,202 29,034 632,853 13,108 N 5,791,447
Changes from financing cash flows ~~ BAR 22259 (39.271) = = (23,180) (11,380) = S (73,831)
Exchange realignment ER@Z 5,586 288,156 = 2,442 = = = 296,183
Interest expense recognised BEAFSRY = 350,722 = 2916 71,754 = S 431392
(Gain on extinguishment of BHTRRENEE
convertile loan notes & = = = = (2,126) = = 2,126)
Change In fair value of derivative TEREFERETA
component of convertible loan $20VEEY
notes - - = - 27,870 - - 21870
Transfer to other borrowings EETEMEE = = 312,000 = (312,000 = = =
Other non-cash movements EtFReEY = = 21,581) 4813 (102912 = = (76,355)
As at 31 December 2020 and HZZZZE
asat 1 January 2021 T-A=+-BEk
“5--£-f-H 125,891 5,572,551 313,621 59,350 310,069 13,108 - 6,394,580
Changes from financing cash flows ~~ BERETECEH 16,085 - - (29761) - 1713 6,032 (5,951)
Exchange realignment ERHRE 2,801 178,967 - 824 - - 9 182,776
Interest expense recognised [BYEA LS = 224,623 = 1948 412 = = 271,283
Other non-cash moverments AfpFRes ©) - & (4,859) - a - (4,947)
As at 31 December 2021 R=B=-%
tZA=t-R 144,755 5,976,141 313,621 21,506 354,771 14,821 6,126 6,837,741
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MRS R R M aE
For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

B HAERALEEY (R
(c) HERERHARE

23.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED)
(c) Total cash outflow for leases

2021 2020
—E- —E-TH
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT FHEIT
Within operating cash flows KERSMEN 4,241 7,033
Within financing cash flows BMERESMENA 29,761 23,180
Total cash outflow for leases HEZREME A% 34,002 30,213
24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 24. B R HMENSFIE
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FHET
Trade payables B S 3RIA 38,821 1,798
Other payables (current portion): i JE < k8 (BN EAEE ) ¢

— Contract liabilities —&REaE 15,084 10,701
- Accrued staff costs —EFFE TR 38,985 13,615
— Other taxes payables — E fh fE A 318 20,208 11,882

- Considerations for acquisition of —WENB AR ZRE
subsidiaries 276,600 301,087

- Payables for construction works and —BETRERBAKS
purchase of machineries FEATFRIE 69,461 44,736
— Accrued expenses and other payables ~— — JEATE A R E b B F0E 328,403 241,817

- Bank advances on discounted bills —FEURALIR R 2 SRITRK

receivables (Note 20) (HtzE20) 6,126 =
754,867 623,838

Other payables (non-current portion): Hfth FET R IE GERNERER ) -
- Considerations for acquisition of —WENB AR ZRE
subsidiaries - 7,055
- Payables for construction works and —RETREREE#E Y

purchase of machineries e 708 215,054 215,821
— Accrued expenses and other payables — — fE&TF 2 K H Ath fE 1~ FUE 113,433 199,236
328,487 422,112

A REMENRATERREER
W ERREEER  DBERARE
AHEERRX -

Accrued expenses and other payables mainly comprised of
purchase of material, legal and professional fee, subcontracting
charge and accrued rental expenses.
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A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

As at 1 January 2020, contract liabilities amounted to
approximately HK$51,204,000.

Contract liabilities represented advance payments received from
customers for sales of coal products to the respective sales
contracts before the control of the products are passed to the
customers.

As at 31 December 2021, certain creditors of the Group had
confirmed that they shall not demand settlement of the amounts
due by the Group of approximately HK$328,487,000 (2020:
approximately HK$422,112,000) before 1 July 2023 (2020: 1 July
2022), and the respective amounts are classified as non-current
liabilities.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. 2 5 K H e 3 ;R ()

R-ZF-_FTE-—A—H AHNAEY
51,204,000/ 7T °

EHEBBEREREHEERERR
Bl RESHEHEAHOMREE R RER
BEISEEESEINE e

Eﬂ—i@——iJr—ﬁ—Jr B A&H
ETERADER  FETER2=
=+ A—B(CCEZZEF: T
tA—RRERGEEEREEEROR
TH#9328,487,0008 L (ZE = F : 49
422,112,000/ 7T) © A @AW D8
BIERBAE -

The following is an aging analysis of the trade payables based on UWTAKBEZAMFECEIEMNR
the invoice dates: HARER D AT

2021 2020
—B-—F —TEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Within 30 days 30K 37,023 -
31 days to 60 days 31E60X - -
61 days to 90 days 61E90K - -
91 days to 180 days 91E180K - -
181 days to 365 days 181E 365K - -
Over 365 days HBiE365K 1,798 1,798
38,821 1,798

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 90 days. The
Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure
that all payables are settled within the credit timeframe.

25. AMOUNTS DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2021, the amounts due to non-controlling
interests classified as current liabilities amounting to approximately
HK$5,976,141,000 (2020: approximately HK$5,572,551,000) of
which approximately HK$4,303,359,000 (2020: approximately
HK$4,171,645,000) are unsecured, interest bearing at rates
ranging from 4.68% to 7.50% (2020: 5.50% to 7.50%) per annum,
while the remaining portion of approximately HK$1,672,782,000
(2020: approximately HK$1,400,906,000) are unsecured,
interest-free, and all these amounts were either past due as at 31
December 2021 or the amounts were repayable on demand.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

26. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES

2017 Convertible Loan Notes

On 10 July 2017, the Company issued 2017 Convertible Loan
Notes which will be matured on the third anniversary of the
issue date (the “Initial Maturity Date”) with an aggregate principal
amount of United States dollar (“US$”) 50,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$391,436,000) and with coupon rate of 6.5% per
annum, settled semi-annually. The 2017 Convertible Loan Notes
can be convertible into up to an aggregate of 11,926,605,505
ordinary shares at a conversion price of HK$0.0327 per share.
The notes were entitled the holders to convert them into ordinary
shares of the Company on the Initial Maturity Date. At any time
following the first anniversary of the issue date, the Company may,
if it gives the relevant noteholder written notice not less than thirty
days prior to the proposed redemption date and obtains such
noteholder’s consent with seven business days after the day of
such written notice, redeem the whole or any part (in multiple of
US$1,000,000) of the principal amount of the 2017 Convertible
Loan Notes held by such noteholder on the early redemption date.
The effective interest rate of the liability component is 25.15% per
annum.

On 28 August 2017, the conversion price of the 2017 Convertible
Loan Notes was adjusted from HK$0.0327 per share to HK$0.327
per share pursuant to share consolidation. After adjustment, the
2017 Convertible Loan Notes can be convertible into up to an
aggregate of 1,192,660,550 ordinary shares.

On 9 January 2019, the conversion price of the 2017 Convertible
Loan Notes was adjusted from HK$0.327 per share to HK$0.26
per share pursuant to certain adjustment terms and conditions of
the 2017 Convertible Loan Notes as a result of the placing of the
Company’s shares on the same date.

On 9 January 2019 and 10 July 2019, the Company settled an
aggregate amount of US$10,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$78,000,000) to the noteholder.

The outstanding principal of the 2017 Convertible Loan Notes
with the amounts of US$40,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$312,000,000) was matured and remained unsettled at the
end of the reporting period and classified as “other borrowings”.
The Group is in the negotiation with the holder of 2017 Convertible
Loan Notes to restructure the repayment timetable of the Group’s
financial obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

26. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED) 26. R ERERE (&)

2018 Convertible Loan Notes A/2020 Convertible Loan
Notes A

On 30 July 2018, the Company issued convertible loan notes to
China OEPC Limited (“China OEPC”) which will be matured on the
second anniversary of the issue date with an aggregate principal
amount of HK$380,000,000 (2018 Convertible Loan Notes A”)
and with coupon rate of 1.5% per annum, settled quarterly in
arrears or such other date as noteholder and the Company may
agree in writing. The 2018 Convertible Loan Notes A can be
convertible into up to an aggregate of 1,151,515,151 ordinary
shares at a conversion price of HK$0.33 per share. The notes
were entitled the holder to convert them into ordinary shares of
the Company on the second anniversary of the issue date. The
Company may at any time before the maturity date by written
notices to the holder, and with consent of the holder, redeem the
2018 Convertible Loan Note A (in whole or in part) at 100% of the
principal amount of the part of the 2018 Convertible Loan Notes
A to be redeemed together with accrued and unpaid interest.
The effective interest rate of the liability component is 13.12% per
annum.

On 22 July 2020, the Company entered into a conditional
subscription agreement with China OEPC to issue the convertible
notes (the “2020 Convertible Loan Notes A”) with principal amount
of HK$380,000,000 to settle the outstanding principal of the 2018
Convertible Loan Notes A.

The 2020 Convertible Loan Notes A is unsecured, interest-free
and will be matured on the second anniversary of the issue date.
The 2020 Convertible Loan Notes A entitle the holder to convert
them into ordinary shares of the Company at any time between
the date of issue of the notes and the maturity date at an initial
conversion price of HK$0.22 (subject to adjustment, if necessary).
If 2020 Convertible Loan Notes A have not been converted or
redeemed, they will be redeemed on 20 October 2022 at par. The
2020 Convertible Loan Notes A was issued on 21 October 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

26. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED)

2018 Convertible Loan Notes A/2020 Convertible Loan
Notes A (continued)

At initial recognition, the equity component of 2020 Convertible
Loan Notes A was separated from the liability component. The
equity element is presented in equity heading “convertible loan
notes equity reserve”. The early redemption option is considered
as closely related to the host debt. The effective interest rate of
the liability component is 14.4%.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the outstanding principal was
HK$380,000,000.

2018 Convertible Loan Notes B/2020 Convertible Loan
Notes B

On 30 July 2018, the Company issued convertible loan notes to
Ms. Hao Ting (“Ms. Hao”) which will be matured on the second
anniversary of the issue date with an aggregate principal amount
of HK$15,000,000 (the “2018 Convertible Loan Notes B”) and
with coupon rate at 1.5% per annum, settled quarterly in arrears
or such other date as noteholder and the Company may agree in
writing. The 2018 Convertible Loan Notes B can be convertible
into up to an aggregate of 45,454,545 ordinary shares at a
conversion price of HK$0.33 per share. The notes were entitled
the holder to convert them into ordinary shares of the Company
on the second anniversary of the issue date. The Company may at
any time before the maturity date by written notices to the holder,
and with consent of the holder, redeem the 2018 Convertible
Loan Note B (in whole or in part) at 100% of the principal amount
of the part of the 2018 Convertible Loan Notes B to be redeemed
together with accrued and unpaid interest. The effective interest
rate of the liability component is 13.12% per annum.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

26. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED) 26. R ERERE (&)

2018 Convertible Loan Notes B/2020 Convertible Loan
Notes B (continued)

On 22 July 2020, the Company entered into a conditional
subscription agreement with Ms. Hao to issue the convertible
notes (“2020 Convertible Loan Notes B”) with principal amount
of HK$15,000,000 to settle the outstanding principal of the 2018
Convertible Loan Notes B.

The 2020 Convertible Loan Notes B is unsecured, interest-free
and will be matured on the second anniversary of the issue date.
The 2020 Convertible Loan Notes B entitle the holder to convert
them into ordinary shares of the Company at any time between
the date of issue of the notes and the maturity date at an initial
conversion price of HK$0.22 (subject to adjustment, if necessary).
If 2020 Convertible Loan Notes B have not been converted or
redeemed, they will be redeemed on 20 October 2022 at par. The
2020 Convertible Loan Notes B was issued on 21 October 2020.

At initial recognition, the equity component of 2020 Convertible
Loan Notes B was separated from the liability component. The
equity element is presented in equity heading “convertible loan
notes equity reserve”. The early redemption option is considered
as closely related to the host debt. The effective interest rate of
the liability component is 14.4%.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the outstanding principal was
HK$15,000,000.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

26. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED) 26. TR ERRE (&)
The movements of the liabilities and derivative components of the MR EREEEERTETARS 2
convertible loan notes are set out below: SHEHNMT :
2017 2018 2018 2020 2020
Convertible ~ Convertible ~ Convertible ~ Convertible ~ Convertible
LoanNotes  LoanNotesA  LoanNotesB  LoanNotesA  Loan Notes B Total
Mg BE Mg BE

R-tf RN ZR-\F ZRCRE CERCRE

TR TR TR THER TR
LEE LEE EREE EREE LG it
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR TR

Liabilities component 8&Hs

Asat 1 January 2020 W-Z-ZF-F-H 283427 362,968 14,307 = = 660,722
lssue of convertiole loan notes EITEREDZR - - = 290,352 11,461 301,813
Fffective interest expenses Vo9 BEFIBER (Hit9) 39,053 28432 1123 7933 313 71,754
Interest paid during the year EREHTIE (11,380) = = = = (11,380)
Transfer to other borrowings ERTEMEE (312,000 = = = = (312,000
Redemption of convertible loannotes BRI AR EFE R = (391,400) (15,450) = = (406,850)
As at 31 December 2020 and R-E-FF+-A=1-H

asat 1 January 2021 R-2=-%-F-F = = = 298,285 1,774 310,059
Effective interest expenses oie g~ BEFIEH3 (19 = = = 43,014 1,698 44,712
As at 31 December 2021 RZB--£+-A=1-H = - - 341,99 13472 354,771
Represented by: K

As at 31 December 2021 RZB--%+-A=1-H

Current liabiities L = = = 341,009 13472 354,771
As at 31 December 2020 R-E-FE+-A=1-A

Non-current liabities EE=t = = = 298,285 1,774 310,059
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

26. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED)

26. TR RERFER (&)

2017 2018

Convertible ~ Convertible
Loan Notes Loan Notes B Total

BE

—B-tf ZB-N\F

GIE:Y TR

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TATL TAR

Derivative component fTEIESS
As at 1 January 2020 R-E-BF—A-A (28,720) 850 (27,870)
Amortisation of deferred day one gain in profit or loss NEE#HELEAkE = (850) (850)
Changes in fair value of embedded derivative BMARTETARTEED 28,720 = 28,720
28,720 (850) 27,870
As at 31 December 2020, as at 1 January 2021 N_Z-_TF+_A=+—-H"
and as at 31 December 2021 —E-5-A-Bk
B+ A=1-H - - -

The loss on changes in fair value of embedded derivatives of the
convertible loan notes for the year ended 31 December 2020
of approximately HK$28,720,000 and amortisation of deferred
day one gain of approximately HK$850,000 were recognised as
“Changes in fair value of derivative component of convertible loan
notes” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

27.SHARE CAPITAL 27. R
Number of shares Amounts
RA#E &8
2021 2020 2021 2020
=% S 23 ZE--F —TCIEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn FET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 L ERER0.001% 7
(2020: HK$0.2) each (Z3=2F 1 0.2#7)
Authorised: pryal
Asat 1 January w—A—H 10,000,000,000  200,000,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000
Share consolidation (Note b) Rina Bt (Hitn) = (190,000,000,000) = =
Share sub-division (Note ¢) RiA i (iatc) 1,990,000,000,000 = = =
As at 31 December R+ZA=+—H 2,000,000,000,000  10,000,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR -
As at 1 January “—A—H 526,260,404  8,773,232,014 105,252 87,732
Issue of shares upon: BT EBEETRD -
Subscription of new shares (Note )  REBFR 17 (H7ta) - 1,751,976,070 = 17,520
Share consolidation (Note b) Bt &6 (Hiib) - (9,998,947,680) = =
Capital reduction (Note ¢) BRAHIR (W itc) - i (104,726) -
As at 31 December Wt+=A=1+-H 526,260,404 526,260,404 526 105,252
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

27.SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

Notes:

On 22 April 2020, the Company entered into a conditional
subscription agreements which each of the subscribers subscribe
an aggregate of 1,751,976,070 new ordinary shares at a price
ranging from HK$0.019 to HK$0.0212 per share. On 13 May
2020, 1,751,976,070 shares were completed to subscribe by
certain independent third parties at a subscription price ranging
from HK$0.019 to HK$0.0212 per share. The net proceeds of
approximately HK$36,094,000 will be intended to apply towards
repayment of indebtedness, set off outstanding indebtedness owned
by the Company to certain subscribers and general working capital.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by shareholders at
the special general meeting held on 5 August 2020, the share
consolidation of every twenty issued and unissued shares of HK$0.01
each into one consolidated share of HK$0.2 each became effective
on 7 August 2020.

At a special general meeting of the Company on 7 April 2021, a
special resolution was passed to approve the following changes to
the capital of the Company (the “Capital Reorganisation”):

(i)  Capital reduction: a reduction of the issued share capital of the
Company through a cancellation of the paid-up capital of the
Company to the extend of HK$0.199 on each of the issued
existing shares so that the nominal value of each issued shares
will be reduced from HK$0.20 to HK$0.001; and

(i)  Share sub-division: every authorised but unissued existing share
of HK$0.20 each will be sub-divided into two hundred new
shares of HK$0.001 each.

The Capital Reorganisation was completed on 7 April 2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

28.PROVISION FOR RESTORATION,
REHABILITATION AND
ENVIRONMENTAL COSTS

28. B - BERRERERE

HK$ 000

FHET

As at 1 January 2020 RZE-_TF—H—H 75,914

Imputed interest expense (Note 9) BN S FXZ (HaE9) 2,892

Exchange realignment [ 5, 3 =8 4,608

As at 31 December 2020 and as at RZEZZTF+ZA=F+—HK

1 January 2021 —ZT-—%—HA—H 83,414

Imputed interest expense (Note 9) HEN B (F29) 2,768

Exchange realignment PE 5 A 2,677

As at 31 December 2021 R=B=-—-%+=H=+—H 88,859
The restoration and rehabilitation works will be performed in the MEREEZITERR_T__F=5

years from 2022 to 2040. The provision is carried at amortised
cost at effective interest rate at 6.96% per annum.

“EMTET BENDRERFRN X
6.96%t B 2 #HK AT

29. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 29. BB IBEE
The following is the movements of deferred tax liabilities during the REERBEFEZELERIBAEY
current and prior year: wmr
Mining rights
g
HK$’000
FHT
As at 1 January 2020 R-ZZE-ZF—-A—H 1,123,848
Credited to profit or loss (Note 17) BEmAR®F11) (202,605)
Exchange realignment ER HE 54,634
As at 31 December 2020 and as at 1 January 2021 —ZZZF+ZA=+—HK
:2: F—H—H 975,877
Charged to profit or loss (Note 11) BRERMBRATZ11) 173,760
Exchange realignment fE 5 .:H% 33,600
As at 31 December 2021 R=ZB-—-%+=-A=t-—-H 1,183,237
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

29. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 20 IEFERI1EH & 15 (&)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused
estimated tax losses of approximately HK$371,809,000 (2020:
approximately HK$349,969,000) that will be expired on or before
2026 (2020: 2025). No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams.

Under the New EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from
1 January 2008 onwards (the “Post-2008 Earnings”). As at 31
December 2021, deferred taxation has not been provided for in
the consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary
difference of approximately HK$606,366,000 (2020: approximately
HK$382,355,000) attributable to the “Post-2008 Earnings” as the
Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

30.IMPAIRMENT OF MINING RIGHTS AND

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

As at 31 December 2021, for the purpose of impairment
assessments on mining rights and property, plant and equipment
(including right-of-use assets) in relation to mining operation, the
assets and liabilities of the Group’s mining operations were
allocated into five CGUs namely L 7o e i8 $H 52 B & R SRR
B2 7A (Shanxi Coal Transportation and Marketing Group
Guijiao Bolong Coal Industry Company Limited*) (“‘Bolong”), 1L/7
RGE S R B & B RIE % B IR A A) (Shanxi Coal Transportation
and Marketing Group Gujiao Liaoyuan Coal Industry Company
Limited*) (“Liaoyuan”), LA REHEE H R BIERZEER A A
(Shanxi Coal Transportation and Marketing Group Guijiao Xinfeng
Coal Industry Company Limited*) (“Xinfeng”), Fuchang and L Fa £
TIBHEE T QML ESEBR AT (Shanxi Coal Transportation
and Marketing Group Gujiao Century Jinxin Company Limited®)
(“dinxin”), which represented five subsidiaries in the mining
operation segment to determine their recoverable amounts.

* For identification purpose only
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

30.IMPAIRMENT OF MINING RIGHTS AND

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

The recoverable amounts of the five (2020: five) CGUs in the
mining operations were determined from value-in-use calculation.
Their recoverable amounts are based on certain similar key
assumptions. The management of the Group prepared cash flow
forecast derived from the most recently available financial budgets
approved by management and cash flows beyond 5-year period
were extrapolated using 2% (2020: 3%) growth rate which does
not exceed the long-term growth rate, assuming the extension
of mining licenses is available and administrative in nature. In
preparing the forecast, management made reference to the
latest verified levels of mineral reserves presently verified and the
production cost projection and the future production capacity
according to the technical report issued by John T. Boyd (“JT
Boyd”) dated as of 28 February 2017.

Impairment testing of mining rights and property,
plant and equipment in relation to mining operation
The key assumptions for the value in use calculation are those
regarding discount rates, anticipated changes to future selling
prices, future production costs, future recovery rates regarding
coal washing process, and anticipated production capacity, as
follows:

— Management used a pre-tax discount rate which was derived
from the Company’s cost of capital, representing the expected
return on the Company’s capital, and assigned the following
pre-tax discount rates to each mine approximately at:

Bolong Eisk:d
Fuchang =
Jinxin Gk
Liaoyuan ER
Xinfeng S

30. RBERELUERYE - BER

RiERE R

RBEERSELSBNPRRBACS-Z
F: A ZAKEEEREREENE
SREESE - HnlkE e R EE THEMU
FTERBRRET ASLEEEERROB
KEBABMECYBEERREBE SR
2HEA - BAAFHRAZRESREIE
2% (BT 3% )RR (W ERB
RHEER)HYE PR BREEELSA
BRESHAESHBITREYD - BB AR
2ZHPTHEELR(ITHEEDEL 2
BfAE-—T—+F =A==+ /B ZHI
RERRBAEZEFCANTEREDHEE
K EEMRATER KR RERRTE
Al

BERBEEBRE 2 REEURY

¥ HERRERENR
EREEFEEMAZERERD LM
BE - RREEFRHEE - REKLEEK
R R BEEARKE KRR R EHE
BE - FEIBIT -

- EEABRABAIRRRREADE
BARKA(ARBEAR ZFAHE
)R TIIEERE 2 EEROTA
BRI RETE

2021 2020
—E—F —E-ETF
% %

17.47 16.85
24.28 20.64
17.14 19.06
19.33 18.36
14.19 14.26
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

30. IMPAIRMENT OF MINING RIGHTS AND
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

Impairment testing of mining rights and property,

plant and equipment in relation to mining operation

(continued)

—  Future recovery rates regarding coal washing process from
raw coal to clean coal were estimated with reference to
historical data.

—  Future selling prices were estimated with reference to existing
and past quoted commodity prices in the mining industry.

— Future production costs were derived in accordance with
feasibility reports issued by JT Boyd with reference to the
mines’ preliminary design report and current industry cost
indicators.

— Future production capacity estimation was made in
accordance with the feasibility report issued by JT Boyd
dated 28 February 2017.

As extracted from valuation reports prepared by Greater China
Appraisal Limited for the recoverable amounts as at 31 December
2021 and 2020 (the “Valuation Reports”), the recoverable amounts
of the relevant mining operations CGUs are determined as follows:

Bolong fnEe
Liaoyuan BER
Xinfeng Bl&
Fuchang 'E
Jinxin Gk

30. RBEREURYE  BER
RERE(E)

HERBEBER 2 RBEEURY
% BERRERENRE

- EREIBEN R BIZARKD
W R 2R S BURhET

- AKEEZ2ERAMBEBREH®
HEME -

- RREERADRBITERELZ
ATHRELLERRE 2 KRG
HBEMBATTRRAERAE

- RRERBEJITIBEZLZBHA
—E—+tF-A -+ NBZAITH
WEHET o

HIEEFEER ARG ZEERS
(MEEBREDMIR_F_—FR_-F
“EFE+ A=t RZAUKEEHE

BRARBEEGRSELEM A RES
BMEEMD

31 December 31 December

2021 2020
—EB-—F —ETF
+=ZA=+—-8 +t=ZA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHxT FHET
4,664,192 3,755,719
2,007,563 1,580,697
395,266 274,856
696,764 600,050
312,712 553,064
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

30.IMPAIRMENT OF MINING RIGHTS AND

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

Impairment testing of mining rights and property,
plant and equipment in relation to mining operation
(continued)

The recoverable amounts of the mining rights in relation to Jinxin
(2020: Bolong and Liaoyuan) were lower than their carrying
amounts as at 31 December 2021.

The recoverable amounts of the relevant property, plant and
equipment under mining operation in relation to Xinfeng and
Jinxin (2020: Bolong, Liaoyuan and Xinfeng) were lower than their
carrying amounts as at 31 December 2021.

The directors were of the opinion that, based on the Valuation
Reports, impairment loss for the relevant mining operations CGUs
were recognised and were allocated to the assets of the relevant
mining operations CGUs, except for goodwill, pro rata with their
carrying amounts.

30. RIBERELUEYE - BERR

BiR{E (&)

BEREEBEERBREARY
% BERRERENFE

R-ZZE-_—F+-_A=+—"H B@%
E(CE-FTF : PENER) WRERE
R AT U Bl & RE IR A EBRTEI(E -

RZE-_—F+-A=+—H F@A&
EreB(CT_FTF K BREE
1) BRIE IR TR - BB MR
e R MR e BEREREE -

E=Rn - RAEERS - CHERAERE
REFHREELEMREBRILIR
HEEELNDEZHBARERBRS
ELEBEMMEERBRIN -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

30.IMPAIRMENT OF MINING RIGHTS AND 30. RERELURYE - BMER

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

Impairment testing of mining rights and property,
plant and equipment in relation to mining operation
(continued)

The following table shows the reversal of impairment loss/
(impairment loss) recognised in respect of property, plant and

equipment and mining rights of the relevant mining operations
CGUs:

R R E (E)

HERBEBER 2 RBEEURY
% BERRERENRE

TRETURBEBRSELENLZY
X BEEREBAKLRERZBERRE
BmEOREES)

Property, plant and equipment Mining rights Total

¥ - BERRE g #st
Reversal of impairment loss/  Reversal of impairment loss/  Reversal of impairment loss/
(impairment loss recognised)  (impairment loss recognised) (impairment loss recognised)

REFERD/ CRINESSE RESERE/ CRIFEER RESERE/ CRIFESE

For the year ended For the year ended For the year ended
BEUTHEILEE BEUTHHLEE BEUTHELEE
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
“Z--F —TCEE —E--F ZECEF “E--F —TCEE

t=A=t-8 t=A=t+-RA +=A=+-A

+-A=+—-8 +=ZA=+-HB +=B=+—-H

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TER FET TER TET TER TET

Bolong e 169,289 (104,813) 549,353 (428,959) 718,642 (533,772)
Liaoyuan R 142,100 (12,966) 335,636 (28,427) 477,736 (41,393)
Xinfeng &k (12,761) (26,993) 110,022 260,254 97,261 233,261
Fuchang s 102,511 2,023 74,994 1,911 177,505 3,934
Jinxin 48 (102,105) 21,787 (110,478) 24,954 (212,583) 46,741
Total @t 209,034 (120,962) 959,527 (170,267) 1,258,561 (291,229)

If the budgeted sales covering 5-year period were reduced by 5%,
while other parameters remain constant, the recoverable amount
of Bolong, Liaoyuan, Xinfeng, Fuchang and Jinxin would be
reduced to approximately HK$3,955,972,000, HK$1,854,818,000,
HK$359,321,000, HK$655,069,000 and HK$259,515,000
respectively and decrease of reversal of impairment losses
of Bolong, Liaoyuan, Xinfeng and Fuchang of approximately
HK$708,220,000, HK$152,745,000, HK$35,945,000 and
HK$41,695,000 respectively and further impairment of Jinxin of
approximately HK$53,197,000.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

31.DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES N.HENBE AR
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BZ2-_F-_—-F+-A=+—HL
FE
Disposal of subsidiaries which aggregate considered as HEAFTRKIEETEAXHNIE L E]
immaterial
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company REE-_ZE-_—F+-/A=+—HI1%F
completed to dispose the entire equity interest in Parkson Global B AARTKEEEZENB A A
Investments Limited, Graceful ldea Limited (“Graceful Idea”) ARIRIRKIEEESE AT - Graceful Idea
and Oceanic Zone Limited (“Oceanic Zone”), a wholly-owned Limited ([Graceful Ideal) &xOceanic
subsidiary of the Company, and their respective subsidiaries Zone Limited ([Oceanic Zonel) &% %
(the “Disposal Groups”) to an independent third party with total 2AZHMBARI(HEER|) 2R
consideration of US$3. The net liabilities of the Disposal Groups at F—EZBIE=F  BREBIET °
the date of disposal were as follows: HEEBRALERH aBEFENT
Consideration received: BUWRIE : HK$
BT
Cash consideration ReRE 23
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which Kk EZEZ4IECEEREBDT : HK$’000
control was lost: FET
Other receivables H b e W 5k TE 1
Cash and bank balances Re MIRTT4E 8 3
Other payables E e 5RIE (18)
Amount due to a related company FE A5 — R A R RIRKIR 92)
Net liabilities disposed of EHEREFE (106)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AT Z WG HK$’000
FHET
Consideration received BURE -
Add: net liabilities disposed of m: BEREasEFEaE 106
Gain on disposal &z e 106
Net cash outflow arising on disposal HEEEZRESREFHE HK$°000
FET
Cash consideration received BUERER(E -
Less: cash and cash equivalents balances B BEHERSRRSEEWER
disposed (3)
Net cash outflow e m L FE 3)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 H#E —ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

31.DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Disposal of Technology Venture Investments Limited

On 16 October 2020, the Company completed to dispose the
entire equity interest in Technology Venture Investments Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and its subsidiaries
(the “Disposal Group”) to an independent third party with total
consideration of US$1 (equivalent to approximately HK$7.8). The
net liabilities of the Disposal Group at the date of disposal were as

31. &/ E Q7 ()

BE2-_ZFE-_FF+-A=+—HL
FE

4 & Technology Venture Investments
Limited

RZZEZZTF+A+H ' KRAFTK
& H 2 & I8 A 5] Technology Venture
Investments Limited & E [ B A 7 ([ H &
SEDEHRET —RBEBLF=7 B
RERIEZTHEERN7.8ET) - HE
SEREERHCAEFENOT

follows:
Consideration of the disposal: HERE HKS$
BIT
Cash received BUE ¢ 8
HK$'000
FHET
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which KEEHIEZEERBED N
control was lost:
Other payable and accruals o A SR IE M B AT B (334)
Net liabilities disposed of BEHERBEFR (334)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HEMB ARz W
Consideration received ERRE -
Net liabilities disposed of EHEREFRE 334
Gain on disposal gz W 334
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

32. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

2.ABAE RS

Other than the balances and transactions with related parties BriR & B 7 o 3= E At 30 5 BT 4% 25 SR R g
disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, FREBRRZGIN  REBREAFEER
the Group has entered into the following transactions with its BEFEEAMB G IATRS ¢
related parties for the current and prior years:
Relationship Nature of transactions 2021 2020
& REME —E--F —TFF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Close family member of Interest expense of the convertible loan note
a director - 130
B0 ARREFREE ZFERAX
Shareholder Interest expense of the convertible loan note - 3,295
AR RBREREE T BRAXZ
Compensation of key management personnel FTEEEENEZHE
The remunerations of the key management personnel during the FR - TEZEEEXNBEZ2HMOT -
year were as follows:
2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind E=E#E - H4& REWEF 3,238 4,311
Retirement benefit schemes contributions 32 & Fll 5+ 2] i 3¢ 61 86
3,299 4,397

The remunerations of directors and other members of key
management were determined by the remuneration committee
having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

33.0THER BORROWINGS 33. HfttfE &

The exposure of the Group’s other borrowings are as follows: AEBEMEEZRRAT :
2021 2020
—E-— T
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHAT
Interest-bearing borrowings (Note j) REE W) 312,000 312,000
Interest-free borrowings (Note ii) R BEE @ 7i) 1,621 1,621
313,621 313,621

Notes: Btat -

(i)  Asat 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group have other borrowings
related to 2017 Convertible Loan Notes which were matured on 10
July 2020 and remain unsettled at the end of the reporting period.
The amount is unsecured and interest bearing at coupon rate of 6.5%.
The Group is in the negotiation with the holder of 2017 Convertible
Loan Notes to restructure the repayment timetable of the Group’s
financial obligations.

(i)  The remaining portion is matured convertible loan notes issued in
prior periods that remain unsettled at the end of the reporting period.
The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(i)

RZE=_—FR-_Z-_ZTF+-_A=+
—H AEEFE-_ZT—tFABRE
HREBRERNEMES  ZEEEER
—ZE-TELATRIE  BRRER
KNMABEE - ZRBAEEBRIESE
BR65%TE - AEBEH_T—+F
T%k%ﬁ%#ﬁﬁA%ﬁ LAEAR
EEPBETZERFME -

BTHD RPN BEEHRRMEITZE RS
BEERERE  RBEMRDAREE -
ZERALEER  REBRAREXRE
}ao

34. COMMITMENTS 34. &I
(a) Capital commitments (a) EAENE
2021 2020
—EB=-—-F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHEIT
Contracted but not provided for BRTHMB R -
in respect of:

- acquisition of property, plant and - WY - BRE REE

equipment 759,442 917,233
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

34. COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Environmental contingencies

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has not incurred any
significant expenditure specific for environmental remediation
and, apart from the provision for restoration, rehabilitation and
environmental costs (Note 28), has not accrued any amounts
for environmental remediation relating to its operations. Under
existing legislation, the directors believe that there are no
probable liabilities that will have a material adverse effect on
the financial position or operating results of the Group. Laws
and regulations protecting the environment have generally
become more stringent in recent years and could become
more stringent in the future. Environmental liabilities are
subject to considerable uncertainties which affect the Group’s
ability to estimate the ultimate cost of remediation efforts.

These uncertainties include:

(i) the exact nature and extent of the contamination at the
mine;

(i) the extent of required cleanup efforts;

(i) varying costs of alternative remediation strategies;

(iv) changes in environmental remediation requirements; and

(v) the identification of new remediation sites.

The amount of such future cost is indeterminable due
to such factors like the unknown magnitude of possible
contamination and the unknown timing and extent of the
corrective actions that may be required. Accordingly, the
outcome of environmental liabilities under proposed for future
environmental legislation cannot be reasonably estimated at
present but could be material.

34, &I (48)
(b) BIERBEL

R-EBE-_—F+-_A=+—H K
EETEELAETANEANREER
X - BT IE - BERRERKAE
Bl (M 3E28) 5 » TNEFHEEZE
ERMNRBEANERTIMNEE - B
BIRITED - EFRR - WEABE
EEBegH RS R FMRRFTLL
XBEERERTIZENET - R
BIRRAEZEANOF L RS
HERFE - KRR B IR E BEGE o
REEFAAGTIREZTHEREKM
- mMZzERREFENEE MG
R TAERA K ARIBES] ©

It EH I HEE R R

) BEANSEANEENLE R
=3

(i) FTRBEIIENEE
(i) EL AR G Y RIS
(v) REHUATHES : &
V) FERO B o

ERZERZE  RIRGENEFRLE
PS5 R B E M MoK BE R A BE TR
RELEETHNREREE @ &
REETEARKRAELHE - At - ]
HfTﬁﬁéfifﬁ?ﬁfiX% ﬁiﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁk
BHIRREMEER  EXERT B
BEKX -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

35.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 3B.BIBZNAIRS

Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company:
The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”), was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 28 May 2015 for the
primary purpose of providing incentives to directors and eligible
employees and loan arrangement with an independent third party
(the ‘Lender’), and will expire on 27 May 2025. Under the Scheme,
the directors may grant options to eligible employees, including
directors and directors of its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares
in the Company.

Options granted must be taken up within 28 days of the date
upon which it is made provided that no such offer shall be open
for acceptance after the earlier of the 10th anniversary of the date
of adoption or the termination of Scheme or the participant to
whom such offer is made has ceased to be a participant.

A non-refundable nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable
by the grantee upon acceptance of an option. An option shall
be deemed to have been accepted when the duplicate letter
comprising acceptance of the option duly signed by the participant
together with the said consideration of HK$1.00 is received by
the Company. The exercise price is determined by the board of
directors at its absolute discretion but in any event will not be less
than the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in
the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant, which must be a business day; (i) the average closing price
of the shares for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant; and (jii) the nominal value of the share on the date of
grant.

As at 31 December 2021, the number of shares in respect of
which may be issued upon exercise of share options granted
and remain outstanding under the Share Option Scheme was
1,000,000 (2020: 1,000,000), representing 0.19% (2020: 0.19%)
of the shares of the Company in issue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)
Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company:
(continued)

The following is details of specific categories of options which are
outstanding as at 31 December 2021 and 2020:

Vesting Vesting Exercisable
Grantee proportion  period period
ERA GRILE  BED TS

Option granted on 24 May 2018

Consultant 50.00% Immediately vested 24 May 2018 to
23 May 2028
Eli SIREE “Z-\ERAZfTWAZE
R \FRAZT=A
50.00% 24 May 2018 to 24 May 2019 to
23 May 2019 23 May 2028

“E-\ERAZtWEE ZZ-AETAR-1MAZ
ZE-hERAZt=B ZE-\f¥RAB=-1=H

The exercise price and number of share options outstanding were
adjusted as a result of share consolidation which has become
effective on 7 August 2020.

35. R IR 5 (%)

ARz EREEBRESTE

()

RZBZ—FRZE_FTF+=A=+
—BEARITERERE  ABERIFEL

T

Number of

share options

exercisable

asat

Exercise 31 December

Exercise price Fair value 2021 and

price  (adjusted)  at grant date 2020

m-s- 3

- St 22

+-H_+ A

R RARUAHZ nfe

(i (&8%) AFE  BREYA
HKS$ HK$ HK$
BT BT B
REB-NERA-THARLZERE

0.35 7.000 0.08127 500,000

0.35 7.000 0.08315 500,000

TEERRHAITEEBRERBEERRN T
ZENALBERZBDEHELAE -

GREEN LEADER HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED 4k iR je =B AR E] 179



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

35.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 35. R 2+ 5 (&)
(CONTINUED)
Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company: APRZEREEBRESTE
(continued) (#&)
Details of the numbers of outstanding share options during the REBEE_T-—FR=_FT_FTF+-H
years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows: =t+—HIEFEHRITEBRESE F
BT :

Outstandingasat ~ Exercisable as at
31 December 31 December

2020, as at 2020, as at
Outstanding Lapsed  Adjusted Cancelled  1January2021 1 January 2021
as at during during during and as at 31 and as at 31

1January2020  theyear  theyear  theyear  December2021  December 2021
R-2-%F it . 3

t=R=t-8- tZA=t-A:

Z8--%-f- -B>-%-8-8

b 23 k=%=-% k=%=-f
-A-H RER RER RER  tZB=t-B  tZR=1-A
HALTE 3 FiEd Fix HAITE ¥
'000 000 '000 000 '000 '000
T ) ) T ) T
QOption granted on 14 July 2015 RZE-RELATMA 42,000 (1,600) (38,380) (2,020) - -
Rit 2 BiRE
Option granted on 29 May 2017 RZE—+ERA 72,967 S (69,319) (3,648) = o
ZTARRLZ ERE
Option granted on 2 November 2017 RZE-tE+-A=H 58374 (58,374) = = = =
it BiRE
Option granted on 24 May 2018 RZE-\FHA-TREA 20,000 - (19,000 = 1,000 1,000
it BiRE
Option granted on 17 January 2019 RZE-NE-A+tA 730,000 - (693500 (36,500) = =
it e
923,341 (69,974 (820,199) (42,168) 1,000 1,000
Weighted average exercise price (HK$) ~ METHTEEAT) 0.1699 0.3082 2.9879 7.000
Cancellation of share options during the year ended 31 December REEZ-Z-_THF+T_A=+—HIEF
2020 as a result of exercise price is significant higher than recent FERTEERESRARARMD AN
market price of the Company’s shares. B ek s B AR RE o
There was no granted, exercised, lapsed and cancelled during the HEz_Z-_—F+_A=+—HBLHF
year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: no granted and exercised). B BERY - 17H - XBEEHECE
—EF  ERERITE) -
The Group recognised the total share-based payment expenses REE-ZE-_FF+-_A=+—HIEHF
of approximately HK$989,000 for the year ended 31 December g K& IE¢E$ A 2 AR R R
2020 in relation to share options granted by the Company. #RR% 19 S - 2 £9989,00078 7T ©
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35.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 35. R 2R 5 (&)
(CONTINUED)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company:
(continued)

These fair values were calculated using Black-Scholes model with

binomial tree method. The inputs into the model were as follows:

KRRz EREERBRETE

(%)

ZERNTFEDERMAER - H BT g
EERE R —HARREBEFTE - R

A7 ABEOT -
Options Options
Options Options granted on Options granted on
granted on grantedon 2 November granted on 17 January
14 July 2015 29 May 2017 2017 24 May 2018 2019
R-ZE-12F RIZE-tF RIE—tF RIE-NF RIZ-IE
tA+tmA E®A=t+hA +-A=ZR EA=tMmA —-At+tA
REZERE BbzBRE RHzERE REzBRE RbzBRE
Weighted average share price  JIEFHR(E
(HKS) (&) 0.136 0.035 0.365 0.280 0.049
Exercise price (HK$) IEEET) 0.1500 0.0352 0.3680 0.3500 0.0544
Expected volatility (%) TEH 18 (%) 74.52 53.73 39.80 39.28 54.36
Expected life (year) BHEH(F) 10.00 10 10.00 10.01 10.00
Risk-free rate (%) A2 30 102 (%) 1.9254 1.2702 1.7771 2.2141 2.0282
Expected dividend yield (%) TRHARR B 2 (%) - - . - -
Suboptimal factor UNEES
Directors BE 2.8 2.8 N/AT N/AT N/ATNEF
Senior management and AREEER
employees B8 15 N/ARNE 15 N/ATE 2.2
Consultants B f N/ANE A N/AT N/ATN P 15 2.2

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility
of the Company’s share price over the previous year. The
expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on
management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability,
exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

BEHRERARRBRDREREF ZE
SERIEETE o AR ERFHER
REEE < &EMB  ATEZEE

TERVIRITRERZ

=AY
=

fEL TR -
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36.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 36. A A B AR R R
THE COMPANY
2021 2020
—E-—-F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FHET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment mE - BEREE 1,113 1,727
Investments in subsidiaries RIB AR ZIKE 5,208,132 5,208,132
5,209,245 5,209,859
Current assets REEE
Deposits, prepayment and other receivables Be - BAFIERE M EREIE 1,825 2,435
Amount due from a director el — 2 EEFHIA = 195
Cash and cash equivalents B kReEEY 366 727
2,191 3,357
Current liabilities REaE
Other payables Hip e 308 25,441 6,758
Amounts due to subsidiaries e B A R R = 57,852
Amount due to a director BN —REEHA 14,863 13,108
Other borrowings Hinfg & 313,621 313,621
Liabilities component of convertible loan notes RREFERE 2 BEDH 354,771 =
Lease liabilities HERE 1,014 1,681
709,710 393,020
Net current liabilities nREBEEFE (707,519) (389,663)
Total assets less current liabilities EELERRBEE 4,501,726 4,820,196
Capital and reserves EXR#HE
Share capital (REN 526 105,252
Reserves & B 4,436,207 4,356,138
Total equity ERAHE 4,436,733 4,461,390
Non-current liabilities *RBERE
Lease liabilities HERE 181 =
Amount due to a related company e —RE R TIFIA 64,812 48,747
Liabilities component of REEFZEZ8EDH
convertible loan notes - 310,059
64,993 358,806
4,501,726 4,820,196
Signed on its behalf of the board of directors by: HTIEERREFSEE -
Mr. Zhang Sanhuo Mr. Tse Michael Nam
R=ZEXE BRI EAE
Director Director
- E2
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36.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 36. A2 T B A AR R 3k ()

THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Reserves of the Company KAT®EE
Convertible
Share loan notes
Share  Contributed options Other equity Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total
TRRER
RORE  BARS BRERE  HtEE ZBERARE  ZHER @t
HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL TAR TAL TAL TAL TAL TAL
As at 1 January 2020 WZE-TF-F-H 8926412 1,116,554 108,541 74,492 - (5858629 4,367,370
Loss and total comprehensive ~ £EBBR2ERX
expense for the year g = = = = = (133,706) (133,706)
Subscription of new shares ~ REHRH 18,670 = = = = = 18,670
Share issuing expense RipEORS (96) = = = = = (9%)
Cancellation of share options % $EEE R 12 - = (108,699) = = 108,699 =
Recognition of equity seffled ~ BRL\EREE Y
share-based payments Rip%ff - - 989 = = = 989
lssue of convertible loan notes BT TR ETZHE - = = = 49,054 = 49,054
Deemed contributionfroma~~ RE—&REZ
shareholder BIETE - - - 53,857 = = 53,857
Transferred to accumulated ~ BEZZEER
losses - (1,116,554) - - - 1,116,564 -
Asat 31 December 2020and ~ R=Z-T%
asat 1 January 2021 +-A=1-H
R=B=-%
—R-H 8,944,986 - 831 128,349 49,064 (4,767,082 4,356,138
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FEBBR 2L
expense for the year ek = = = = = (24,657) (24,657)
Capital reduction TR B = 104,726 = = = = 104,726
Share premium cancellation R EE (8,944,986) 8,944,986 = = = = =
As at 31 December 2021 RZB=-%
+ZA=Z1+-H - 9,049,712 831 128,349 49,054  (4,791,739) 4,436,207
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37.€MTH
@ EMIAZHE

37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Categories of financial instruments

(b)

2021 2020
—E- —E-FTF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT FHET
Financial assets SREE
At amortised cost - I IDWN 351,343 225,711
Financial liabilities cHAas
At amortised cost B HACAS 7,852,007 7,346,780

Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
receivables, refundable deposits, bills receivables, discounted
bills receivables, other receivables, amounts due from related
companies, amounts due from directors, cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other payables (exclude contract
liabilities, accrued staff costs and other taxes payables),
amount due to a director, liabilities and derivative components
of convertible loan notes, other borrowings, amounts due
to related companies and amounts due to non-controlling
interests. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk and interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how
to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
Market risk
Currency risk
Certain financial assets and financial liabilities are
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency
of the respective group companies.

The Group’s currency exposure based on the information
provided to key management is as follows:

37.¢R T A&
(b) Bii5E B IR B AZ R BUR ()

45 /3

fﬁ%ﬂ/ﬁf
ETeREERERBENEER

AEBMREEE AN EEETE -

RIEERHETIEEEEZER - K
SEEERRNT

Cambodian
dollar
HK$ RMB Us$ (“KHR”) Total
RERRE
BT AR¥ EH (@) At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER FER FER
As at 31 December 2021 RZB=-F
TZR=+-H
Non-derivative financial assets FTEEREE
Cash and cash equivalents BeRkBeZEY 334 145,762 43 2 146,141
Amounts due from related companies  FEMEE L BIFUE 9 6,160 = = 6,169
Trade and other receivables excluding B 5 R EhEU A
non-financial assets TeRkeRERE 1,436 191,024 6,573 = 199,033
1,779 342,946 6,616 2 351,343
Non-derivative financial liabilities FiTEeREE
Trade payables BHERTIE = 38,821 = = 38,821
Other payables excluding Hi BRI T88
non-financial liabilities FemaRE 25,547 982,192 1,338 - 1,009,077
Liabiliies component of convertible loan ~ ATAREHZEEEHH
notes 354,771 - - = 354,771
Amount due to a director B —ZEERE 14,821 = = = 14,821
Amounts due to non-controlling interests ~ JE{< JEIR Rk B 57 0E - 597614 = - 597614
Amounts due to related companies ERBEEARFE 64,812 79,943 = = 144,755
Other borrowings HinfE & = = 313,621 = 313,621
459,951 7,077,097 314,959 - 17,852,007
Net non-derivative financial EOTESR
(liabilities)/assets (B EEFE (458,172)  (6,734,151)  (308,343) 2 (7,500,664)
Currency exposure of NEBEEER
non-derivative financial EXHEZETESR
liabilities net of those SEFECENER
denominated in the functional
currencies of the respective
group entities - - (308,343) - (308,343)
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37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 37.£@ I B (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) M BREKREEBZEREEGE)
(continued)
Market risk (continued) 5 e (48)
Currency risk (continued) B m b ()
Cambodian
dollar
HK$ RMB Us$ (‘KHR") Total
REFREA
B ARE e (i) =

HK$'000  HK§000  HKE000  HKEO00  HK$'000
TAR TAR TAR TAR TAT

As at 31 December 2020 A\ZZ-FE
+-A=1+-H
Non-derivative financial assets FITEEREE
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEFEY 594 47,354 147 2 48,097
Amounts due from directors EWREEFIA 195 40 = = 235
Amounts due from related companies  EMEE L BIFUE 9 5,971 = = 5,980
Trade and other receivables excluding 25 R A EKZE
non-financial assets TeEEeREE 1,306 166,153 3,940 - 171,399
2,104 219,518 4,087 2 225,711
Non-derivative financial liabilities FireEcmat
Trade payables BoEMRIE = 1,798 = = 1,798
Other payables excluding HitERFIE - TR
non-financial liabilities FERAR 13,549 996,203 - - 1,009,752
Liabilities component of convertible loan AT EHEE & EHH
notes 310,059 - - - 310,059
Amount due to a director EN—BE2HE 13,108 - - = 13,108
Amounts due to non-controlling interests ~ FE{ I Hﬂ&ﬁ?ﬂ = 5,572,551 = - 5572551
Amounts due to related companies ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁk AFE 48,839 77,052 = = 125,891
Other borrowings HifEE - - 313,621 - 313,621
385,555 6,647,604 313,621 - 7,346,780
Net non-derivative financial KSR
(labilities)/assets (BfE)/BEFE (383,451)  (6,428,086)  (309,534) 2 (7,121,069)
Currency exposure of NHBEEER®
non-derivative financial BB FITESR
liabilties net of those BEFEERER
denominated in the functional
currencies of the respective
group entities - = (309,534) = (309,534)
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37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

As at 31 December 2021, assets and liabilities denominated
in US$ arise mainly from entities with functional currency of
HKS$ (2020: HKS). For the sensitivity analysis related to the
currency risk of US$, as HKS is pegged to USS$, management
considered the foreign currency risk exposure to these US$
assets and liabilities is insignificant.

The transactions and monetary assets denominated in KHR
is minimal, the Group considers there has no material foreign
exchange risk exposure in respect of KHR.

As assets and liabilities denominated in RMB arise mainly from
entities with functional currency of RMB, the Group considers
there has no material foreign exchange risk exposure in
respect of RMB.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to fixed-rate amounts due to non-controlling interests and
convertible loan notes.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, the management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

37. ¢ T H (&)
(b) Bii5E B IR B AZ R BUR ()

5 /3 e ()

Bk (B

AR B AW BMINEEIPBEK - A
- BEEEEEINERR  TER

ﬁm%%%)ﬁﬂﬁéﬁ?l\%ﬂﬁﬁ .

HERE T
R-B-—F+=-A=+—08 "
ELEZEERABEEIZAN
BL(ZE_ZTF : BL) B E
MEEMEL - EZTEER
BREBZSERESINTME » ARE
TLEETTHES  MEERERAZS
ELEENBEBEEHINERRE
e

NinBFAEZRXRZREBEER
L AEERBYEARERCE
RIMNERS -

HRUAARKHEZEERBET
EREMEEER/ARB ZER -
AEERS/ABBBAARBZEX
SN B o

FIE @B
AEEEGS RN FERESE
SRERTHERERESE > ATE
FIEER -

7R £R 18 3R B I A A ] ) =R 0 IR
e AW EREEENERAR
YT EREREREEBLHPEAMXE
R o
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37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 37. &€/ T A(E)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) M BREKREEBZEREEGE)

(continued)

Credit risk EEREE

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default EERBRESFAIBEENESY
on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to TE 1 1 28 B 7N £R [ B 7 B R | [
the Group. At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s c MIEHR - AEEREEHAR
maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial %l%&ﬁﬂﬁ%l‘éﬁﬁﬁ’] SEERR
loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation WO T BRREF I RERBITREM
by the counterparties arises from the carrying amount of B DNEARGEUBRARAR

the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises
the following categories:

Category

Pl

Performing

Rif

Doubtful

R

In default

X

Write-off

A

Description

EL:

The counterparty has a low

risk of default and does
not have any past-due
amounts
HFEHENRRE  BE
Efalie B RRIE

There has been a significant

increase in credit risk
since initial recognition

BT ERAREERRA
LR

There is evidence indicating

the asset is credit-
impaired

ERBERABECREE
A

There is evidence indicating

that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty
and the Group has
no realistic prospect of
recovery
BREBRPBBABRRE
B R A E R
IR & 4 [0 78 £
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Basis for recognising
ECL of trade
receivables

BRESEUWRERSE

BEEFBEzEE

Lifetime ECL — not credit-
impaired

BREFEHANEREE
B8 - WIEERIE

Lifetime ECL — not credit-
impaired

EEFEMNERER
B8 - YIEERIE

Lifetime ECL — credit-
impaired

EEFERNRBER
B8 - EERIE

Amount is written off

TR 5

Zxaﬁﬁmirﬂéﬁﬁ'\],ﬁﬁﬁ@ °

AEHEBANEERR
TR -

AFRERE

Basis for recognising ECL of
other financial assets
BREtEREEABEERSE
ZEE

12m ECL

12{8 AR BEEEE

Lifetime ECL — not credit-
impaired

EEFENNRREEEE -
YIHEERIE

Lifetime ECL — credit-impaired
BEFEPHHEREESE -
EERE

Amount is written off

FRIR AR M 55



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group is exposed to concentration of credit risk at 31
December 2021 on trade receivables from the Group’s
top trade debtor and top five trade debtors amounting
approximately to 84% and 100% (2020: 83% and 100%) of
the Group’s trade receivables respectively.

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has delegated
its finance team to develop and maintain the Group’s
credit risk grading to categorise exposures according
to their degree of risk of default. The finance team uses
publicly available financial information and the Group’s own
historical repayment records to rate its major customers and
debtors. The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its
counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate
value of transactions concluded is spread amongst approved
counterparties.

Trade receivables are assessed based on provision matrix,
except for trade receivables with gross carrying amounts
of approximately HK$130,000 (2020: approximately
HK$18,516,000), which are credit-impaired, that are
assessed individually. The Group performed impairment
assessment for the trade receivables equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s
historical credit loss experience does not indicate significantly
different loss patterns for different customer segments,
the loss allowance based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group’s different customer bases.

37. ¢ T H (&)
(b) MBEMREEBEREEE)

=B ()
W-E-—F+=-R=+—H " &
SEREREAEEZAESHER
AREXREGEBAE S EWFIE
EEETRAR  DRMEAEEES
JEW R TE84% M 100%(ZE=-F
F 1 84% % 100%) °

SBERIEERR  ARECZ
REMBEEREREERTANEE
BEERBRTR - IR EQRR
RESRRSE VHEFERR
A MM BEMEANEEEEBE
EFRLBUFEETEERRES
A ARBEZEERBRREHFT
ZIEENRZSEERE  MEKR
ZNREEIHRNZERZHTE
o

B S RWGIBIR B E BT - B
Z 5 EWFIEREA%E4130,000
BIL(ZEZZFF : #18,516,000/8
) (EAEERE) EBTFMHI o K
SEZBHEEN2HEREEERE
RS EEHETE S EWGIERNRER
- BSHBAREBERGTE - R
BAREEMNBIEEBBELR T
RAEPHBEABENBRIL EE
228 AUREREBEBEBERIGTE
BlEBERIYRE-—TROAEE
HTREFEE -
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37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which are
assessed collectively based on provision matrix except for
those who are credit-impaired:

As at 31 December 2021

37. 2@ T A&

(b)

MR EE B R R BUR ()

=B (E)
TEREHREBASRERERFHRERE
SRFGHZESIRUFAEERR
MEH - EEREERI

R-ZE-_—H+=-B=+—H

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FEHSEE REAE EiERE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT F#ExT
Current (not past due) EHCREEH) = 77,017 =
As at 31 December 2020 R-E_TF+_A=+—H
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEEIBEX REAEE EERHE
% HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHT FHT
Current (not past due) & (CRaHER) = 110,782 =
1-30 days past due #HI1-30K = 6,948 =
31-60 days past due #HI31-60X = = =
61-90 days past due #HIB1-90X = - -
Over 90 days past due 1 ER R R O0K = 125 =
117,855 -

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.

As at 31 December 2021, trade receivables with the
amounts of approximately HK$130,000 (2020: approximately
HK$18,516,000) considered as credit-impaired are assessed
individually.
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37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

For refundable deposits, other receivables, amounts due
from related companies and amounts due from directors,
the management makes periodic individual assessment on
the recoverability of deposits and other receivables based
on historical settlement records, past experience, and also
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information.

Based on ECL assessment, except for amounts of
approximately HK$36,285,000 (2020: approximately
HK$45,095,000) were considered as default and recognised
as lifetime ECL (credit-impaired), the credit exposures for
refundable deposits, other receivables, amounts due from
related companies and amounts due from directors are
considered as performing under the Group’s current credit
risk grading framework because the counterparties have a low
risk of default and does not have material past-due amounts.
During the year ended 31 December 2021, impairment
loss of approximately HK$339,000 (2020: approximately
HK$35,946,000) was recognised.

As at 31 December 2021, deposits and other receivables
with the amounts of approximately HK$36,285,000 (2020:
approximately HK$45,095,000) of loss allowance considered
as credit-impaired.

The Group sets different categories for customers settling
with bills according to internal credit rating assessment. The
Group does not accept bills from customers with low credit
rating.

The credit risks on bank balances are limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
credit-rating agencies.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows.

37.¢R T A&
(b) Bii5E B IR B AZ R BUR ()

=B R e KRR E TS (E)
RAREZRS  HMEWEIE - E
W= N R IA KB W E ERIAM
T EREERBRBTAEETHE B
FRBULNBEEREBEEIEZ
AEEER 2 EEREEER &
H¥ iR & K& E b k1B 2 7] W E
MEHEITE RIFTAS o

mﬁﬁﬂﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬁ B 49
36,285,000 L (ZZ=2FF : 4
45,095,000/ J0) # 18 A& 49 10 1#
REBERAFEHBEHEEBRE S
REEEBHB)I - AJREERS Hi
JEUTFRIE  FEUNREE N B F0E KR
WEEFBEEE EERR « AR
SERBEERRTRELET -
AAERZEFENRBERBEEKX
BHEE REE-_T-—F+=
B=+—HLLFE  BEERREE
H49339,0008 L (ZE=ZF : 4
35,946,000/ 7T) °

R-FBE-_—F+=-A=+—8 " &
& N H b & Uk 5k T8 4936,285,000/%
TL(ZZEZFF : 445,095,000/
TR EEREERAEERE -

AEERBEABEAFSROTE -
HEFPMEBEERETRES -
AEEIEZERASFABRENTF
MRE -

RUTEBZEERRER - BRY
FhORAEREENQKBIETS
EEFRZRT -

REBEZEE
EEADESRRE  AEEEXR
NEFERERARERNZRE MR
T EEBYKFE Mﬁﬁﬁglﬁﬁ
ELRBERERERB ZFE
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37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 37. &€/ T A(E)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) B175E b B3R B 42 & BUR (8)
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) B EZE R (E)
The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual TRZHEEXRPFIARERIEDT
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the EEBMBERTEHNIEBR
agreed repayment terms. The table has been drawn up based ZERBBERNEE & AIHERMNRK
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on AffzemABE s R MBERERE
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. R XPEEMNERASREN
The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. =

Within More than More than

1 year 1yearbut  2years but Total Carrying
oron less than less than More than undiscounted amount as at
demand 2years 5years 5years  cashflows 31 December
AR Rt+=A

—-FRg —FNE BENL RenE S=f
EEX EREER  ERIFR BEHRE &8 ZIEE

HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000
TATL TATL TATL TATL TATL TAT

2021 “EC-F
Non-derivative financial liabilities FfT4&REE
Trade payables BAREMTE 38,821 = = = 38,821 38,821
Other payables ARERE 680,590 328,487 = - 1,000077 1,009,077
Amount due to a director ER—2EZ5E 14,821 = = = 14,821 14,821
Other borrowings s 313,621 = = = 313,621 313,621
Amounts due to related companies  JEfS &R A5E = 144,755 = = 144,755 144,755
Amounts due tonon-contraling T IEERRER A

interests 5,976,141 = = - 5976141 5,976,141
Liabilties components of convertble A RE HZiE 2

loan notes aEHs 395,000 = = = 395,000 354,771
Lease liabilfies HEER 3,875 13,459 6,272 13,938 37,544 27,506

7,422,869 486,701 6,272 13938 7,920,780 7,879,513

2020 —Z-%F
Non-derivative financial liabilities FfT4¢RERE
Trade payables BoEMATE 1798 = = = 1,798 1,798
Other payables AfbfENzE 567,640 422112 = - 1009752 1,009,752
Amount due to a director ER—ZEZTE 13,108 = = = 13,108 13,108
Other borrowings HipfeE 313,621 = = = 313,621 313,621
Amounts due to related companies  fEFTBAE L RIFIE = 125,891 = = 125,801 125,801
Amounts due tonon-controling ~ JE( FEIERR B 500B

interests 5,869,363 - i . 5,869,363 5,572,551
Liablities components of convertble  FIEREHZ1E 2

loan notes BESS - 395,000 = = 395,000 310,059
Lease liabilties HEERE 12,175 38,451 6,508 15,439 72,573 59,350

6,797,705 981,454 6,508 15439 7,801,106 7,406,130
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a

recurring basis

Except for disclosed as below, the directors consider that the
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost approximate to their fair values:

Liabilities component of
convertible loan notes

The fair value of liabilities component of convertible loan notes
is classified as level 3 category in fair value hierarchy which
have been determined in accordance with effective interest
method with the most significant inputs being the effective

interest rate.

37. ¢RI H(&E)
(b) BA 75 B

W HRAEE R

EEERRBEEGE)

L/( Z_\\qzﬁafiz
FEEEHEEREHMEBZLF

]
BRTXFEEEN  EFRE &
BEKAARCEREERSREA
Bz EREEREEA T ERS
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-THF
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
BREE AEE BRTEE ~NEE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
FERT FHExT FHT FHET
AR EREE Y
BEEHD 354,771 351,067 310,059 326,353
THRERERE Y AERH 2 AT

GREEN LEADER HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED 4% <815

BEYEALNTFERBRZE=E )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

38. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY

The following table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
of the year or assets of the Group. To give details of the other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

3BB.ANFAEEMBR A 2515

TRIHEEARIERERREFE
RERBEECARBNBAR - EFR
BWMIHEMHBAR . FFEEHA

BBMIE -

Place

[country of

incorporation  Issued and fully paid

andkindof  share capital/ Class of Proportion of
Company legal entity  registered capital  shares held ownership interest

AMAIEE BERAR
/EFREA  BRBE/

A8 EEEN  HhEs FrERGRH RRERRLY

2021 2020
—§--F CT°%%

% %

Held directly:

BERE:

Guang Cheng Group Limited BVl USS1 Ordinary 100 100

BREEERLA ERRNEE 15T il

Sanmu Investment Holdings Limited BWI US$1 Ordinary 100 100

SAREBRERAR ERRNEE 15T 2R

Held indirectly:

BERE

Bilion Zone Development Limited HongKong' ~ HK$10,000 Ordinary 100 100

KEERERLR BB 10,000%7 i

Hong Kong OEPC Limited HongKong!  HKS2 Ordinary 100 100

BRERRTLERAT Bt Vi i3]

North Asia Financial Investment HongKong' ~ HKS1 Ordinary 100 100

Holdings Limited &' 137 g

FEERRARRERAT

Lexing Holdings Limited BWI US$1 Ordinary 100 100

SRERERAE ERRNEE 15T 2R

Sky Rainbow Ventures Limited BWI US$1 Ordinary 100 100

RIARERAE ERRNEE 15T 2R

Seasonal Global Investment Co., Ltd. Cambodia2  US$10,000,000 Registered capital 100 100

R 10,000000% MR
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Proportion of voting power
held by the Company
ARAREREELE

2021 2020
“E--F CEC%E
% %
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100

Principal activities

IREH

Investment holding
RERR

Investment holding
RERR

Investment holding

RAZR

Investment holding

RAZR

Investment holding

RAZR

Investment holding
RERR

Investment holding
RERR

Cuttivation and processing of
cassava starch for sale

BRRNTAERRHE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MRS R R M aE
For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

38. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES B.ARNAETEME A A 2715 (&)
OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Place
[country of
incorporation Issued and fully paid
andkindof  share capital/ Class of Proportion of Proportion of voting power
Company legal entity  registered capital  shares held ownership interest held by the Company Principal activities

AMAIEE BRAR
/EFREA BRBE/

28 EREN  ZREs FisRHER BRERELS ARARBRERLA  ITEE
2021 2020 2021 2020
Z%--f  CZCRE ZB--F TR
% % % %

Held indirectly: (continued)

BESE: ()

Bolong® PRC' RMB23,924,200 Registered capital 49 49 56 56 Coal mine development
o e ARB94200m  HRER RBR%
Fuchang* PRC! RMB2,000,000 Registered capital 34 34 56 56 Coal mining and sales of coking
- kil ARB2000000n  HEEA coal and other coal products
BRARARHEEER
EfERER
Jiangxi Jin Chuang Information PRC' RMB2,000,000 Registered capital 100 100 100 100 [T service, system integration
Technology Limitedt ! ARB2000000m &AL EARERE - ZHEN
IELEIESRAERAR
Jiangxi Hengchuang Energy Investments ~ PRC' RMBG0,300,000 Registered capital 100 100 100 100 Coal trading and new energy
Co., Ltd* BE ARE60300000n  HHEA development
IRBEHEREREERAR BREZ R RRE
Jinxin* PRC! RMB50,080,000 Registered capital 49 49 56 56 Coal mining and sales of coking
£& R AEE500800007  HTEA coal and other coal products
RRAFARHEERR
AtRRER
Liaoyuan* PRC! RMB2,000,000 Registered capital 49 49 56 56 Coal mining and sales of coking
it kil ARB2000000n  HHEA ool and other coal products
BRARARHEEER
EfERER
Shanxi Changtong Energy Share Co., Ltd*  PRC RMB100,000,000 Registered capital 100 100 100 100 Energy development and
LEE R RERNERAR e ARE100,0000007  EBEE equipment traing
WRREREEES

GREEN LEADER HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED #4781l B AR A E 195



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

38. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES B.ARNAETEME A A 2715 (&)
OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Place
[country of
incorporation Issued and fully paid
andkind of  share capital/ Class of Proportion of Proportion of voting power
Company legal entity  registered capital  shares held ownership interest held by the Company Principal activities

AMHIRE BRAR
/EFREA  BRBE/

A7 ERER HRER FERAER ERERZLA ROAMERERLA  FTER
2021 2020 2021 2020
ZE--f C-Z-%TF  ZEC-f -EZCEf
% % % %

Held indirectly: (continued)

RERE: ()

Shanxi Coal* PRC! RMB370,000,000 Registered capital 49 49 56 56 Coal operating and trading
15557 hE ARES0000000 AR BREBRES
Shanxi Green Leader Corporate PRC! RMB10,000,000 Registered capital 100 100 100 100 IT service, system integration,
Management Consuitancy Limited* HaE AR%10000000  EBEX sales of equipments and
LESELEERHAERAT services
BARRRE - 205K
ECIE Y
Shanxi Rulying Investment and PRC! RMB10,000,000 Registered capital 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
Management Co., Lid* Gl ARE10,000000m  HBER RERHK
LERBREERERAR
Talyuan Zhituo Investment Consultant PRC! RMB1,100,000 Registered capital 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
Co., Litd* R ARE1100000m  EBEE RARR
ARTBERERRERAR
Xinfeng* PRC! RMBG62,000,000 Registered capital 49 49 56 56 Coal mine development
E1 ! AR62000000m  HEBEE BERE
Gujiao Hengbattai Coal Trading Co., Ltd*  PRC' RMB20,000,000 Registered capital 100 - 100 = Coal processing
ERMBERRRESERAT " ARE20000000m  HFEA ErmT
#  English name is for identification purpose only * RXEBERZS
* Although the Group only held 49% of equity in interest in Shanxi Coal, * RBREAEEESHALUAERK  ©F
Jinxin, Bolong, Liaoyuan, Xinfeng and 34% equity in Fuchang, the B BERNEBEZI0%KRIEURES
Directors concluded that the Group has control over these companies 34%HE - HEERA - RBHEAH
on the basis as set out in Note 5. B ANEEEBZE QR 2RI -
1 Limited liability company T AEREARH
2 Private limited company 2 FAABRAEH
9 Corporation 3 R& 15 1) A &)
Except for disclosed above, the Company also directly held M EXFIREEN R _TF+ =
100% equity interests in Graceful Idea and Oceanic Zone as at 31 RA=+—H ' XRRITEEFEGraceful
December 2020. Idea 2 Oceanic Zone100%H % 1 -
None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding as BERBRRESTARFEHREIR
at the end of the reporting period or at any time during both years e - FR-_T_THF+-A=
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020. T—HIEMEFEEEAEFEENREEZ
B2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 T - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

38. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 38. K RTFEEME L T 2515 (1&)

OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries TREVNGEEREERER CASE
of the Group that have material non-controlling interests: F2ENMBRRFE

Proportion of
ownership  Voting power

interest held by held by the

Country of incorporation and non-controlling non-controlling

Name of the subsidiary principal country of business interests interests
IEERER

R B R & BEZEER FEE R 2R
e NIy FEEXER Rl FHEZRERE
2021
—E-_—F
Shanxi Coal Group PRC 51% 44%
Gisfes, < 351 i E
2020
—E-TF
Shanxi Coal Group PRC 51% 44%
W P R SR A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+_-_A=+—HIFE

38. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests is set out
below. The summarised financial information below represents

amounts before intra-group eliminations.

38. A DA EEME LA 2715 (&)

AEBARERNFERERZHTEAR
ZHBEMBREZINMT o Nl 275
EXBZEREEAEERN S

Shanxi Coal Group 2021 2020
IEipyo 3= —E-—F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
Current assets MENEE 402,579 195,537
Non-current assets EREBEE 8,072,788 6,795,861
Current liabilities meEnaE (6,016,997) (5,520,113)
Non-current liabilities EmEatE (1,698,746) (1,612,069)
Net assets/(liabilities) BE/(BF)FE 759,624 (140,784)
Capital deficiencies attributable to RRBIER NEMMEREA
owners of the Company (925,998) (1,337,700)
Non-controlling interests eI A 1,685,622 1,196,916
Total equity/(capital deficiencies) Wi (BB A 858 759,624 (140,784)
Revenue WA 1,192,947 1,308,796
Expenses 2 (1,320,390) (1,674,377)
Reversal of impairment loss/ BEAME - BENEEI R
(impairment loss) recognised in respect FIEERR 2 REBBRE
of property, plant and equipment and CREE1E)
mining rights 1,258,561 (291,229)
Profit/(loss) for the year FERM, (EE) 898,434 (400,307)
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of RARHER ANERET(E8)
the Company 412,599 (62,211)
Profit/(loss) attributable to non-controling ~ JF{EA% S EMREFI,/ (E518)
interests 485,835 (348,096)
Profit/(loss) for the year FERN,(E18) 898,434 (400,307)
Other comprehensive expense RARHEEANEGEEMEE
attributable to owners of the Company =53 (897) (3,464)
Other comprehensive income/(expense)  FEIEMHE RS FBIE M2 M
attributable to non-controlling interests WA,/ (F) 2,871 (7,388)
Other comprehensive income/(expense)  FEHb2EUA(FIsR)
for the year 1,974 (10,852)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) RARVEEAEMGEZE
attributable to owners of the Company WA ()58 411,702 (55,675)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) TR E S (R 2T
attributable to non-controlling interests WA (Fisz)4az8 488,706 (355,484)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) FE2EBA (AR E%E
for the year 900,408 (411,159)
Net cash inflow from operating activites & & EB)IR &R AR5 272,666 587,470
Net cash outflow from investing activites & & /EB)IR R HF58 (187,742) (317,233)
Net cash outflow from financing activites g2 & /& B3R & i )R 58 (69,482) (29,416)
Net cash inflow HeRAFE 15,442 240,821
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39.LEASE LIABILITIES 30.1HEEE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx FHT
Within 1 year —FA 5,856 10,327
Between 1 year — 2 years —EMF 10,970 36,897
Between 2 years — 5 years MERF 4,215 3,215
Over 5 years HEMNE 6,465 8,911
27,506 59,350
Less: Amounts due for settlement within -~ & : RE A EE TR 1FR

1 year shown under current B E 2 R
liabilities (5,856) (10,327)

Amounts due for settlement after 1 year 3qu§bi§1 I8 NRTR
shown under non-current liabilities P FEREIEE 25008 21,650 49,023

Lease liabilities with the amounts of approximately HK$26,104,000
(2020: approximately HK$57,362,000) denominated in RMB.

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to
lease liabilities was 12% (2020: 12%).

40. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
The Group entered into the followings major non-cash investing
and financing activities which are not reflected in the consolidated
statement of cash flows:

(@ On 13 May 2020, the Company completed to issue and allot
1,264,148,900 new shares to certain subscribers with the
subscription price ranging from HK$0.019 to HK$0.021. The
gross proceeds of approximately HK$21,581,000 was used
to settle the outstanding indebtedness due to them by the
Group.

40.

THEBEBES%426,104,0008 T (ZE=
T4 @ 4]57,362,000/87T) © A AREET
=0

FERNEE R E 2 NEFHIESERF
RE12%(ZEZFF : 12%) °

FEFRERS
K%ETELXTIE#E%&%&%E%
M BR

@ MN—E_ZEFRA+=H AR
RIERAE TRE AT R
1,264,148,900/% ¥ %10+ REEEN
F0.019/8 7L £0.02178 7T » Fif3 &
TH#A%E 121,581,000 L2 AR E
BEREBEERETRBAZKRESR
BT
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40. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)

(b) On 21 October 2020, the Company completely to issue 2020
Convertible Loan Notes A and 2020 Convertible Loan Notes B
with the amounts of HK$380,000,000 and HK$15,000,000 to
settle the outstanding principal of the 2018 Convertible Loan
Notes A and the 2018 Convertible Loan Notes B respectively.

(c) During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group entered
new lease agreements for the use of leased properties for 2
years. On the lease commencement, the Group recognised
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of approximately
HK$1,868,000.

(d) During the year ended 31 December 2021, certain property,
plant and equipment was acquired through settlement of
deposits of property, plant and equipment with the amounts
of approximately HK$4,281,000 paid in previous years.

(e) During the year ended 31 December 2021, advances
drawn on discounted bills with recourse of approximately
HK$6,126,000 have been settled through bills discounted to
the relevant financial institutions.

41. CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, certain assets were pledged
to secure the 2017 Convertible Loan Notes, including (i) share
charges of entire issued share capital of certain Company’s
subsidiaries; (ii) charges on account receivables from one of
the Group’s debtors with nil balance with such debtor as at 31
December 2021 (2020: Nil); and (jii) land charges over certain
lands located in Cambodia that to be acquired by the Group.

42. COMPARATIVE FIGURES
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to be
consistent with current year presentation.
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40.

41.

42.

TEFRERSZ (F)

b) RZZEZZEF+A=+—8 &2
AI5EAK B 1T £ %8 4 380,000,000% 7T
115,000,000 L2 ASE T =T F
AR EREERBE_T_2F7]
BREREE U RIENAE-Z
—N\FARBREREERBE - —
NFAIBRBRERERZ RKEBELAS
B o

c BE_Z-_—4F+-_A=+—HL
FE ASERFEREAEWE Y
FHERE  AERT c REER
R AEEBRRAFERAEEENME
&8 &E#%1,868,000/8 7T °

d B#E-_T-_—F+-_A=+—HI
FE BETYWE - BEREKELE
BRESBEFEENVE  BEX
R EIE S 494,281,00058 7T M U B o

e BEZ-_—4F+=-A=+—HL
FE BRREFRRZERAERR
FK#96,126,0008 L E B BMIEEE
B BRNIR Z RS -

EEERKF

RZBEZ—FRZFZFF+H=+
—H BETEEETEWRUMEA=-Z—
+tFARBREREE CER - 21O
RAETHB AR 22HEBITRAZ
| (REAEEEF —RES
AZEWERRZHGLE  R2T=——F+
ZR=t+—BO¥iEEEEEHEANEH
ZETE B RiARERF T
BURRBREZAT L2 TR -

e BT
ETUHBRBRFEEHOHE  NWEAAFE
ENTARTE B e
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